brought to you by CORE

Department of Mental Health and Alcohol Research, National Public Health Institute, Helsinki, Finland and Department of Psychiatry, University of Helsinki, Finland

COMORBIDITY, OUTCOME AND TREATMENT OF DSM-IV MAJOR DEPRESSIVE DISORDER IN PSYCHIATRIC CARE

Tarja Melartin

Academic Dissertation

To be publicly discussed, with the permission of the Medical Faculty of the University of Helsinki, in the auditorium of the Department of Psychiatry in Helsinki, Lapinlahdenkatu 1, on January 21, 2005, at 12 noon.

Publications of the National Public Health Institute Copyright National Public Health Institute

Julkaisija-Utgivare-Publisher

Kansanterveyslaitos (KTL) Mannerheimintie 166 FIN-00300 Helsinki, Finland puh. (09) 4744 1, fax (09) 4744 08

Folkhälsoinstitutet Mannerheimvägen 166 FIN-00300 Helsingfors, Finland tel. (09) 4744 1, fax (09) 4744 08

National Public Health Instutute (NPHI) Mannerheimintie 166 FIN-00300 Helsinki, Finland tel. +358-9-4744 1, fax +358-9-4744 08

ISBN 951-740-480-8 ISBN 951-740-481-6 (pdf) ISSN 0359-3584 ISSN 1458-6290 (pdf)

Yliopistopaino, Helsinki 2004

Supervisor:

Professor Erkki Isometsä, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Psychiatry, University of Helsinki, Finland Department of Mental Health and Alcohol Research, National Public Health Institute, Helsinki, Finland

Reviewers:

Acting Professor, Docent Jukka Hintikka, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Psychiatry, University of Kuopio, Finland

and

Docent Jyrki Korkeila, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Psychiatry, University of Turku, Finland

Opponent:

Professor Heimo Viinamäki, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Psychiatry, University of Kuopio, Finland

"...sillä minä olen itse metsä, kulku metsän läpi, askel joka miettii, miettii eikä saavu koskaan perille, puiden järkytys ja villiaasin laukka läpi lehtojen,

minä olen itse pako ja kohtaaminen, pako ja kohtaaminen, hitaat vaunut ja särkynyt pyörä, melu pyörän sektorissa, toisessa sektorissa hiljaisuus,

olen äänetön ajuri ja outo vieras, joka astuu peilin sisältä ja hämmästyy,

en tiedä kuka olen, sillä kun käsitän itseni olen jo toinen, olen moni, olen yksin ja matkalla kaukaiseen vihertävään tähteen jonka kirjon olen vanginnut tähän,...

...olemme matkalla, yhä vain matkalla puheen vaunuissa; puhe tulee menneisyydestä ja leviää peruuttamattomien sanojen alati sykkiväksi kehäksi,

äänessäsi on pilviä, sade virtaa puiden latvoista, kuljen läpi lehtien, sateiden, tulee yö, toiset avaruudet kajastavat,

minä yhä kuljen, pitkän talvisen matkan."

Yö tulee varhain. Kohta on talvi kuin kaivo, syvä ja kylmä.

Eeva-Liisa Manner

Hevonen minun veljeni, Hevosrunot 1956-1976; katkelmat runoista Hukattu motiivi ja Syksyn tulon kuvaus

To Lauri, Siiri, and Heta

CONTENTS

TIIVISTELMÄ	9
ABBREVIATIONS	11
1. ABSTRACT	13
2. LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	15
3. INTRODUCTION	16
4. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	18
4.1 Diagnosis of major depressive disorder (MDD)	18
4.1.1 Melancholic features of MDD	19
4.1.2 Atypical features of MDD	20
4.2 Prevalence of MDD in general populations	20
4.3 Aetiology of MDD	21
4.3.1 Multifactorial model	21
4.3.2 Heritability and genetic risk factors	22
4.3.3 Structural, functional and neurochemical findings	22
4.4 Comorbidity of MDD	23
4.4.1 Definition of the concept	23
4.4.2 Comorbidity of MDD in general populations	24
4.4.3 Comorbidity of MDD in clinical samples	24
4.5 Course and outcome of MDE	25
4.5.1 Methodological aspects in defining outcome	25
4.5.2 Duration of MDE in general populations	26
4.5.3 Outcome of MDD	26
4.5.3.1 Clinical factors as predictors of outcome	27
4.5.3.2 Comorbidity as a predictor of outcome in clinical studies	28
4.5.3.3 Psychosocial factors as predictors of outcome	29
4.5.3.4 Melancholic subtype as predictor of outcome and stability	
of melancholic features	29
4.5.3.5 Atypical and psychotic subtypes as predictors of outcome	30

	4.6 Treatment of MDD	30
	4.6.1 Antidepressant treatment	30
	4.6.2 Psychosocial treatment	31
	4.6.3 Combination treatment	31
	4.6.4 Treatment adherence	31
	4.6.5 Studies on treatment adequacy and adherence	32
5.	AIMS OF THE STUDY	36
6.	METHODS	37
	6.1 General study design	37
	6.2 Screening	37
	6.3 Baseline evaluation	39
	6.3.1 Diagnostic measures	39
	6.3.2 Exclusion criteria	39
	6.3.3 Observer and self-report scales	39
	6.3.4 Melancholic subtype and neuroticism	40
	6.3.5 Patients' attitudes towards treatments	40
	6.4 Follow-up procedure	40
	6.4.1 Study drop-outs	41
	6.4.2 Outcome measures	41
	6.4.2.1 Life-chart methodology	41
	6.4.3 Definitions for duration of the index episode	42
	6.5 Treatments provided and their continuity	42
	6.5.1 Self-reported reasons for discontinuity	42
	6.5.2 Self-reported treatment adherence	43
	6.6 Data analyses	43
7.	RESULTS	44
	7.1 Current comorbidity of psychiatric disorders in MDD (Study I)	44
	7.1.1 Clinical and demographic characteristic of the sample	44
	7.1.2 Current overall comorbidity	44
	7.1.3 Variations of comorbidity by sociodemographic and clinical factors	44
	7.1.3.1 Axis I and axis II	44
	7.1.3.2 Gender, age, marital status and residential area	45
	7.1.3.3 Inpatient and outpatient status	48
	7.1.3.4 Lifetime depressive episodes	48
	7.1.3.5 Melancholic features (Study III)	48
	7.2 Outcome of MDD (Study II)	49
	7.2.1 Duration of the index episode	49
	7.2.2 Predictors of duration of the index episode	49
	7.2.3 Relapses and recurrences	51

7.3	Stability and course of melancholic features (Study III)	53
	7.3.1 Course of melancholic MDD	53
	7.3.2 Stability of melancholic features	53
7.4	Antidepressant and psychosocial treatments (Study IV)	54
	7.4.1 Antidepressants	54
	7.4.1.1 Antidepressants received in the acute phase	54
	7.4.1.2 Continuity of treatment	54
	7.4.1.3 Predictors of premature termination	54
	7.4.1.4 Consequences of premature termination	56
	7.4.1.5 Self-reported reasons for terminating antidepressants	56
	7.4.1.6 Self-reported antidepressant adherence	58
	7.4.2 Psychosocial treatments	58
	7.4.2.1 Treatments received in the acute phase	58
	7.4.2.2 Continuity of psychosocial treatments	58
	7.4.2.3 Self-reported psychosocial treatment adherence	59
	7.4.3 Attitudes towards treatments	59
8. DIS	CUSSION	60
8.1	Main findings	60
8.2	Methods	61
	8.2.1 Representativeness of the cohort sample	61
	8.2.2 Study refusals and drop-outs	61
	8.2.3 Diagnostic measures	62
	8.2.4 Life-chart and definitions for outcome	62
8.3	Current comorbidity of psychiatric disorders in MDD (Study I)	63
8.4	Outcome of MDD (Study II)	64
8.5	Stability and course of melancholic features (Study III)	66
8.6	Antidepressant and psychosocial treatment in MDD (Study IV)	68
9. CO	NCLUSIONS AND FUTURE IMPLICATIONS	70
9.1	Conclusions	70
9.2	Clinical implications	71
9.3	Implications for future research	72
10. AC	KNOWLEDGEMENTS	73
11. RE	FERENCES	76

TIIVISTELMÄ

Tämä tutkimus on osa Kansanterveyslaitoksen ja Helsingin ja Uudenmaan sairaanhoitopiirin Peijaksen sairaalan psykiatrian tulosyksikön vakavan masennustilan etenevää seurantatutkimusta (Vantaa Depression Study), jossa seurataan 269 ajankohtaisesta (DSM-IV) vakavasta masennustilasta kärsivää psykiatrisen erikoissairaanhoidon avohoito- ja sairaalapotilasta.

Kaiken kaikkiaan Peijaksen psykiatrisessa erikoissairaanhoidossa depressiivisten oireiden osalta seulottiin 806, ja haastateltiin puolistrukturoidulla haastattelumenetelmällä (WHO Schedule for Clinical Assessment in Neuropsychiatry [SCAN], Version 2.0) 542 aikuispotilasta (20-59v.). Tutkimukseen valikoituneet (N=269) täyttivät ajankohtaisen vakavan masennustilan oirekriteerit, ja heidät haastateltiin puolistrukturoiduin haastattelumenetelmin myös kaikkien muiden psykiatristen häiriöiden diagnosoimiseksi. Poissulkukriteerit olivat DSM-IV bipolaarihäiriö I ja II, skitsoaffektiivinen häiriö, skitsofrenia ja muut psykoosit, sekä orgaaninen tai kemiallisen aineen aiheuttama mielialahäiriö.

Sisäänottovaiheen jälkeen 6 ja 18 kk:n seurannoissa vakavan masennuksen ja muiden samanaikaisten häiriöiden oireet kartoitettiin haastattelemalla potilaat uudelleen puolistrukturoiduin diagnosointihaastattelumenetelmin. Tämän lisäksi ajankohtaisen sekä toistuvien/uusiutuvien depressioepisodien ajallinen kesto koottiin yksityiskohtaiseksi graafiseksi kuvaajaksi (lifechart), jossa seuranta-aika on jaettu DSM-IV kriteereiden mukaan kolmea eri toipumistasoa kuvaavaan jaksoon: 1) täydellinen toipuminen (0/9 oiretta), 2) osittainen toipuminen (1-4/9 oiretta) ja 3) ei toipunut (5+/9 oiretta). Hoitokäynti- ja oirestatustietojen lisäksi kartoitettiin seuranta-ajan elämäntapahtumat, joiden avulla pyrittiin myös lisäämään ajoituksen tarkkuutta.

Tutkimuksessa todettiin tyypillisen psykiatrisen erikoissairaanhoidon masennuspotilaan kärsivän monista samanaikaisista ajankohtaisista häiriöistä. Yli puolella diagnosoitiin samanaikainen ahdistuneisuushäiriö (57%), vajaalla puolella persoonallisuushäiriö (44%), ja neljänneksellä alkoholiriippuvuus tai alkoholin väärinkäyttö (25%). Ainoastaan viidenneksellä (21%) potilaista oli yksinomaan vakava masennustila.

Vakavasta masennustilasta täydelliseen toipumisen todettiin vievän keskimäärin kahdeksan kuukautta, joten huolimatta uusista hoitomenetelmistä ennuste ei tässä suhteessa ole parantunut. Potilaat tosin reagoivat hoitoon suhteellisen nopeasti, noin 4-8 viikossa, mutta ongelmaksi muodostui pitkäkestoinen osittaisen toipumisen tila, jossa toimintakyky usein oli edelleen alentunut ja depressiivinen oireilu jatkui, vaikkakin lievempänä. Lisäksi noin 40% potilaista masentui vakavasti uudelleen puolentoista vuoden seurannan aikana. Uusiutuvien episodien kesto oli kuitenkin lyhyempi, ja ne olivat lievempiä kuin ensimmäinen, hoitoon tuonut sairausjakso. Toipumisaikaa ennustivat useat tekijät, merkittävimmin masennuksen syvyys ja ajankohtainen monihäiriöisyys. Oiresyvyys oli myös voimakas uusiutumista ennustava tekijä. Monihäiriöisyys tai masennuksen ennustetekijät eivät eronneet merkittävästi vakavan masennustilan melankolisessa ja ei melankolisessa alatyypissä. Melankoliset piirteet eivät myöskään seurantaepisodeissa olleet kovin pysyviä.

Psykiatrisessa erikoissairaanhoidossa akuutin vaiheen alussa lääkehoitoa sai 88% ja psykososiaalista tukea 98% masennuspotilaista, ja useimmat suhtautuivat hoitoon myönteisesti. Tästä huolimatta antidepressiivinen lääkehoito keskeytyi liian aikaisin noin puolella potilaista, usein potilaan omasta päätöksestä. Kokonaan ilman hoitokontaktia seurannan lopussa oli noin kolmannes niistä potilaista, jotka eivät saavuttaneet täydellistä toipumista. Negatiivinen hoitoasenne kohdistui useammin lääkitykseen kuin psykososiaaliseen tukeen, ja vaikutti ennustavan hoidon liian aikaista keskeytymistä. Voidaankin tiivistäen todeta, että suurin haaste nykyisessä psykiatrisessa erikoissairaanhoidossa on hoidon asianmukaisen jatkuvuuden turvaaminen. Ilman jatkuvuutta masennuksen Käypä hoito-suositusten mukainen hoito ei voi toteutua. Tässä tehtävässä perusterveydenhuollon ja erikoissairaanhoidon yhteinen vastuunkantaminen ja yhteistyö on välttämätöntä, ja toimivien alueellisten hoitoketjujen luominen yhteisine tavoitteineen vääjäämätön haaste.

ABBREVIATIONS

American Psychiatric Association
Beck Anxiety Inventory
Beck Depression Inventory
Confidence Interval
Composite International Diagnostic Interview
Corticotrophin releasing factor
Diagnostic Interview Schedule
Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders
Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 3rd edition
Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 3rd edition, revised
Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, fourth edition
Epidemiological Catchment Area Study
Electroconvulsive therapy
Eysenck Personality Inventory
Mental Health Supplement of German National Health Interview and
Examination Survey
Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression
Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal
Beck Hopelessness Scale
Helsinki University Central Hospital
International Classification of Diseases
International Classification of Diseases, 10th edition
Interview Measure of Social Relationships
Interview for Recent Life Events
Longitudinal Interval Follow-up Evaluation
Logistic regression
Monoamine oxidase inhibitor
Major depressive disorder
Major depressive episode
Noradrenergic and specific serotonergic antidepressant
National Comorbidity Survey
National Comorbidity Survey Replication
National Institute of Mental Health
Not otherwise specified
Non significant
Collaborative Depression Study
Odds Ratio
Personality disorder

PMCD	Peijas Medical Care District
PSSS-R	Perceived Social Support Scale - Revised
RDC	Research Diagnostic Criteria
RIMA	Reversible inhibitors of monoamine oxidase
SAS-SR	Social Adjustment Scale-Self Report
SCAN	Schedules for Clinical Assessment of Neuropsychiatry
SCID-II	Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-III-R personality disorders
SD	Standard deviation
SNRI	Serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors
SOFAS	Social and Occupational Functioning Assessment Scale for DSM-IV
SPSS	Statistical Package for the Social Sciences for Windows
SSI	Scale for Suicidal Ideation
SSRI	Serotonin-selective reuptake inhibitor
SUD	Substance use disorder
TCA	Tricyclic antidepressant
VDS	Vantaa Depression Study
WHO	World Health Organization

1. ABSTRACT

This study forms part of a collaborative depression research project, the Vantaa Depression Study (VDS), run by the Department of Mental Health and Alcohol Research of the National Public Health Institute, Helsinki, and the Department of Psychiatry of the Peijas Medical Care District (PMCD), Vantaa. The VDS is a prospective, naturalistic cohort study of 269 secondary-level care psychiatric out- and inpatients with a new episode of DSM-IV major depressive disorder (MDD).

Overall, the VDS involved screening 806 adult patients (aged 20-59 years) in the PMCD for a possible new episode of DSM-IV MDD, and interviewing the 542 consenting patients with a semistructured interview (the WHO Schedules for Clinical Assessment in Neuropsychiatry [SCAN], version 2.0). Thereby, 269 patients with current DSM-IV MDD were included in the study, and further interviewed with semistructured interviews to assess all other psychiatric diagnoses as well. Exclusion criteria were DSM-IV bipolar I and II, schizoaffective disorder, schizophrenia or another psychosis, organic and substance-induced mood disorders.

The outcomes of major depressive episode (MDE) and the comorbid disorders were investigated at six and 18 months after baseline using repeated semistructured interviews. The exact duration of the index episode and the timing of possible relapses/recurrences were prospectively examined using a graphic life chart based on DSM-IV criteria and definitions. Time after baseline was divided into three periods: (1) state of full remission (none of the 9 MDE criteria symptoms), (2) state of partial remission (1-4 of the 9 symptoms), or (3) state of MDE (5+ of the 9 symptoms). Besides symptom ratings and visits to attending personnel, life-events during the follow-up were also asked about in order to improve the accuracy of timing.

When presenting for psychiatric care, a typical psychiatric patient with MDD suffered from many comorbid disorders; over half had current comorbid anxiety disorders (57%), nearly half personality disorders (44%), and a quarter alcohol use disorders (25%). Only one fifth (21%) had pure depression without any comorbid disorder.

Achieving full remission took about eight months, so despite the use of the new antidepressants the outcome of MDD appears not to have improved in psychiatric care. Although patients typically responded early to the treatment (most in 4 to 8 weeks), the major problem was the long period with only partial remission, during which functional impairment and depressive symptoms persisted, albeit at a milder level. In addition, about 40% of the patients had a recurrence of MDD during the 18 months, although these new episodes were milder and shorter than the index episode. Numerous factors predicted the duration of MDE to some extent, but severity of depression and current comorbidity were

the two most robust predictors. Severity of depression was also a significant predictor of recurrence. There appeared to be no major differences in current comorbidity or course of depression between melancholic and non-melancholic patients. Moreover, the consistency of DSM-IV melancholic features across episodes appeared weak.

Most depressive patients in psychiatric care were found to be receiving adequate antidepressant (88%) and psychotherapeutic treatments (98%) in the early acute phase, and to have favourable attitudes towards them. Nevertheless, antidepressants were terminated too early in about half of the patients, often following their autonomous decision. About a third of the patients not achieving full remission were without any psychosocial treatment at 18 months. Negative treatment attitudes were more common towards antidepressants than psychosocial treatments, and tended to predict premature termination. Summing up, the main challenge in psychiatric care appears to be continuity of treatments. Without adequate continuity it is impossible to provide treatment that meets standards in practice guidelines. In this task, however, collaborative work and shared responsibilities between primary and secondary care are essential, and developing regional cooperation is an inevitable challenge.

2. LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications, which are referred to in the text by Roman numerals I-IV.

- I Melartin T, Rytsälä H, Leskelä U, Lestelä-Mielonen P, Sokero P, Isometsä E. Current comorbidity of psychiatric disorders among DSM-IV major depressive disorder patients in psychiatric care in the Vantaa Depression Study. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry 2002;63:126-134.
- II Melartin T, Rytsälä H, Leskelä U, Lestelä-Mielonen P, Sokero P, Isometsä E. Severity and comorbidity predict episode duration and recurrence of DSM-IV major depressive disorder. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry 2004;65:810-819.
- III Melartin T, Leskelä U, Rytsälä H, Sokero P, Lestelä-Mielonen P, Isometsä E. Comorbidity and stability of melancholic features in DSM-IV major depressive disorder. Psychological Medicine 2004;34:1443-1452.
- IV Melartin T, Rytsälä H, Leskelä U, Lestelä-Mielonen P, Sokero P, Isometsä E. Continuity - the main challenge in treatment of major depressive disorder in psychiatric care. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry, in press.

3. INTRODUCTION

Depressive feelings as a response to loss or painful events are part of human life. This normal affect of depression is self-limited and does not significantly interfere with a person's functional capacity. As an illness, however, major depressive disorder (MDD) imposes a substantial burden by inflicting continuous pain and suffering on individuals and their families. It is a highly prevalent, aetiologically multifactorial, clinically heterogeneous and severe illness characterized by sad mood and inability to experience pleasure, usually including serious abnormalities in cognition and physiological function. MDD is also one of the most important mental disorders in terms of public health impact. About a fifth of the population (Kessler et al., 1994; 2003), women more often than men, will experience a clinically significant episode of MDD at some point in their lives. MDD involves a marked risk of functional disability (Hays et al., 1995; Murray & Lopez, 1997; Rytsälä et al., in press), self-destructive behaviour and premature death (Harris & Barraclough, 1997; Sokero et al., 2003), and adversely affects interpersonal relationships (Wade & Cairney, 2000). The risk of completed suicide among patients with MDD is about 20-fold (Harris & Barraclough, 1997; Hoeyer et al., 2000; Ösby et al., 2001), and depression is associated with limitations in daily functioning and well-being comparable to those in chronic medical conditions (Hays et al., 1995). By 2020, depression has been predicted to become, after ischaemic heart disease, the major cause of disability worldwide (Murray & Lopez, 1996).

The high disease burden is also understandable from consideration of the nature and course of depression. Previously viewed as an acute and self-limiting illness, it is now clear that depression is not only highly prevalent but also a chronic, recurrent and comorbid illness. Following this paradigm shift in the concept of depression, studies of the natural history of MDE have come to be seen as essential for further understanding the nature of the disorder and developing more effective treatment strategies (Judd, 1997). Although the comorbid form of MDD is highly prevalent (Kessler et al., 1996b; 2003), there is only one study reporting concurrent prevalences of major categories of axis I disorders (Sanderson et al., 1990), and none reporting overall current comorbidity with all axis I and II disorders. Nor has the effect of overall comorbidity on the length of MDE or risk of recurrence been systematically investigated. Furthermore, much of what we now accept regarding the course of depression and its comorbidity is derived from studies based on selected samples, e.g. inpatients, patients of tertiary level university clinics, and samples predating the era of the current new antidepressants and the now widespread use of maintenance therapies.

As well as causing enormous individual suffering, depression also imposes a substantial burden in terms of the costs to society caused by disability and loss of productivity. Despite this, it is known from epidemiological studies that most depressive persons in the general population receive inadequate treatment, or none at all (Kessler et al., 2003; Hämäläinen et al., 2004). Studies in primary care indicate that depression commonly goes unrecognized (Pignone et al., 2002), and treatment for it often fails to meet evidence-based treatment guidelines (APA, 2000; Suomen Psykiatriyhdistys, 2004) for either drug therapy or psychotherapy (Gilbody et al., 2003; Kessler et al., 2003). Moreover, even in psychiatric care it is still largely unknown how the treatment provided meets the standards of these guidelines (Young et al., 2001), and which are the factors that predict treatment inadequacy, premature termination and non-adherence among depressive patients.

The Vantaa Depression Study (VDS) is a prospective, naturalistic cohort study of 269 secondary-level care psychiatric out- and inpatients with a new episode of DSM-IV MDD. In the VDS the predictors of chronicity, recurrences, suicide attempts as well as functional and work disability are investigated, and the adequacy of treatments evaluated. The present thesis focuses on current comorbidity, outcome and treatments received among depressive patients followed up for 18 months.

4. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

4.1 Diagnosis of major depressive disorder (MDD)

The current psychiatric classifications are categorical systems that divide mental disorders into types based on sets of criteria with defining features. The naming of categories has been the fundamental approach used in all systems of medical diagnosis (Kaplan & Sadock, 1998). Categorical diagnoses possess many strengths: they are a quick short-hand for clinicians, and they often lead to well-defined treatments, and statements about prognosis (Goldberg, 1996; Kendell & Jablensky, 2003). However, it is also likely that disorders as currently diagnosed represent a heterogeneous set of disorders with multiple causes (Kaplan & Sadock, 1998; Charney & Manji, 2004). Diagnostic classification should not be applied mechanically and without using clinical judgment. The classifications currently in use are the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM) (APA, 1987; 1994; 2000) and the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (ICD) (WHO, 1992; 1993; Tautiluokitus, 1996). In DSM-IV, unipolar forms of primary mood disorders are divided into three groups: MDD. dysthymic disorder, and depression not otherwise specified. Mood disorders are generally defined as an illness characterized by different combinations of several co-occurring symptoms for a defined period of time contributing to significant psychosocial impairment or marked distress (APA, 1994; 2000; WHO, 1992; 1993). MDD is characterized by one or more major depressive episodes lasting at least two weeks. Persistent depressive mood or significant loss of interest or pleasure is the required core symptom, which must be accompanied by at least four associated symptoms (total of 5 symptoms), such as significant weight change, insomnia or hypersomnia, psychomotor agitation or retardation, fatigue or loss of energy, feelings of worthlessness or extreme guilt, decreased ability to think or concentrate, and suicidal ideation or thoughts of death, in order to warrant a diagnosis of MDD (APA, 1987; 1994; 2000). DSM-IV also lists three levels of severity of MDD. Based on the number of criteria symptoms, the severity of the symptoms and the degree of functional disability and distress, MDD can be mild, moderate or severe (with or without psychotic features). Symptoms that are due to a general medical condition, mood-incongruent delusions or hallucinations, or bereavement must be ruled out. The terms and codes in DSM-IV are mostly compatible with ICD-10, and diagnosis of MDD is basically similar in both classifications. However, compared with DSM-IV, ICD-10 splits one criterion (feelings of worthlessness and unreasonable guilt), requires one symptom less for diagnosis, and also includes fatigue or loss of energy among the core symptoms. Research programmes usually apply the DSM classification rather than ICD as it provides more detailed guidelines for case definition. In this thesis, unless otherwise specified, depression refers to unipolar DSM-IV MDD.

4.1.1 Melancholic features of MDD

Diagnosing the melancholic features of depression is seen to be important for identifying a group of patients whom some studies indicate are more responsive to somatic therapies (e.g. tricyclic antidepressants [TCAs] and/or eletroconvulsive therapy [ECT]). The term melancholia was first operationally defined in the DSM-III criteria (APA, 1980), although the Research Diagnostic Criteria (RDC; Spitzer et al., 1978) classification of endogenous depression served as the model for these criteria. After DSM-III and DSM-III-R (APA, 1987) appeared, several studies questioned the validity of the melancholia and melancholic type criteria (Zimmerman & Spitzer, 1989; Zimmerman et al., 1989). The shorter DSM-III feature listing, but with broadened and better defined criteria, was restored in the DSM-IV (APA, 1994; 2000). The DSM-IV melancholic features specifier includes either of the following: A) loss of pleasure in all, or almost all, activities and lack of reactivity to pleasurable stimuli, or B) three (or more) of the following: distinct quality of depressed mood, depression regularly worse in the morning, early morning awakening, marked psychomotor retardation or agitation, significant anorexia or weight loss, or excessive or inappropriate guilt (APA, 2000). The validity of the DSM-IV criteria in differentiating melancholic and non-melancholic depression has been criticized with the suggestion that observable psychomotor disturbances are the only necessary and sufficient feature of the definition of melancholia, whereas the other features are prevalent in both melancholic and non-melancholic subjects and are thus nonspecific (Parker & Hadzi-Pavlovic, 1996; Parker et al., 2000a; Parker, 2000; 2003).

The debate over whether melancholic or non-melancholic subtypes of depression represent two aetiologically distinct syndromes or one syndrome differing only in severity represents one of the important controversies in the classification of mental disorders (Carney et al., 1965; Kendell, 1976; Zimmerman & Spitzer, 1989; Rush & Weissenburger, 1994; Kendler, 1997; Parker, 2000), and concerns the descriptive as well as the construct validity of these models. The currently dominant classificatory model of depression is unitarian, defining it as a single entity varying only in severity, rather than distinguishing between melancholic and non-melancholic, or more illness types (Parker, 2000).

4.1.2 Atypical features of MDD

The term atypical was first used to describe a type of depression that responded well to monoamine oxidase inhibitors (MAOIs), and less well to TCAs and ECT (West & Dally, 1959; Sargant, 1961). The validity criteria of the atypical features subtype has been questioned, and the decision to include this subtype in the DSM-IV was controversial (Spitzer & Williams, 1982; Posternak & Zimmerman, 2002). Nevertheless, according to DSM-IV (APA, 1994) the current atypical subtype of MDD comprises five features: mood reactivity plus at least two of the following four symptoms: hypersomnia, either increased appetite or weight gain, severe lethargy ("leaden paralysis"), and a pathological rejection sensitivity.

4.2 Prevalence of MDD in general populations

The prevalence of depressive disorders in general population has been estimated in numerous epidemiological studies, and recently in a survey covering almost the whole word (WHO World Mental Health Survey Consortium, 2004). Experience, however, suggests that depression prevalence comparisons should be treated with caution. The variations in time frames, age ranges, diagnostic criteria and interview schedules (DIS, CIDI) complicate the synthesis of findings. In addition, the portability of major depression diagnostic criteria across countries requires further confirmation (Patten, 2003). However, studies on epidemiological samples generally indicate that depression is highly prevalent in the general population (Kessler et al., 1994; 2003; Ayuso-Mateos et al., 2001; Jacobi et al., 2004). It has been estimated that about a fifth of the population (Kessler et al., 1994; 2003), women more often than men, will experience a clinically significant MDE at some point in their lives, and up to 75-85% of these subjects go on to have a recurrence during their lifetime (Angst, 1986; 1995a; Mueller et al., 1999; Keller & Boland, 1998).

The National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R), conducted in 2001-2002, found a lifetime prevalence of MDD of 16.2% and a 12-month prevalence of 6.6% among US adults (Kessler et al., 2003). The Mental Health Supplement of the German National Health Interview and Examination Survey (GHS-MHS) reports the lifetime prevalence of any unipolar depression to be 17.1%, and the 12-month prevalence 10.7%, in the German population (Jacobi et al., 2004). In Finland, the Health 2000 project reports the 12-month prevalence of MDD to be 4.9% (Pirkola et al., in press), while the prevalence was found to be 9.3% in the Finnish Health Care Survey (Lindeman et al., 2000). The use of a diagnostic interview with stringent exclusion criteria probably explains the lower prevalence in the more recent Health 2000 project (Pirkola et al., in press). The Mini Finland Health Survey reported that only one third of those diagnosed with depression were actually receiving treatment, although they were assessed to be in need of it (Lehtinen et al., 1990; Lehtinen & Joukamaa, 1994). However, only about a half of those suffering from depression in Finland perceive a need for mental health services (Isometsä et al., 1997). The Finnish

Health Care Survey (Hämäläinen et al., 2004) also found that a considerable proportion (41%) of patients with even the most severe depression were not receiving any treatment. Among US adults in the NCS-R, health care treatment for depression was adequate in only a fifth of the cases with 12-month MDD (Kessler et al., 2003).

4.3 Aetiology of MDD

4.3.1 Multifactorial model

MDD is a multifactorial, clinically heterogeneous disorder with a wide range of possible aetiological factors (Kendler, 1993, 2002). The concept of depression has shifted from one where genetic, biological, developmental and environmental risk factors were thought to be unrelated and to define a particular clinical syndrome, to one where these risk factors are seen to be related and interacting (Goodyer et al., 2000; O'Keane, 2000; Kendler et al., 2002; 2004; Caspi et al., 2003; Charney & Manji, 2004). Based on this concept an individual's probability of suffering from a MDD is affected by many factors, including predisposing genetic influences (Sullivan et al., 2000; Caspi et al., 2003; Korszun et al., 2004; Lesch, 2004), exposure to early adverse experience such as maternal stress during pregnancy (Oates, 2002; O'Connor et al., 2002), parental depression (Lyons-Ruth et al., 1986; 2002; Lieb et al., 2002), childhood physical or sexual abuse (Heim et al., 2000; Gladstone et al., 2004), loss of a parent (Tennant, 1988), predisposing personality traits (Boyce et al., 1991; Caspi et al., 1996; Kendler et al., 2004), anxiety (Kessler et al., 1996b; Young et al., 2004), low social support (Cooper & Paykel, 1994), recent stressful life events (Paykel et al., 1969; Brown & Harris, 1978, Kendler et al., 2004), and many hormonal and neurobiological influences (Arborelius et al., 1999; Sapolsky, 2000; Young et al., 2000; Manji et al., 2001). However, aetiological risk factors for MDD are not necessarily similar to factors affecting the outcome and course of the disorder.

There is also growing evidence that, far from being a disorder with purely psychological manifestations, MDD is a systemic illness with damaging effects on multiple organ systems (Manji et al., 2001; Insel & Charney, 2003). It has been associated with alterations in endocrine, cardiovascular and immune systems, as well as in bone metabolism (Michelson et al., 1996; Musselman et al., 1998; 2003; Jiang et al., 2002), and appears to have adverse effects on comorbid medical diagnoses, such as coronary artery disease, stroke, diabetes and osteoporosis (Frasure-Smith et al., 1993; Michelson et al., 1996; Vataja et al., 2001; Lustman & Clouse, 2002; Carney & Freedland, 2003; Frasure-Smith & Lesperance, 2003). Generally, evidence from research indicates that depression and vascular disease have a bi-directional association, especially in the elderly (Thomas et al., 2004). Depression has also been linked to memory deficits (impairments in verbal declarative memory) associating with a hippocampal dysfunction (Bremner et al., 2004; Vythilingam et al., 2004).

4.3.2 Heritability and genetic risk factors

Heritability for depression is usually reported to be in the 20-45% range (Sullivan et al., 2000; Wallace et al., 2002), but even 70% has been reported (Lesch, 2004). In a recent meta-analysis (Sullivan et al., 2000) first-degree relatives of depressed subjects had a nearly three-fold increase in their risk for MDD compared with the general population. Linkage studies in unipolar depression have also been published recently, and these suggest a number of candidate regions on different chromosomes (Abkevich et al., 2003; Zubenko et al., 2003; Holmans et al., 2004). Although MDD undoubtedly has a genetic basis, there is now compelling evidence that even early life stress constitutes a major risk factor for the subsequent development of depression. The emerging evidence suggests that a combination of genetics, early life stress and ongoing stress may ultimately determine individual responsiveness to stress and vulnerability to depression (Caspi et al., 2003). Findings by Caspi et al. (2003) suggest that childhood maltreatment interacts with allelic variation of 5-HTT expression and function (polymorphism in the 5'-flanking transcriptional control region of the 5-HTT gene [5HTTLPR]) increasing the vulnerability to developing mood disorders, and that emotionality and stress reactivity can be influenced by experiences early in life. Moreover, this allelic variation of 5-HTT expression and function is also associated with personality traits of negative emotionality, including anxiety, neuroticism and agreeableness (Lesch et al., 1996; Greenberg et al., 2000). Interestingly, some recent functional imaging studies of the brain report that serotonin transporter polymorphism also associates with reduced hippocampal volume (Frodl et al., 2004), or with greater amygdala neuronal activity (Hariri et al., 2002; Hariri & Weinberger, 2003). These findings confirm that genetically driven variation of serotonergic function might contribute to the response of brain regions underlying emotional behaviour.

4.3.3 Structural, functional and neurochemical findings

Recent studies have investigated potential structural brain changes in depression, and there is now evidence demonstrating reductions in the prefrontal cortex (Botteron et al., 2002; Bremner et al., 2002; Hastings et al., 2004), amygdala (Hastings et al., 2004), and hippocampus (Mervaala et al., 2000; Campbell et al., 2004; Videbech & Ravnkilde, 2004), as well as regional reductions in the numbers and/or sizes of glia and neurons. Activation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis seems to have a role in mediating stress-induced neuronal changes (Sapolsky, 2000), and it has been suggested that aberrations in the corticotrophin releasing factor (CRF) carry most of the responsibility for HPA-axis hyperactivity (Arborelius et al., 1999), and thus hypersecretion of cortisol. In addition to directly causing neuronal atrophy, life stress and glucocorticoids also reduce cellular resilience (Manji et al., 2001). It is also likely that genetic factors contribute not only to neurochemical alterations, but also to the impairments of cellular plasticity and resilience observed in MDD (Manji et al., 2000; 2001; 2003). Actually, modifications in the expression of genes related to neurotransmission, survival of

neuronal and glial cells, and signal transduction have been recently identified (Knable et al., 2002; 2004). Neurotrophic signalling cascades involved in regulating neural plasticity, resilience and neurodegeneration may have a particularly important role in explaining the aetiology of depression (Manji et al., 2000; 2003; Charney & Manji, 2004), as well as the response to antidepressants (Manji et al., 2000; 2003; Popoli et al., 2002; Harvey et al., 2003; Charney & Manji, 2004).

4.4 Comorbidity of MDD

4.4.1 Definition of the concept

Comorbidity refers to the occurrence of two or more distinct disorders in a person in a defined period of time (Klerman, 1990). The concept of comorbidity has its origin in general medicine (Feinstein, 1970), but has also been increasingly applied in psychiatry (Klerman, 1990; Wittchen, 1996; Keller et al., 1996a), largely as a consequence of the introduction of the explicit descriptive, operational criteria for mental disorders (Feighner, 1972; Spitzer et al., 1978; APA, 1980). In particular, DSM-III (APA, 1980) supported the use of multiple diagnoses within a multiaxial classification system, and comorbidity has even been criticized for being an artefact produced by the categorical diagnostic classification systems (Klerman, 1990; Tyrer, 1995). Non-comprehensive definitions of comorbidity, variations in diagnostic assessments, timing of diagnosing, time-frame (e.g. lifetime or current), and different health care settings have led to substantial discrepancies in reported prevalences of comorbid disorders, producing a rather complex picture of their significance (Weiss et al., 1992; Zimmerman, 1994; Tyrer, 1995; Wittchen, 1996; Griez & Overbeek, 1997; Bogenschutz & Nurnberg, 2000; Vella et al., 2000).

The diagnostic categorical approach makes the strict assumption that a comorbid disorder is present or absent according to the presence or absence of specified criteria (Wittchen, 1996). The categories of disorder are very useful to practicing clinicians; for example, they provide information about the likelihood of recovery, and guide decisions about treatment (Goldberg, 1996; Kendell & Jablensky, 2003). However, many have argued for dimensional models, especially for personality disorders (Shea, 1995). There is actually growing evidence that the dimensional approach may be useful, and a dimensional rather than categorical approach to defining the depressive phenotype has recently been used for identifying susceptibility genes (Hasler et al., 2004; Korszun et al., 2004) and risk factors predicting suicidality (Verona et al., 2004). Moreover, the greater stability of comorbid anxiety and depression than either disorder alone, and the substantial persistence of subthreshold levels of these disorders has also been reported in an epidemiological sample (Merikangas et al., 2003). Interestingly, in their vision of the future Hasler and colleagues (2004) propose to dissect the behavioural phenotypes into key components, and integrate specific environmental risk factors and neurobiological endophenotypes into the new classification system. Thus, in order to find possible connections between various accumulating symptoms, personality traits and features (Cloninger, 1987; 1993; Eysenck, 1987), and to establish better, genetically relevant depressive phenotypes (Hasler et al., 2004), our thinking should go beyond the categorical approach. Therefore, when assessing comorbidity, categorical and dimensional approaches should be allowed to coexist, and symptom patterns and subthreshold conditions may also be useful and informative. In this study (I-IV), however, comorbidity refers to current categorical (DSM-IV) diagnostic comorbidity.

4.4.2 Comorbidity of MDD in general populations

Numerous epidemiological studies and surveys have reported high comorbidity of depression (Regier et al., 1990; 1998; Grant & Harford, 1995; Angst, 1996; Kessler et al., 1996a; 1996b; 2003), and the impact of this on both outcome and health services utilization (Kessler et al., 1996a; Wu et al., 1999). Comorbid depression is more of a rule than exception: nearly half of the subjects with MDD have a current anxiety disorder (Regier et al., 1990; 1998; Kessler et al., 1996b), and about a fifth have a current substance use disorder (SUD) (Regier et al., 1990; Grant & Harford, 1995; Kessler et al., 1996a). Only about a fifth of cases with 12-month MDD had no axis I comorbid DSM-IV disorders in the recent NCS-R study (Kessler et al., 2003).

The prevalence of personality disorders in a representative sample of the general population has been reported to be between 6% and 13% (Samuels et al., 1994; Torgersen et al., 2001). However, only one study has reported the prevalence of axis II disorders in a community sample with depressive disorders, the overall prevalence being 22% (Casey et al., 2004). In addition, calculating from the figures of the Baltimore site of the Epidemiological Catchment Area (ECA) study (Samuels et al., 1994), a prevalence of 8% for comorbid axis II disorders was obtained. The prevalence of axis II disorders among subjects with lifetime MDD has varied between 23% and 47% in non-patient samples predominantly comprising first-degree relatives of psychiatric patients (Zimmerman & Coryell, 1989; Maier et al., 1992).

4.4.3 Comorbidity of MDD in clinical samples

While the construct validity of the concept of comorbidity of psychiatric disorders remains controversial, there is nevertheless accumulating evidence of the clinical significance of comorbidity in terms of treatment responses and overall clinical outcome. Clinical studies have reported that comorbidity is one of the major factors associating with poor outcome of MDD, by increasing the risk of relapse or recurrence (Alnaes & Torgersen, 1997), chronicity (Keller et al., 1984; Mueller et al., 1994), residual symptoms (Paykel et al., 1995), suicide (Fawcett et al., 1990; Cheng, 1995; Cheng et al., 1997; Fawcett, 1997; Foster et al., 1999; Hansen et al., 2003) and psychosocial impairment (Van Valkenburg et al., 1984; Rytsälä et al., in press). The current comorbidity pattern may

also influence the choice of treatment modality, as suggested in the APA Revised Practice Guideline for the Treatment of Patients with MDD (APA, 2000). In psychiatric settings, the reported prevalences of current comorbid disorders among patients with MDD have varied widely (Tables 1 and 2). Overall, about half of patients with MDD in psychiatric care also have a current anxiety and personality disorder, and about one fifth a current substance use disorder (Tables 1 and 2).

Many of the early studies focused on a single type of comorbid disorder, a design which may well inflate the prevalence of comorbidity found. For example, the estimates for prevalence of current panic disorder are two-fold higher (weighted mean 22%) in studies focused solely on comorbid panic disorder (Van Valkenburg et al., 1984; Coryell et al., 1988; Grunhaus et al., 1994) compared to studies (Sanderson et al., 1990; Fava et al., 1996a; Schatzberg et al., 1998; Zimmerman et al., 2000) focusing on several comorbid anxiety disorders concurrently (weighted mean 11%). The extent to which single type studies overestimate prevalences may vary by the type of disorder. The possible explanations for this phenomenon include less than perfect rule-outs in structured interviews, biased patient samples, and publication bias favouring high prevalences.

Only one study on comorbidity of MDD has reported prevalences of major categories on axis I disorders (Sanderson et al., 1990), and none has reported overall current comorbidity with all axis I and II disorders. Moreover, variations in patterns of comorbidity in terms of sociodemographic factors such as age, gender, marital status, education, income and type of residential area, as well as clinical characteristics such as number of lifetime depressive episodes, axis I by axis II, age at onset, and severity of depression, have been relatively little investigated in clinical populations (Pfohl et al., 1984; Flick et al., 1993; Golomb et al., 1995a; 1995b; Fava et al., 1996a; 1996b; Sato et al., 1996; Comtois et al., 1999; McGlashan et al., 2000). Furthermore, most previous studies have been conducted on inpatient populations in tertiary-level treatment centres, which might affect the generalizeability of their findings to secondary-level psychiatric settings because of the possibility of selection bias. In addition, almost all studies on comorbidity of depression have been based on DSM-III-R criteria; very few have been DSM-IV studies (Zimmerman et al., 2000).

4.5 Course and outcome of MDE

4.5.1 Methodological aspects in defining outcome

The lack of a standard and valid set of outcome definitions hinders study of the naturalistic course of depressive disorders (Frank et al., 1991; Prien et al., 1991; Keller, 2003; 2004). As descriptors for the clinical course of depressive illness, terms such as remission, relapse and recurrence have been incoherently applied as measures of outcome. The inconsistency of outcome definitions across studies leads to difficulties

when comparing and interpreting results, and their relationship to clinical practice. The first effort to achieve a terminology consensus was made by Frank et al. (1991), who suggested conceptual definitions for MDD outcome. Unfortunately, and partly because of incompatible and changing lengths of duration used for remission and recovery in these criteria, they somewhat failed to achieve consistency (Keller, 2003).

Clinical experience indicates that remission is the optimal outcome of treatment (Keller, 2003; 2004), and very recently it has been proposed that remission as optimal should be a completely asymptomatic state, with absence of both symptoms and functional impairment (Keller, 2003). This standard for remission seems essential because the presence of residual symptoms is considered a strong predictor of relapse or recurrence (Paykel et al., 1995; Judd et al., 1998; 1999), a more chronic course of depression (Judd, 2000), shorter time between episodes (Judd et al., 1998), decreased likelihood of recovery (Keller et al., 1992), and impaired social functioning (Kennedy & Paykel, 2004). Thus, the presence of even minimal residual symptoms may warrant continuation of treatment. By some standards, however, patients may be considered in remission despite still having one or two minor symptoms (Keller et al., 1982; 1983; 1992). In conclusion, as Keller has recently stated, "currently there is not a universally accepted definition of remission" (Keller, 2003).

4.5.2 Duration of MDE in general populations

Data on the duration of major depressive episodes in general populations are sparse. However, a few studies (Sargeant et al., 1990; Lehtinen et al., 1993; Angst & Merikangas, 1997; Eaton et al., 1997; Spijker et al., 2002) suggest that the prognosis of depression in a general population is somewhat better than in psychiatric care. In the ECA study, a median duration of MDE of 8-12 weeks was found (Eaton et al., 1997), and recently Spijker et al. (2002) reported a median duration of three months (95% CI 2.2-3.8). In the most recent epidemiological report from the NCS-R (Kessler et al., 2003) the mean duration of MDE was 16 weeks (95% CI 15.1-17.3). These MDEs fall into a lower range of duration than found in clinical studies (Keller et al., 1982; 1992; Coryell et al., 1994; Angst & Preisig, 1995; Solomon et al., 1997; Furukawa et al., 2000; Kennedy et al., 2003). However, a rate of 20% for chronicity in a general population (Spijker et al., 2002) was similar to findings in clinical populations (Keller et al., 1982; 1992; Coryell et al., 2002) was similar to findings in clinical populations (Keller et al., 2000; Kennedy et al., 2002) was similar to findings in clinical populations (Keller et al., 2000; Kennedy et al., 2002) and similar to findings in clinical populations (Keller et al., 2000; Kennedy et al., 2002) was similar to findings in clinical populations (Keller et al., 2000; Kennedy et al., 2003).

4.5.3 Outcome of MDD

On the basis of available studies of its outcome, MDD appears to be a chronic illness with a high risk of recurrence over the lifetime. Prospective long-term (Angst 1986; Keller et al., 1992; Angst & Priesig, 1995a; 1995b; Mueller et al., 1996; 1999; Keller & Boland, 1998; Solomon et al., 1997; 2000; Kennedy et al., 2003) and shorter-term outcome studies

(Maj et al., 1992; Wells et al., 1992; Ramana et al., 1995; Parker et al., 2000b; Sherrington et al., 2001; Myers et al., 2002), as well as retrospective long-term outcome studies (Kiloh et al., 1988; Lee & Murray, 1988; Andrews et al., 1990; Thornicroft & Sartorius, 1993; Surtees & Barkley, 1994; Brodaty et al., 2001) document high recurrence and chronicity of major depressive episode. It seems that approximately eight out of ten people experiencing MDE will have at least one more episode during their lifetime (Angst, 1986; Mueller et al., 1999), and about one fifth will have a chronic course of MDE lasting \geq 2 years (Keller et al., 1992). Moreover, previous long-term studies have shown that symptoms at sub-syndromal level are common and persist for many years after an episode of MDD (Angst & Merikangas, 1997; Judd et al., 1998), even with antidepressant treatment (Kennedy et al., 2004).

The tendency for patients in tertiary-level treatment centres to have undergone many prior treatments may produce bias towards more chronic, severe and recurrent illnesses compared with more unselected cohorts of MDD patients (Furukawa et al., 2000; Roy-Byrne et al., 2000; Spijker et al., 2002; Kanai et al., 2003). Thus, the length of depressive episode and rate of recurrence can be expected to vary by the level of treatment setting and inpatient or outpatient status. In fact, several short-term (Kessler et al., 1985; Sargeant et al., 1990; Ormel et al., 1993; Lin et al., 1998; Simon, 2000; Spijker et al., 2002) and a few long-term (Coryell et al., 1991; Angst & Merikangas, 1997; Eaton et al., 1997; van Weel-Baumgarten et al., 1998) outcome studies suggest that the prognosis of depression is better in community and primary health care settings than in psychiatric care. Moreover, the most influential outcome studies (Piccinelli & Wilkison, 1994; Judd, 1997) were undertaken during the past era of tricyclic antidepressants and before the recommendation of continuation and maintenance treatments, which again somewhat undermines the ability to generalize such findings to current psychiatric settings.

4.5.3.1 Clinical factors as predictors of outcome

Preventing chronicity and recurrence of depressive episodes is the central aim of treatment, and information on risk factors for chronicity and recurrences is important for identifying patients at particularly high risk. Severity of the MDE, comorbid dysthymia (double depression), and longer duration of index episode before entry have been consistently associated with non-recovery or longer time to remission (Keller et al., 1982; 1984; 1992; Ramana et al., 1995; Mueller et al., 1999; Parker et al., 2000b; Solomon et al., 2000; Myers et al., 2002). Some studies have shown that severity of depression predicts relapse (Ramana et al., 1995), while other have found that it does not (Keller et al., 1983; Sherrington et al., 2001), and severity is a risk factor for partial remission (Paykel et al., 1995). The presence of residual symptoms is further considered a strong predictor of relapse or recurrence (Paykel et al., 1995; Judd et al., 1998; 1999), a more chronic course of depression (Judd, 2000), shorter time between episodes (Judd et al., 1998), a decreased likelihood of recovery (Keller et al., 1992), and impaired social functioning (Kennedy & Paykel, 2004). The number of prior MDEs and longer duration of the

MDE prior to entry have also predicted relapse/recurrence (Keller et al., 1982; 1983; Coryell et al., 1991; Maj et al., 1992; Surtees & Barkley, 1994; Lin et al., 1998; Mueller et al., 1999). Information on age and gender as risk factors for both chronicity and recurrence is inconsistent (Keller et al., 1982; 1986; 1992; Sargeant et al., 1990; Coryell et al., 1991; Keitner et al., 1992; Huges et al., 1993; Surtees & Barkley, 1994; Zlotnick et al., 1996; Simpson et al., 1997; Solomon et al., 1997; Mueller et al., 1999; Hoencamp et al., 2001; Myers et al., 2002; Kennedy et al., 2004). Sociodemographic factors appear to have no significant effects on the outcome of MDD when depression severity and level of functional status are controlled for (Wells et al., 1992; Mueller et al., 1996).

4.5.3.2 Comorbidity as a predictor of outcome in clinical studies

Rates of non-recovery, recurrence and relapse among patients with MDD and comorbid disorders are likely to be greater than among patients with depression alone. Depressed patients with panic disorder or with higher symptom ratings of anxiety have shown a longer time to recovery (Keller et al., 1986; Coryell et al., 1988; 1992; Clayton et al., 1991; Keitner et al., 1992; Parker et al., 2000b). The US National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) Collaborative Depression Study (CDS) is the only study to have investigated the effects of current comorbid alcoholism among patients with MDD, finding those with current alcoholism to be only half as likely to recover from their MDE (Mueller et al., 1994). However, there is surprisingly little information on current axis I comorbidity and risk of relapse/recurrence in clinical cohorts of depressive patients. The CDS found some anxiety syndromes, but not current alcoholism, to be associated with higher risk of relapse (Coryell et al., 1992; Mueller et al., 1994).

In a few naturalistic outcome studies in which semistructured interviews for both MDD and axis II disorders were used, personality disorders predicted longer time to remission (Sato et al., 1993; Greenberg et al., 1995; Ilardi et al., 1997; Viinamäki et al., 2002; 2003), and risk of relapse (Alnaes & Torgersen, 1997; Ilardi et al., 1997). Convergently, high neuroticism (Surtees & Wainwright, 1996; Gormley et al., 1999) and low self-esteem (Andrew et al., 1993; Surtees & Wainwright, 1996; Sherrington et al., 2001) have also been related to longer duration of MDE.

Overall, the available evidence on the effects of current comorbidity on outcome of MDD in clinical cohorts is somewhat difficult to interpret because of several methodological limitations. These include not using semi/structured interviews for both MDD and comorbid disorders, or not controlling for the effects of additional comorbid disorders, or not using life-chart methodology (and thus reporting only cross-sectional findings). A recent review of personality pathology and outcome in MDD, while pointing out many methodological problems in measurements, suggests that comorbid personality pathology should not be seen as an impediment to good treatment response (Mulder, 2002).

Although comorbidity in MDD is prevalent, the effect of overall comorbidity on the length of episode or risk of recurrence has not been systematically investigated. Furthermore, prevalences of comorbid cases have been quite low in some earlier studies (Keller et al., 1983; Mueller et al., 1999) compared with those reported in more recent clinical investigations (Zimmerman et al., 2000).

4.5.3.3 Psychosocial factors as predictors of outcome

Adverse life events, together with genetic vulnerability and temperament factors, are likely to form one of the key domains of liability to MDD (Kendler et al., 1993; 2002; 2004), and interactions between these risk factors seem important. Stressful life events leading to depression, and the declining association between life events and risk for MDD with increasing number of previous MDEs may be moderated by genetic vulnerability (Kendler et al., 2001; Caspi et al., 2003). However, studies investigating possible effects of psychosocial factors on the outcome of MDD in psychiatric samples are relatively sparse. Stressful life events and lack of social support are associated with worse outcome of depression in community and some clinical studies (Coryell, 1988; Paykel, 1994), although in most prospective studies of severe and recurrent depression little effect on time to remission or subsequent relapse has been found (Andrew et al., 1993; Paykel, 1994; Sherrington et al., 2001).

4.5.3.4 Melancholic subtype as predictor of outcome and stability of melancholic features

Most outcome studies (Keller et al., 1984; 1986; Kiloh et al., 1988; Parker et al., 1992; Ramana et al., 1995; Broadity et al., 2001; Kennedy et al., 2003) have found no difference in outcome between endogenous/melancholic and non-melancholic depression, while some have found a correlation between endogeneity and less favourable outcome (Lee & Murray, 1988; Duggan et al., 1991). In the Maudsley Study (Lee & Murray, 1988), the melancholic subjects tended to have more severe episodes but better non-episode functioning.

One crucial aspect of descriptive validity of the DSM definition for melancholic depression, i.e. longitudinal stability across illness episodes, has received little attention. If the two subtypes correspond to two different disorders, then this dichotomy should show stability over time (Coryell et al., 1994). The findings reported in earlier studies (Kendell, 1974; Paykel et al., 1976; Young et al., 1987; Coryell et al., 1994) are somewhat inconsistent. In the US NIMH CDS (Coryell et al., 1994) the RDC endogenous subtype was stable among patients with primary depression, but not among those with secondary depression. Overall, it has been suggested that the non-endogenous subtype may become endogenous during subsequent episodes more frequently than the reverse development (Rush & Weissenburger, 1994). A very recent study found no evidence that either symptoms or subtype of recurrent MDD are stable across episodes (Oquendo et al., 2004).

4.5.3.5 Atypical and psychotic subtypes as predictors of outcome

Little is known about the course of MDD with atypical features. One study has reported that patients with atypical features had longer (Asnis et al., 1995), and another shorter episodes of depression (Kendler et al., 1996). It has also been reported that atypical depressives tend to have a more chronic course compared with non-atypical patients in clinical but not epidemiologically derived samples (Nierenberg et al., 1998). Psychotic features have been associated with a more severe form of depressive illness with greater levels of psychosocial impairment (Coryell et al., 1987; 1996; Lee &Murray, 1988).

4.6 Treatment of MDD

Several sets of evidence-based treatment guidelines have been published to improve detection and treatment of major depressive disorder (Schulberg et al., 1998; Crismon et al., 1999; Anderson et al., 2000; APA, 2000; Bauer et al., 2002; Suomen Psykiatriyhdistys, 2004). Effective treatments include antidepressant medications, psychotherapy, a combination of medication plus psychotherapy, and ECT (Schulberg et al., 1998; Crismon et al., 1999; Anderson et al., 2000; APA, 2000; Bauer et al., 2002; Suomen Psykiatriyhdistys, 2004), and guidelines suggest treatment should be continued until remission of symptoms and normal level of functioning.

4.6.1 Antidepressant treatment

Adequate antidepressant treatment of MDD consists of an acute phase, during which remission is induced, a continuation phase, during which remission is preserved, and a maintenance phase, during which the vulnerable patient is protected against recurrence of subsequent episodes (APA, 2000; Suomen Psykiatriyhdistys, 2004). In the acute phase antidepressants should be provided as an initial primary treatment modality for mild to severe MDD (APA, 2000; Suomen Psykiatriyhdistys, 2004). Because the effectiveness of the various antidepressants is comparable, the selection of an antidepressant will largely be based on its profile of side-effects, the safety or tolerability of these side-effects, interactions with other medications, and patient's preference. If at least moderate improvement is not observed in the following six to eight weeks, there should be reappraisal of the treatment regimen (APA, 2000; Suomen Psykiatriyhdistys, 2004). In the continuation phase, i.e. the four to nine months following remission, patients should be maintained on antidepressants. Following the continuation phase, maintenance phase treatment should be considered to prevent recurrences (Viguera et al., 1998; APA, 2000; Geddes et al., 2003; Nierenberg et al., 2003; Suomen Psykiatriyhdistys, 2004). The factors that should be considered when deciding whether to use maintenance treatment include number of prior episodes, presence of comorbid conditions, residual symptoms, suicidality, psychotic features, certain functional impairments, possible side-effects, and patient preference (APA, 2000).

4.6.2 Psychosocial treatment

In the acute phase, a specific, effective psychotherapy (cognitive, behavioural, interpersonal, psychodynamic) alone as an initial treatment may be provided for patients with mild to moderate MDD (APA, 2000; Suomen Psykiatriyhdistys, 2004). Clinical features that may suggest the use of psychotherapeutic interventions include the presence of psychosocial stressors, intrapsychic conflict/interpersonal difficulties, or comorbid axis II disorder (APA, 2000). There is increasing evidence to support the use of a specific psychotherapy in the continuation and maintenance phases to prevent recurrences (APA, 2000; Nierenberg et al., 2003; Suomen Psykiatriyhdistys, 2004). Frequency of visits usually decreases in the maintenance phase (APA, 2000; Suomen Psykiatriyhdistys, 2004).

4.6.3 Combination treatment

The combination of psychotherapy and medication is recommended for those with psychosocial/interpersonal problems, or comorbid axis II disorder together with moderate to severe MDD. Poor adherence to treatments may also warrant a combination of treatment modalities (APA, 2000). In a recent systemic review Pampallona et al. (2004) concluded that combined antidepressant therapy and psychosocial treatment is associated with a higher improvement rate than pharmacotherapy alone.

4.6.4 Treatment adherence

The degree to which a patient follows a treatment regimen has been defined in a variety of ways, and different terms have been used. Compliance has traditionally been referred to as "the extent to which a person's behaviour confirms to medical advice, and especially the extent to which the patient takes the medications as described" (Bruer, 1982; Frank et al., 1992), while adherence is defined as "patient acceptance of recommended health behaviours" (Wright, 1993). The literature (Frank et al., 1992; Lingam & Scott, 2002; Nemeroff, 2003) tends to prefer the term adherence as it may also remind clinicians to form a good therapeutic alliance with the patient, and emphasises active rather than passive participation of the patient in this process. Intervention studies have shown that psychoeducation is an effective way to enhance treatment adherence by offering structured and detailed information to patients about their treatments (Demyttenaere & Haddad, 2000; Lin et al., 2003; Vergouwen et al., 2003). However, confusion about terminology in this field remains somewhat unresolved (Lingam & Scott, 2002; Nemeroff, 2003), and the terms "compliance" and "adherence" are still used interchangeably.

Practice guidelines suggest that psychiatrists should recognize patients' non-adherence, and encourage them to discuss any concerns regarding adherence (APA, 2000). The components of communication to patients that have been shown to improve adherence include reminding them of when and how often to take the medicine, the need for at least 2-4 weeks

before beneficial effects may be noticed, the need to take medication even after feeling better, the need to consult with the doctor before discontinuing medication, and what to do if problems arise (APA, 2000).

4.6.5 Studies on treatment adequacy and adherence

Primary care (Katon et al., 1995; Lin et al., 2000; Demyttenaere et al., 2001) and retrospective database studies (Melfi et al., 1998; Claxton et al., 2000) have reported frequent shortcomings in depression treatment, including inadequate follow-up of dosage and monitoring of antidepressant treatment. However, few recent psychiatric care studies have investigated the extent to which treatment recommendations, especially after the immediate acute phase, are carried out (Ramana et al., 1999; Sirey et al., 1999; Simon et al., 2001; Cuffel et al., 2003; Kennedy et al., 2003). Treatment received, and predictors of treatment inadequacy and premature termination, are rarely reported, even though premature termination of treatments is a great concern for clinicians.

Medication non-adherence is common; estimates of non-adherence for affective disorders range from 10% to 60%, with a median of 40% (Lingam & Scott, 2002). However, according to the recent review, only 1% to 2% of all publications on treatment of affective disorders explore factors associated with medication adherence (Lingam & Scott, 2002). Part of this neglect is explained by the unresolved confusion about terminology, and highly variable methods (i.e. prescription counts, pill counts, appointments kept, drug/metabolite plasma concentrations) used in measuring non-adherence (Demyttenaere et al., 2001; Lingam & Scott, 2002; Pampallona et al., 2002; Demyttenaere, 2003).

Recent studies, although limited in number, show increasing attention being focused on various risk factors for non-adherence, such as stigma, health-beliefs and negative attitudes towards psychiatric treatments (Melfi et al., 1998; Demyttenaere & Haddad, 2000; Demyttenaere et al., 2001; Sirey et al., 2001; Keller et al., 2002; Lingam & Scott, 2002; Demyttenaere, 2003; Lin et al., 2003). However, the extent to which patients' negative treatment attitudes, fear of side-effects, perceived side-effects per se, comorbidity and severity of depression influence premature terminations of treatments, or non-adherence, is still poorly understood (Lingam & Scott, 2002; Pampallona et al., 2002; Demyttenaere, 2003).

Study reference	N	Outpatients %	Sex/ Females %	Method	%
Any anxiety disorder					
Sanderson et al., 1990	197	100	56	SCID (DSM III-R)	42
Pini et al., 1997	38	100	75	SCID-P (DSM-III-R)	92
Schatzberg et al., 1998	85	38	49	SCID-P (DSM-III-R)	29
Fava et al., 2000	255	100	NR	SCID-P (DSM-III-R)	45
Zimmerman et al., 2000	373	100	67	SCID (DSM-IV)	57
Panic disorder					
Van Valkenburg et al., 1984	114	NR (in/outpatients)	44	semi-structured interview (Feighner, DSM-III)	27
Coryell et al., 1988	523/387*	NR (mostly inpatients)	60	SADS (RDC)	19
Sanderson et al., 1990	197	100	56	SCID (DSM-III-R)	10
Grunhaus et al., 1994	176/136*	NR (in/outpatients)	71	SADS (RDC)	34
Fava et al., 1996a	396	100	66	SCID-P (DSM-III-R)	8
Schatzberg et al., 1998	85	38	49	SCID-P (DSM-III-R)	7
Fava et al., 2000	255	100	NR	SCID-P (DSM-III-R)	8
Zimmerman et al., 2000	373	100	67	SCID (DSM-IV)	17
Generalized anxiety disorder					
Sanderson et al., 1990	197	100	56	SCID (DSM-III-R)	20
Fava et al., 1996a	396	100	66	SCID-P (DSM-III-R)	9
Fava et al., 2000	255	100	NR	SCID-P (DSM-III-R)	10
Zimmerman et al., 2000	373	100	67	SCID (DSM-IV)	15
Social phobia					
Sanderson et al., 1990	197	100	56	SCID (DSM-III-R)	15
Fava et al., 1996a	396	100	66	SCID-P (DSM-III-R)	26
Alpert et al., 1997	243	100	55	SCID-P (DSM-III-R)	27
Schatzberg et al., 1998	85	38	49	SCID-P (DSM-III-R)	13
Fava et al., 2000	255	100	NR	SCID-P (DSM-III-R)	26
Zimmerman et al., 2000	373	100	67	SCID (DSM-IV)	33
Simple phobia					
Sanderson et al., 1990	197	100	56	SCID (DSM-III-R)	2
Fava et al., 1996a	396	100	66	SCID-P (DSM-III-R)	14
Schatzberg et al., 1998	85	38	49	SCID-P (DSM-III-R)	5
Fava et al., 2000	255	100	NR	SCID-P (DSM-III-R)	15
Zimmerman et al., 2000	373	100	67	SCID (DSM-IV)	14

Table 1. Current Axis I comorbidity of major depressive disorder in psychiatric settings

Study reference	N	Outpatients %	Sex/ Females %	Method	%
OCD					
Sanderson et al., 1990	197	100	56	SCID (DSM-III-R)	4
Fava et al., 1996a	396	100	66	SCID-P (DSM-III-R)	4
Schatzberg et al., 1998	85	38	49	SCID-P (DSM-III-R)	9
Fava et al., 2000	255	100	NR	SCID-P (DSM-III-R)	5
Zimmerman et al., 2000	373	100	67	SCID (DSM-IV)	10
PTSD					
Sanderson et al., 1990	197	100	56	SCID (DSM-III-R)	0
Schatzberg et al., 1998	85	38	49	SCID-P (DSM-III-R)	4
Zimmerman et al., 2000	373	100	67	SCID (DSM-IV)	13
Alcohol use disorders					
Sanderson et al., 1990	197	100	56	SCID (DSM-III-R)	8
McDermut et al., 2001	373	100	67	SCID (DSM-IV)	9

Only studies with 1) semistructured or standardized diagnostic interviews for both MDD and comorbid disorders, 2) sample size of at least 25 patients, 3) unipolar MDD as their main sampling inclusion criterion, 4) adult age, and 5) only studies conducted in psychiatric settings are included.

*= unipolar MDD NR= not reported

Study reference	N	Outpatients %	Sex/ Females %	Method	%
Any personality disorder					
Kocsis et al., 1986	26 (39*)	100	69 (69)	semi-structured interview	40
				(DSM-III)	(47)
Alnaes & Torgersen, 1988	289/97**	100	71	SCID (DSM-III)	86
				SCID (DSM-III)	
Sanderson et al., 1992	197 (32***)	100	56 (56)	SCID-P (DSM-III-R)	50
				SCID-II (DSM-III-R)	(69)
Stuart et al., 1992	59	100	75	SADS (RDC)	24
				PDE (DSM-III-R)	
Flick et al., 1993	352/165**	100	60	SCID (DSM-III-R)	61
				SCID-II (DSM-III-R)	
Golomb et al., 1995b	316/117****	100	66	SCID-P(DSM-III-R)	56
				SCID-II (DSM-III-R)	
Pepper et al., 1995	45 (97 [*])	100	67 (75)	SCID (DSM-III-R)	18
				PDE-R (DSM-III-R)	(60)
Sato et al., 1996	96	100	57	SCID-P (DSM-III-R)	55
				SCID-II (DSM-III-R)	
Fava et al., 2002	384	100	55	SCID-II (DSM-IV?)	64

Table 2. Overall Axis II comorbidity of major depressive disorder in psychiatric settings

Only studies with 1) semistructured or standardized diagnostic interviews for both MDD and comorbid disorders, 2) sample size of at least 25 patients, 3) unipolar MDD as their main sampling inclusion criterion, 4) adult age, and 5) only studies conducted in psychiatric settings are included.

*= including dysthymia and double depression

= patients with MDD *= double depression

***** = SCID II for 117 subjects; only the results of SCID II reported here; the older group was also included (mean age 49.2±5.8 years)
5. AIMS OF THE STUDY

This study investigated current comorbidity, outcome and treatments received in a sample of 269 MDD patients in secondary level psychiatric care.

The specific aims of the study were:

- I To comprehensively investigate current axis I and II comorbidity, and variations by clinical and sociodemographic factors, in a representative psychiatric sample.
- II To determine the outcome of MDE in a modern secondary-level psychiatric setting, and the influence of psychiatric and somatopsychiatric comorbidity plus psychosocial factors on the outcome.
- III To investigate and compare the stability, outcome and comorbidity of the melancholic versus non-melancholic subtype of MDD.
- IV To describe the quality and continuity of psychotherapeutic and antidepressant treatments received in acute, continuation and maintenance phases of MDD, patients' self-reported level of adherence and treatment attitudes, and factors explaining these.

6. METHODS

6.1 General study design

The VDS is a collaborative depression research project between the Department of Mental and Alcohol Research of the National Public Health Institute, Helsinki, and the Department of Psychiatry of the Peijas Medical Care District (PMCD), Vantaa, Finland. The catchment area comprises the city of Vantaa (population 169 000 in 1997). The PMCD Department of Psychiatry offers secondary care psychiatric services to all Vantaa citizens. These include a psychiatric inpatient unit, a general hospital outpatient clinic, six community mental health care centers - each covering a specified catchment area - and two day hospitals.

6.2 Screening

The first phase of patient sampling for the VDS involved screening all patients in the PMCD with a possible new episode of DSM-IV MDD between 1st February 1997 and 31st May 1998. During that period, every patient (N=806) aged 20-59 years 1) seeking treatment at, 2) being referred to, or 3) already receiving care and now showing signs of deteriorating clinical state in the Department of Psychiatry but without a clinical diagnosis of ICD-10 schizophrenia or bipolar I disorder, was screened for the presence of depressive symptoms. The screening instrument included the five screening questions for depression from the WHO Schedule for Clinical Assessment in Neuropsychiatry (SCAN), Version 2.0 (Wing et al., 1990). The Scale for Suicidal Ideation (SSI) (Beck et al., 1979) was also completed to identify cases with moderate to severe suicidal ideation or plans. After either 1) a positive response to any of the SCAN screening questions, or 2) a score of six or more in the SSI, irrespective of the presence of depressive symptoms, the patient was fully informed about the study project, and written informed consent requested. Of the 703 eligible patients, 161 (22.9%) refused to participate in the study, but 542 (77.1%) agreed and gave written informed consent (Table 3). The patients who refused did not differ significantly (P>.05) in age or gender from those who consented. The Ethics Committee of Peijas Hospital approved the study on 2nd December 1996.



Figure 1. Flow-chart of the sampling procedure in the VDS

Table 3. Methods in the Vantaa Depression Study

Timing of screening	Between February 1, 1997, and May 31, 1998
Catchment area	City of Vantaa (population 169 000 in 1997)
Setting	Department of Psychiatry of the Peijas Medical Care District, Vantaa, Finland
Target group	All psychiatric patients aged 20-59 years 1) seeking treatment 2) referred to treatment, or 3) already in treatment with an acute deteriorating clinical state
Excluded from screening	ICD-10 schizophrenia, bipolar I disorder
Screening procedure	a) The five screening questions for depression from SCAN, one positive, orb) The Scale for Suicide Ideation (SSI), a score of six or more
Screened total	806
Screened positive	703
Refusals	161 (23% of the screened positive)
Diagnostic interview	After informed consent DSM-IV (axis I, SCAN), and DSM-III-R (SCID-II modified to DSM-IV)
Inclusion criteria	DSM-IV unipolar MDD with a new depressive episode
Excluded from study	DSM-IV bipolar I and II disorder, shizoaffective disorder, organic or substance-induced mood disorder
Diagnostic reliability	20 videotaped diagnostic interviews, kappa coefficient 0.86 (0.58-1.00); for comorbidity and melancholic MDD not tested

6.3 Baseline evaluation

6.3.1 Diagnostic measures

In the second phase of sampling, the 542 consenting patients were interviewed face-to-face by a researcher using the WHO SCAN 2.0. The interviewers had all received relevant training by a WHO certified training centre. They examined whether or not the current mood episode fulfilled the criteria for (unipolar) DSM-IV MDD. All psychiatric and medical records in the PMCD, including a standardized set of laboratory tests, were also available at the interview. Patients currently abusing alcohol or other substances were interviewed after two to three weeks of abstinence, in order to exclude substance-induced mood disorders. On this basis, 269 patients were diagnosed with DSM-IV MDD and included in the study. Diagnostic reliability was investigated using 20 videotaped diagnostic interviews; the kappa coefficient for MDD was 0.86 [0.58-1.0] with 95% observed agreement rate.

The decision to include the patient in the study cohort was made by the researcher during the interview, after which the entire SCAN interview was conducted to achieve a full picture of axis I comorbid disorders. In addition, the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-III-R personality disorders (SCID-II) (Spitzer et al., 1987) was used to assess diagnoses on axis II. Current axis III diseases were assessed via a self-report checklist with 44 items (corresponding to ICD-10 diagnoses). However, only axis III diseases diagnosed by a physician and currently being treated were included.

6.3.2 Exclusion criteria

Patients with a diagnosis of DSM-IV bipolar I or II disorder, shizoaffective disorder, schizophrenia or another psychosis, organic or substance-induced mood disorder were excluded from the study, even if they fulfilled the symptom criteria of current MDE (Table 3). So were the cases with a history of MDD if the current episode did not fulfill the criteria of the disorder.

6.3.3 Observer and self-report scales

The 17-item Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression (HAM-D; Hamilton, 1960) and the 21item Beck Depression Inventory (BDI; Beck et al., 1961) were used to assess severity of depression, the SSI suicidal behaviour; the Social and Occupational Functioning Assessment Scale for DSM-IV (SOFAS; Goldman et al., 1992) functional level; the Interview for Recent Life Events (IRLE; Paykel, 1983) life-events, and the Interview Measure of Social Relationships (IMSR; Brugha et al., 1987) and the Perceived Social Support Scale -Revised (PSSS-R; Blumenthal et al., 1987) social support. Self-report scales, in addition to the BDI, included the Beck Anxiety Inventory (BAI; Beck et al., 1988), the Beck Hopelessness Scale (HS; Beck et al., 1974), the Social Adjustment Scale-Self Report (SAS-SR; Weissman et al., 1976), and the Eysenck Personality Inventory (EPI; Eysenck & Eysenck, 1964).

6.3.4 Melancholic subtype and neurotisicm

The distinction between melancholic and non-melancholic depression was based on the SCAN and DSM-IV criteria. The psychomotor symptoms (marked retardation or agitation) were observed and rated as part of DSM-IV diagnostic assessments at baseline and follow-up interviews. Neurotisicm was rated with the EPI. When analyzing stability of melancholic features subtypes, only those patients who met the criteria for MDE at the time of the follow-up interviews could be evaluated. Patients who remained with the full MDE criteria for the whole follow-up period were excluded from these analyses.

6.3.5 Patients' attitudes towards treatments

Attitudes towards antidepressant and psychotherapeutic treatments at baseline were assessed separately by interview and rated on a Likert scale with the following items: patient 1) actively wants treatment, 2) passively accepts treatment, 3) has reservations about treatment, 4) has definitely negative attitudes towards treatment, or 5) could not answer. At the follow-ups, patients were interviewed with scales comprised of the following items: attitudes are 1) very positive, 2) positive, 3) neutral, 4) negative, 5) very negative towards treatment, or 6) could not answer.

Patients with reservations about, or definitely negative attitudes towards treatments were also asked their subjective reasons for these attitudes, with the following alternatives: 1) generally negative attitudes toward treatment, 2) fear of side-effects (antidepressants) / not wanting to confide in a stranger (psychotherapeutic treatments), 3) fear of dependence, 4) not knowing enough about treatment, 5) patient's / other's negative earlier experiences of treatment, 6) negative information from media, 8) no belief that treatment will help, 9) treatment too expensive, or 10) could not answer.

6.4 Follow-up procedure

Of the total of 269 subjects with current MDD initially included in the study, 40 subjects were missing (N=229) at six months. Some of these were traced again for the 18-month follow-up (N=207), so only 13% (35/269) dropped out from both follow-up interviews. The patients whose diagnosis switched to bipolar disorder during the 18-month follow-up (5%, 13/269) were censored from the analyses, and eight patients died during follow-up. The median times to follow-up interviews were 6.5 and 18.8 months for six- and 18-month interviews, respectively.

6.4.1 Study drop-outs

The drop-outs were significantly younger (median 31.2 vs. 42.3, Z=-3.32, P=.001), more often living alone (19%, 24/125 vs. 8%, 11/131, χ^2 =6.33, df=1, P=.017), scored higher on the EPI-neuroticism scale (median 20.0 vs. 18.0, Z=-2.17, P=.030), and were more likely to have comorbid dysthymia (26%, 8/31 vs. 12%, 27/225, Fisher's exact test, P=.049) than those attending both follow-ups. Patients who dropped out did not differ significantly (P>.05) in DSM-IV melancholic features from those who completed the follow-up.

In some analyses only those attending the 18-month follow-up were included; in this case the drop-outs (bipolar cases excluded) were significantly younger (mean±SD, 35.7±10.2 vs. 41.0±11.1 years, t=3.24, df=254, P=.001), more often unemployed (53%, 31/58 vs. 35%, 68/193, χ^2 =6.20, df=1, P=.013), and had current comorbid psychiatric DSM-IV disorders (mean±SD, 3.5±2.0 vs. 3.0±1.7, t=-2.08, df=254, P=.038), panic disorder (26%, 15/58 vs. 13%, 26/198, χ^2 =5.41, df=1, P=.020), and social phobia more often (29%, 17/58 vs. 17%, 34/198, χ^2 =4.14, df=1, P=.042) than those attending the 18-month follow-up. When baseline treatments were compared, the only significant finding was that drop-outs were without antidepressants more often (22%, 13/58 vs. 12%, 24/198, χ^2 =3.84, df=1, P=.050).

6.4.2 Outcome measures

After the baseline assessments, the patients were asked to complete the BDI each month for six months. The outcome of MDD and the comorbid disorders was investigated at six and 18 months by SCAN 2.0 and SCID-II interviews. In addition, all observer- and self-report scales were included at both follow-up assessments. All medical and psychiatric records were also available.

6.4.2.1 Life-chart methodology

The exact duration of the index episode and the timing of possible relapses/recurrences were examined by gathering all available data, which were then integrated into the form of a graphic life chart. This was created at the six- and 18-month interviews after reviewing with the patient all the information from the follow-up period. Besides symptom ratings and visits to attending personnel, change points in the psychopathologic states using probes related to important life-events were also asked in order to improve the accuracy of assessment.

The life-chart was based on DSM-IV criteria and definitions. Time after the first baseline interview was divided into three periods: (1) state of full remission (none of the 9 MDE criteria symptoms), (2) state of partial remission (1-4 of the 9 symptoms), or (3) state of MDE (5+ of the 9 symptoms). As a categorical variable, remission (further specified as full or partial) was defined according to the DSM-IV, as at least two consecutive months

in which criteria for a MDE were not met. Patients were considered to have achieved full remission if they had spent at least two consecutive months in the state of full remission, and partial remission if they had spent at least two months in the state of partial remission. Relapse was defined as return of symptoms fulfilling the DSM-IV criteria for MDE after a period of less than two months (but more than 2 weeks) with symptoms below the MDE threshold. Recurrence was defined as in the DSM-IV definition for 296.3x MDD, as a return of symptoms sufficiently severe to satisfy criteria for an MDE after at least two consecutive months of partial or full remission.

6.4.3 Definitions of duration of the index episode

Two alternative definitions for duration of the index episode after the first baseline interview were used: (1) the uninterrupted duration of the episode in the state of MDE (Time with full MDE criteria), and (2) time to the first onset of state of full remission lasting at least two consecutive months (Time to full remission).

6.5 Treatments provided and their continuity

Psychotherapeutic support comprised regular appointments with a mental health professional aimed at helping the patient by discussing her/his problems (weekly psychotherapy excluded). Weekly psychotherapy was defined as weekly therapy sessions for \geq four weeks with a qualified, certified therapist (usually with psychodynamic, sometimes cognitive-behavioural training). The adequacy of antidepressant dosage was defined as the usual adult doses in the APA Practice Guidelines (APA, 2000). Continuity of psychotherapeutic and antidepressant treatment was assessed by interviewing patients and investigating all clinical information on treatment, including medical and psychiatric records. Treatment was defined as ongoing as long as it was provided/prescribed according to psychiatric records, while termination was the date when treatment was first documented as not ongoing (or reportedly terminated by the patient if no later contact with a professional). Here, sequential antidepressant trials and their intermediate short wash-out periods were classified as one continuous treatment period.

6.5.1 Self-reported reasons for discontinuing

Patients were asked their subjective reasons for discontinuing antidepressants, with the following alternatives: 1) poor/no response, 2) side-effects, 3) too expensive medication, 4) no need for treatment because of recovery, 5) patient's autonomous decision, and 6) could not answer.

6.5.2 Self-reported treatment adherence

Self-reported treatment adherence concerning the treatments provided was investigated by interviewing patients at the follow-ups using a Likert scale with the following response items: has the patient come to sessions/been on antidepressants 1) regularly, treatment compliance adequate with respect to treatment goals, 2) somewhat irregularly, it is unclear whether this would affect treatment goals, 3) very irregularly, the treatment did not proceed according to plan, and 4) not at all, the provided treatment could not be implemented.

6.6 Data analyses

The Pearson chi-square statistic with Yates' continuity correction test, and Fisher's exact test were used to evaluate categorical and non-parametric data, the Mann-Whitney or Kruskal-Wallis test to compare continuous variables not normally distributed, and the two-sample t-test for continuous variables normally distributed. Logistic regression models were used to adjust for confounding factors. The Kaplan-Meier survival curves were used to estimate the probability of remaining ill, and on an antidepressant during the 18-month follow-up. Cox proportional hazards models (Cox, 1972) were used in the analyses for predicting time to symptom state below MDE criteria or to full remission. In these analyses, censored data included the subjects who (1) had not achieved a symptom state below the MDE criteria or (2) had not met the criteria of full remission by the end of the follow-up period or by the time they left the study, or their diagnosis had switched to bipolar disorder. Treatment received was reported separately for patients with full, partial and no remission from the index episode because of the tendency of sicker patients to receive more treatment in a naturalistic study (Sturm, 1999). Only those who completed the whole 18-month follow-up could be included in analyses of the risk of recurrences, stability of MDD subtypes, and treatments provided during the follow-up. In hypothesis testing a p-value <.05 was considered significant, and p-values between 0.05 and 0.10 were reported as trends. Odds rations with 95% confidence interval not including 1 were considered significant. SPSS software, versions 9.0 or 11.0, was used (SPSS, 1999; 2001).

7. RESULTS

7.1 Current comorbidity of psychiatric disorders in MDD (Study I)

7.1.1 Clinical and demographic characteristic of the sample

The majority of the patients in the MDD cohort were females (73%), and outpatients (83%), half (50%) were married or cohabited, and 60% currently employed. Of the cohort patients, 36% met the criteria for DSM-IV melancholic features, while 64% had the non-melancholic subtype (Table 4). The melancholic depressive patients were significantly more often inpatients, had more severe depression, and lower level of functional capacity. There were no statistically significant differences in age, gender, psychotic features, current employment or marital status between patients with melancholic and non-melancholic features (III: Table 1).

7.1.2 Current overall comorbidity

Most (79%) of the patients suffered from at least one current comorbid disorder, and the majority (54%) from two or more. Over half (57%) had an anxiety disorder, a quarter (25%) alcohol abuse or dependence, and nearly half (44%) at least one personality disorder (PD) diagnosis (Figure 2).

7.1.3 Variations of comorbidity by sociodemographic and clinical factors

7.1.3.1 Axis I and axis II

The anxiety disorders (OR 2.36, 95% CI 1.05-5.30), especially panic disorder (OR 2.37, 95% CI 1.03-5.45), as well as alcohol dependence (OR 3.08, 95% CI 1.30-7.50) associated significantly with cluster B PDs, whereas social (OR 3.05, 95% CI 1.58-5.88) and specific phobia (OR 1.84, 95% CI 1.00-3.39) and agoraphobia without panic disorder (OR 2.85, 95% CI 1.27-6.37) associated with cluster C PDs when age, gender and other clusters were controlled for in logistic regression (I: Table 4).



Figure 2. Current comorbidity among patients with DSM-IV MDD in Vantaa Depression Study

7.1.3.2 Gender, age, marital status and residential area

There were some statistically significant variations in comorbidity by gender and residential area, and trends by age and marital status. Significantly more males (39%) than females (19%) suffered from alcohol use disorders (Table 4), and the patients from the somewhat socioeconomically disadvantaged East Vantaa were living outside the family (44% vs. 29%, χ^2 =5.38, df=1, P=.020), and had more severe MDD (mean HAM-D score ±SD; 20.30±5.3 vs.18.04±6.4, t=3.101, df=266, P=.002) more often than those in western Vantaa. Also, slightly more patients (19%, 30/155 vs. 11%, 10/95, χ^2 =2.79, df=1, P=.095) in eastern Vantaa were drinking heavily (defined as \geq 16 and \geq 24 standard [12 g of alcohol] drinks / week for women and men, respectively).

Characteristics	Females (N=197)		Males (1	N=72)	Total (N=269)		
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	
Age (vears)	30.5	11.4	30.0	10.0	39.6	11.1	
Age at onset of	39.5	11.4	39.9	10.0	59.0	11.1	
first MDE (years) ^a	31.6	12.6	31.5	12.4	31.6	12.5	
The 17 item HAM D	10.7	5.6	10.0	6.8	10.5	5.0	
The 21-item BDI	28.2	8.4	26.3	8.9	27.7	8.6	
	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	
Outpatients	165	84	58	81	223	83	
Inpatients	32	16	14	19	46	17	
Marital status							
Unmarried	43	22	17	24	60	22	
Married or cohabiting	99	50	36	50	135	50	
Divorced	49	25	17	24	66	25	
Widowed	6	3	2	3	8	3	
Residential area b							
East	125	63	43	61	168	63	
West	72	37	28	39	100	37	
Currently employed c	113	59	44	62	157	60	
Family income d							
Low	91	51	25	39	116	48	
High	87	49	39	61	126	52	
Total no of lifetime MDEse							
1(intake)	72	37	21	30	93	35	
2	58	30	25	35	83	31	
3 or more	66	34	25	35	91	34	
Axis I diagnosis							
Dysthymia	21	11	11	15	32	12	
Any anxiety disorder	118	60	34	47	152	57 ^f	
Panic disorder	36	18	9	13	45	17	
Agoraphobia w/o panic	26	13	5	7	31	12	
Social phobia	39	20	14	19	53	20	
Simple phobia	52	26	16	22	68	25	
OCD	15	8	3	4	18	7	
GAD	24	12	13	18	37	14	
PTSD	2	1	0	0	2	1	
Bulimia nervosa	2	1	0	0	2	1	
Any alcohol use disorder	38	19	28	39	66	25 ^g	
Dependence	23	12	15	21	38	14	
Abuse	15	8	13	18	28	10 ^h	

Table 4. Sociodemographic and Clinical Characteristics in Vantaa Depression Study ^a

Characteristics	Females (N=197)		Males	(N=72)	Total (N=269)	
	N	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	
Axis II diagnosis							
Cluster A	34	17	17	24	51	19	
Paranoid	31	16	16	22	47	17	
Schizoid	4	2	1	1	5	2	
Schizotypal	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Cluster B	31	16	8	11	39	14	
Antisocial	2	1	2	3	4	2	
Histrionic	5	3	0	0	5	2	
Borderline	25	13	7	10	32	12	
Narcissistic	2	1	2	3	4	2	
Cluster C	63	32	22	31	85	32	
Obsessive compulsive	13	7	4	6	17	6	
Dependent	13	7	5	7	18	7	
Avoidant	49	25	15	21	64	24	
Passive aggressive	7	4	6	8	13	5	
Any personality disorder	87	44	31	43	118	44	
Pure MDD	37	19	19	26	56	21	
Melancholic features	72	37	25	35	97	36	
Psychotic features	18	9	4	6	22	8	

^a All data shown as N and % unless otherwise noted ,^b missing 0.4%; N=268; ^c missing 2.2%; N=263, ^d missing 10%; N=242, ^e missing 0.7%, N=267, ^f χ^2 =2.95, df=1, P=.086, ^g χ^2 =9.91, df=1, P=.002, ^h χ^2 =5.10, df=1, P=.024

Females tended to have more anxiety disorders (Table 4) than males, and younger patients (aged < 40 years) more borderline personality disorders (16%, 21/132 vs. 8%, 11/137, χ^2 =3.27, df=1, P=.071) than older ones. Furthermore, patients living alone had a personality disorder slightly more often (50%, 67/134 vs. 38%, 51/135, χ^2 =3.60, df=1, P=.058) than married or cohabiting patients. All significant differences remained after controlling possible confounding factors by logistic regression.

7.1.3.3 Inpatient and outpatient status

Inpatients were more severely depressed (mean HAM-D score ±SD 24.9±5.0 vs. 18.4±5.4, t=7.493; df=267, P<.001), had more often alcohol use disorders (39% vs. 22%, χ^2 =5.47, df=1, P=.019), cluster B PDs (26% vs. 12%, χ^2 =4.94, df=1, P=.026), panic disorders with agoraphobia (17% vs. 5%, χ^2 =6.34, df=1, P=.012), and melancholic (54% vs. 32%, χ^2 =7.12, df=1, P=.008) and psychotic features (26% vs. 4%, Fisher's exact test, df=1, P<.001) than outpatients. These results remained significant after controlling for gender and age by logistic regression.

7.1.3.4 Lifetime depressive episodes

In logistic regression (LR) analyses controlled for age and gender, subjects with \geq three lifetime depressive episodes had a greater likelihood of personality disorders (OR 1.87, 95% CI 1.03-3.38, P=.026), and had pure MDD significantly less frequently than those with a single episode (OR 0.36, 95% CI 0.16-0.80, P=.022) (I: Table 5).

7.1.3.5 Melancholic features (Study III)

There were no significant differences in rates of any axis I and II comorbid disorders, or in EPI neuroticism scores between melancholic and non-melancholic depression (III: Table 2). In order to control for the possible effect of severity the multivariate models were used in the secondary analyses. In the LR models with melancholic features as the dependent variable, the only significant finding was severity of depression (OR 1.10, 95% CI 1.05-1.15, P<.001) when age, gender, severity of MDD, or either personality clusters or neuroticism were simultaneously entered into the models as independent variables (III: Table 3).

7.2 Outcome of MDD (Study II)

7.2.1 Duration of the index episode

The median *time with full MDE criteria* after entry was only 1.5 (95% CI 1.3-1.7) months. Altogether, 78% of the cohort achieved a symptom state below MDE criteria within three months, 86% within six months, and 95% within 18 months (Fig. 3). The median *time to full remission* (lasting at least 2 consecutive months) was 8.1 (95% CI 5.2-11.0) months; 22% of patients reached full remission within three months, 42% within six months, and altogether only 63% within the 18-month follow-up (Fig. 4). The median duration of MDE before the baseline interview was 3.5 (95% CI 2.9-4.1) months; including the prodromal phase, the duration was 6.6 (95% CI 6.1-7.1) months.

7.2.2 Predictors of duration of the index episode

Significant predictors of *time with full MDE criteria* and of *time to full remission* were very similar in the univariate analyses (Table 5).

Predictors for the final models were chosen on the basis of the primary hypothesis, but their clinical and statistical validity and relevance (e.g. state vs. trait) were considered before inclusion. Therefore, some self-reported scales scores (e.g. PSSS-R, HS, and SSI) were not entered into the final multivariate analyses seeking independent predictors (even though they might have been significant in univariate analyses). The final Cox proportional hazards model was performed with age, gender, duration of MDE before entry, number of prior MDEs and somatic disorders, melancholic and psychotic subtypes of depression, personality and alcohol use disorders, mean BAI [anxiety symptoms] and HAM-D scores [severity of depression], and size of social network simultaneously as independent variables. After all non-significant findings were removed, severity of MDD (OR 1.04, 95% CI 1.01-1.07, P=.004), longer duration of MDE prior to entry (OR 1.36, 95% CI 1.02-1.81, P=.04) and personality disorder (OR 1.36, 95% CI 1.02-1.81, P=.04) predicted time with full MDE criteria most significantly, while time to full remission was most effectively predicted by severity of MDD (OR 1.03, 95% CI 1.00-1.07, P=.04) and anxiety symptoms (OR 1.01, 95% CI 1.00-1.04, P=.01) (II: Table 3).



Figure 3. Survival curve for the time with full MDE criteria in the VDS

Length of Time at Full MDE Criteria, mo

Figure 4. Survival curve to full remission of a MDE or to 18-months in the VDS



Months to full remission

7.2.3 Relapses and recurrences

Only 20 (10%) of the 198 patients who completed the 18-month interview had an immediate relapse. Those with previous MDEs (OR 5.15, 95% CI 1.14-23.24, P=.03) and those aged \geq 40 years (OR 3.19, 95% CI 1.01-10.11, P<.05) more often had relapses. The median length of relapse during the follow-up was 2.2 months.

During the 18-month follow-up, 76 (38%) of the 198 patients had a recurrence (return of symptoms sufficiently severe to satisfy criteria for an MDE after at least two consecutive months of partial or full remission). The median time to the first relapse or recurrence was 4.3 months (95% CI 2.93-5.67 calculated without time with full MDE criteria after baseline), and the median length of recurrence was 1.5 months. The median score on the BDI during relapses or recurrences was 19.0 (combined due to low numbers; only those with BDI scores available [N=56] included). The BDI scores during the relapses/recurrences were significantly lower than the respective patients' scores at baseline (t=5.502, df=55, P<.001).

In univariate LR analyses, several baseline factors predicted recurrence either significantly or as a trend (Table 5). However, severity of MDD (OR 1.06, 95% CI 1.00-1.11, P=.04) and a higher number of comorbid psychiatric disorders (OR 1.25, 95% CI 1.03-1.51, P=.02) were the two most significant predictors in the backward stepwise multivariate LR models, when age, gender, duration of MDE before entry, number of prior MDEs, somatic disorders, comorbid psychiatric disorders, melancholic and psychotic subtypes of depression, mean score on the HAM-D, size of social network, and the time at risk for recurrence were entered as predictors. Partial remission from the index episode was significantly associated with risk of recurrence during follow-up (OR 2.14, 95% CI 1.06-4.31, P=.03). However, when partial remission was added as a predictor in the multivariate models, it did not remain significant after adjusting for the other predictors, and was thus not included in the final multivariate models.

Predictors	Time with full MDE criteria ^a				to full remission	on ^a	Recurrences ^b			
(at entry)	OR	95% CI	Р	OR	95% CI	Р	OR	95% CI	Р	
Age, yrs	1.01	1.00-1.02	-	1.01	1.00-1.03	.073	1.00	0.98-1.03	-	
Gender (male)	0.97	0.71-1.33	-	0.83	0.56-1.24	-	0.92	0.47-1.78	-	
Outpatient status	0.90	0.62-1.29	-	1.05	0.65-1.70	-	0.78	0.34-1.76	-	
Age at onset, yrs	1.01	0.99-1.02	-	1.01	0.99-1.03	-	0.98	0.95-1.02	-	
Longer MDE prior to entry	1.30	0.98-1.72	.069	1.30	0.91-1.84	-	1.78	0.97-3.26	.061	
No. of previous episodes	1.02	0.97-1.08	-	1.03	0.96-1.10	-	1.12	0.98-1.28	.083	
17-item HAM-D score	1.03	1.01-1.06	.011	1.04	1.01-1.07	.013	1.07	1.01-1.03	.018	
21-item BDI score	1.03	1.01-1.05	.001	1.03	0.01-1.06	.006	1.05	1.01-1.09	.014	
Beck Anxiety Inventory score	1.02	1.00-1.03	.015	1.03	1.01-1.04	.004	1.02	0.99-1.05	-	
Beck Hopelessness Scale score	1.05	1.02-1.08	.003	1.05	1.01-1.09	.018	1.10	1.03-1.18	.006	
Scale for Suicidal Ideation score	1.01	1.00-1.03	-	1.03	1.01-1.06	.010	1.06	1.02-1.11	.004	
SOFAS score ^c	1.02	1.00-1.03	.019	1.02	0.97-1.00	.076	1.01	0.98-1.04	-	
Axis I comorbidity										
Dysthymia	0.89	0.56-1.42	-	1.52	0.79-2.91	-	1.89	0.70-5.09	-	
Anxiety disorders	0.81	0.62-1.07	-	0.87	0.62-1.23	-	1.59	0.87-2.90	-	
Alcohol use disorders	1.01	0.72-1.43	-	1.15	0.75-1.75	-	1.35	0.65-2.79	-	
Axis II comorbidity										
Personality disorders	1.46	1.10-1.93	.008	1.44	1.01-2.05	.043	1.84	1.00-3.38	.049	
Cluster A	1.47	1.01-2.15	.044	1.28	0.80-2.04	-	1.99	0.90-4.38	.089	
Cluster B	1.24	0.83-1.85	-	1.12	0.68-1.85	-	2.27	0.94-5.48	.069	
Cluster C	1.54	1.13-2.09	.006	1.79	1.20-2.68	.005	1.41	0.74-2.71	-	
No. of psychiatric disorders	1.04	0.97-1.13	-	1.06	0.96-1.18	-	1.27	1.06-1.53	.009	
Axis III comorbidity										
No. of current somatic diseases	1.11	0.98-1.26	-	1.18	0.99-1.40	.071	1.05	0.82-1.36	-	
No. of all axis I-III disorders	1.06	0.99-1.14	.071	1.09	1.00-1.18	.051	1.19	1.03-1.38	.020	
Psychotic MDD	1.00	0.59-1.69	-	0.71	0.39-1.33	-	0.68	0.20-2.36	-	
Psychosocial and personality factors										
Size of social network ^c	1.03	0.99-1.06	-	1.04	0.99-1.09	.093	0.98	0.90-1.07	-	
PSSS-R score ^e	1.02	1.01-1.03	<.001	1.02	1.00-1.03	.038	1.02	0.99-1.04	-	
Negative life events ^d	1.00	0.97-1.03	-	1.02	0.98-1.06	-	1.02	0.95-1.09	-	
Neuroticism ^e	1.05	1.01-1.08	.016	1.05	1.01-1.10	.022	1.11	1.02-1.21	.020	

Table 5. Univariate analyses of all possible predictors of time with full criteria, time to full remission, and recurrences in the VDS

^a Cox proportional hazards models; all analyses controlled for age and gender, risk reported for increasing time,

^b Logistic regression models; all analyses controlled for age, gender, and time at risk for recurrence

^c Scales reversed in order to improve comparability,

^d Interview for Recent Life Events; objectively measured negative impact of adverse life-events,

e Eysenck Personality Inventory; dimension of neuroticism

7.3 Stability and course of melancholic features (Study III)

7.3.1 Course of melancholic MDD

There were no statistically significant differences in the prospective course of depression between the subtypes (III: Table 4). In the Cox proportional hazards models adjusting for age and gender, time at full MDE criteria (OR 0.97, 95% CI 0.73-1.28, N.S.), time to partial remission (OR 0.94, 95% CI 0.70-1.25, N.S.), time to full remission (OR 1.07, 95% CI 0.75-1.52, N.S.), time to first relapse/recurrence (OR 0.89, 95% CI 0.56-1.40, N.S.), number of relapses (12.2% v. 8.9%, χ^2 =0.55, N.S.), or recurrences (36.5% v. 39.5%, χ^2 =0.18, N.S.) did not differ statistically significantly between melancholic and non-melancholic depressives. Neither there were any significant differences in duration of various symptom states (e.g. partial/full remission or MDE) analyzed by the Mann-Whitney test. However, the retrospective duration of MDE before entry into the cohort, with or without prodromal phase, was longer in non-melancholic than melancholic depression (OR 1.37, 95% CI 1.06-1.78, P=.02 and OR 1.31, 95% CI 1.02-1.67, P=.04, respectively).

7.3.2 Stability of melancholic features

Altogether, 32 (27%) of the 117 non-chronic non-melancholic patients and 23 (34%) of the 67 non-chronic melancholic patients who completed the 18-month interview were in a new episode during the follow-up interviews. The original subtype of MDD persisted in 29 out of 55 cases (53%), while in almost as many cases it changed (47%, 26/55): non-melancholic MDD shifted to melancholic in eight out of 32 (25%) cases, and melancholic to non-melancholic in 18 out of 23 (78%) cases (χ^2 =15.23, df=1, P<.001). Variation in severity of episodes during the follow-up did not explain the changes of subtype. At six months, 24% (13/55) of the depressed patients were melancholic, the proportion rising to 36% (16/45) at 18 months. There were no statistically significant differences in mean HAM-D scores between the patients with and without melancholic features either at six or 18 months (mean=17.7, S.D. 6.8 v. mean=19.9 S.D. 4.9, t=1.312, df=40, N.S.; and mean=18.2 S.D. 5.9 v. mean=18.7 S.D. 4.5, t=0.217, df=27, N.S., respectively). The median HAM-D score of the patients in a depressive episode at follow-up was 19.0 at both six and 18 months.

7.4 Antidepressant and psychosocial treatments in MDD (Study IV)

7.4.1 Antidepressants

7.4.1.1 Antidepressants received in the acute phase

At baseline most patients (88%, 174/198) received antidepressants, and for the majority (78%) the dosage level was adequate for the acute phase. More than half (57%, 112/198) of the study cohort patients received SSRIs alone at baseline, about one fifth (18%, 36/198) newer antidepressants (tetracyclics, NaSSA, SNRI, RIMA), only 8% (15/198) TCAs, and 6% (11/198) combination treatment, usually SSRI and TCA. While SSRIs and newer antidepressants were used inadequately in the acute phase in only about a tenth of cases (7% and 11%, respectively), TCAs were used inadequately in about half (47%) (χ^2 =20.08, df=2, P<.001). However, only a few, and none without remission, received augmentation of pharmacotherapy (e.g. lithium or buspirone). Only 3% received ECT (Table 6).

7.4.1.2 Continuity of treatment

In contrast to generally adequate treatment in the early acute phase, the continuity of antidepressant treatment provision was far less complete, particularly in the continuation and maintenance phases (Table 7, Figure 5). Although the median time on antidepressant treatment was 55 (95% CI 34.7-75.3) weeks (Figure 5), premature termination of treatment was common. In about half (49%, 86/174) of patients antidepressant treatment was terminated before completion of a continuation phase, or in the early maintenance phase for those with three lifetime episodes. One third of antidepressants were terminated in the acute phase (33%, 57/174), i.e. while still in MDE or partial remission. About a quarter (28%, 49/174) of patients completed a continuation phase lasting at least four months. Only about a fifth (19%, 13/67) of those with three lifetime episodes proceeded to a maintenance phase.

7.4.1.3 Predictors of premature termination

In stepwise backward LR analyses with premature termination of antidepressant treatment as a dependent variable, and factors significant in univariate analyses as independent variables, premature termination was significantly predicted by no earlier antidepressant treatment (OR 2.13, 95% CI 1.10-4.16, P=.026), and less severe depression (OR 1.58, 95% CI 1.00-1.13, P=.049). It also associated with negative treatment attitudes during the follow-up: 86% (18/21) of the patients with negative attitudes at six months, and 74% (20/27) at 18 months had premature termination of antidepressant treatment.

Table 6. Treatments received, and the highest level of remission achieved from the index episode of the VDS MDD patients followed for 18 months

Variables	Full remission (N=122)		Parti (N=6	Partial remission (N=61)		MDD (N=15)		Total (N=198)			
	Ν	(%)	Ν	(%)	N	(%)	Ν	(%)	χ^2/F	Р	
Antidepressant treatment											
Antidepressant at baseline Adequacy at first	101	(83)	58	(95)	15	(100)	174	(88)	8.01	.018	
antidepressant trial: "	96	(71)	52	(97)	15	(100)	154	(79)	11.70	010	
Inadequate	80 15	(71)	55	(87)	15	(100)	20	(78)	11.79	.019	
No antidepressant	21	(12)	3	(5)	-	(-)	20	(10)			
\geq 3 trials on antidepressants	13	(20)	13	(36)	10	(71)	38	(31)	14.70	.001	
Antidepressant combination											
treatment	17	(14)	12	(20)	5	(33)	34	(17)		-	
Buspirone augmentation	7	(6)	4	(7)	-	(-)	11	(6)		-	
Lithium augmentation	-	(-)	-	(-)	-	(-)	-	(-)		-	
Psychosocial treatments											
Psychotherapeutic support	119	(98)	60	(98)	15	(100)	194	(98)		-	
Psychotherapy	20	(16)	11	(18)	-	(-)	31	(16)		-	
All psychotherapeutic sessions, No, mean (SD) ^b	16.9	(15.7)	24.6	(26.6)	38.3	(17.6)	21.1	(20.7)	9.13	<.001	
Duration of psychotherapeutic treatment, months, mean (SD) ^c	9.4	(6.5)	11.5	(6.0)	17.5	(3.6)	10.7	(6.5)	11.93	<.001	
Visits to psychiatrist, mean (SD) ^d	2.9	(3.0)	5.3	(5.9)	8.6	(4.5)	4.1	(4.5)	29.69	<.001	
ECT	1	(1)	3	(5)	1	(7)	5	(3)		-	

^a Antidepressant/s at adequate dosage level for at least four weeks in acute phase,

^b Data missing for 4.0% of patients, N=190, ^c Data missing for 3.5% of patients; N=191; ^d Kruskal Wallis test



Figure 5. The probability of remaining on antidepressant treatment

7.4.1.4 Consequences of premature termination

Patients whose antidepressant treatment was terminated in MDE or partial remission achieved full remission more rarely 42% (24/57) vs. 66% (77/117) (χ^2 =8.85, df=1, P=.003), in a longer time (mean±SD 14.0±5.6 vs. 9.7±6.8 months, OR 2.17, 95% CI 1.37-3.44, P=.001), and spent less time without any depressive symptoms (median 2.1 vs. 6.5 months, Z=-2.96, P=.003). About a fifth (19%, 19/98) of those who discontinued treatment had a new antidepressant trial during the follow-up, and most of them for a recurrence (74%, 14/19 vs. 36%, 56/155, χ^2 =9.93, df=1, P=.002).

7.4.1.5. Self-reported reasons for terminating antidepressants

The most frequent self-reported reason for discontinuing the first antidepressant trial among those who dropped out of antidepressant use in the acute phase was "autonomous decision", which was the main reason for terminating treatment in 40% (21/52, missing N=5) of the patients. Other common self-reported reasons were side-effects in 25% (13/52), poor response in 21% (11/52), and subjective recovery in 12% (6/52).

Table 7. Continuity of antidepressant treatment in the index episode and lifetime number of MDEs among the VDS patients followed for 18 months

Variables	Single episode N=66		2 episodes N=65		≥ 3 episodes N=67		Total	I		
							N=198			
	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	χ^2	Р
No antidepressant (baseline)	16	(24)	2	(3)	6	(9)	24	(12)	14.73	.001
Antidepressant (baseline)	50	(76)	63	(97)	61	(91)	174	(88)		
Antidepressants ongoing										
for the index episode:	15	(23)	26	(40)	35	(52)	76	(38)	8.60	.014
In acute phase	8	(12)	14	(22)	21	(31)	40	(20)		-
In continuation phase	1	(2)	1	(2)	1	(2)	5	(3)		-
In maintenance phase	6	(9)	11	(17)	13	(19)	31	(16)		-
Antidepressants discontinued:	35	(53)	37	(57)	26	(39)	98	(49)	8.60	.014
In MDE	4	(6)	6	(9)	5	(7)	15	(8)		-
In partial remission	17	(26)	17	(26)	8	(12)	42	(21)		-
In continuation phase	7	(11)	9	(14)	7	(10)	23	(12)		-
In maintenance phase	7	(11)	5	(8)	6	(9)	18	(9)		-
Antidepressant discontinued										
and restarted	6	(9)	6	(9)	7	(10)	19	(10)		-

7.4.1.6 Self-reported antidepressant adherence

The majority of patients (77%, 109/142) reported taking antidepressants regularly when treatment was ongoing, about a tenth (11%, 16/142) somewhat irregularly, and a similar proportion (12%, 17/142) very irregularly or never. Of 142 patients interviewed, 29 (20%) reported non-adherence at both follow-ups. In stepwise backward LR models adjusting for age, gender, and severity of MDD, having no avoidant personality (OR 4.83, 95% CI 1.33-17.48, P=.017), or no anxiety disorder (OR 2.40, 95% CI 1.01-5.71, P=.047) persisted significant predictors for continued non-adherence. Two-thirds (60%, 74/124) of patients with no ongoing psychiatric treatment, and almost all (92%, 68/74) of those who had remained in treatment answered questions about adherence at 18 months.

7.4.2 Psychosocial treatments

7.4.2.1 Treatments received in the acute phase

Nearly all patients (98%) received psychotherapeutic support in the early acute phase, but only a few, and none without remission, had weekly psychotherapy (16%) (Table 6).

7.4.2.2 Continuity of psychosocial treatments

Not unexpectedly, patients with poorer outcome received psychosocial treatment for longer (Table 6). However, only two thirds (58%, 44/76) of the patients without full remission remained in psychiatric care, and a third of them (32%, 24/76) were without any follow-up treatment at 18 months. Most patients were already receiving psychosocial support at baseline, but weekly psychotherapy began about three months later (mean \pm SD 2.9 \pm 4.0 months), and lasted for about one year (mean \pm SD 11.0 \pm 6.0 months).

In stepwise backward LR analyses with receiving weekly psychotherapy as a dependent variable, the most significant predictors for having psychotherapy were fewer DSM-IV current comorbid psychiatric disorders (OR 1.37, 95% CI 1.02-1.82, P=.034), larger social network (OR 1.12, 95% CI 1.00-1.25, P=.046), and more severe suicidality (OR 1.08, 95% CI 1.02-1.14, P=.004). Moreover, patients with personality disorder had psychotherapy more infrequently than those without personality disorder (9%, 8/85 vs. 20%, 23/113, χ^2 =4.40, df=1, P=.036). This result remained significant (OR=2.88, 95% CI 1.11-7.44, P=.029) when entered simultaneously with age, gender, and other significant factors like size of social network, neuroticism, and more severe suicidality into stepwise backward LR models.

7.4.2.3 Self-reported psychosocial treatment adherence

Nearly all patients (92%, 68/74) still in psychiatric care, and about two thirds (56%, 69/124) of those without ongoing treatment, answered questions about adherence at 18 months. Nearly all who had received weekly psychotherapy (96%, 27/28) reported attending sessions regularly. Most patients (75%, 82/109) with psychotherapeutic support also reported attending sessions regularly, about a fifth (17%) somewhat irregularly, and 7% very irregularly or never.

7.4.3 Attitudes towards treatments

At baseline, the majority (85%, 223/262), and two-thirds (61%, 164/268) of patients, respectively, had positive attitudes towards psychosocial and antidepressant treatments. Among study cohort patients, attitudes towards psychosocial treatments remained positive, and in most (82%, 56/68) cases negative attitudes towards antidepressants became positive during the follow-up. The factors explaining negative attitudes towards antidepressants at baseline were younger age (OR 1.03, 95% CI 1.00-1.05, P=.031), lower score on BAI (OR 1.04, 95 % CI 1.01-1.07, P=.019) and HAM-D (OR 1.08, 95% CI 1.03-1.14, P=.003), longer duration of MDE (OR 1.05, 95 % CI 1.00-1.10, P=.050), and having no current alcohol use disorder (OR 2.00, 95% CI 1.00-3.99, P=.050), while the factors explaining negative attitudes about psychosocial treatment were male gender (OR 4.25, 95% CI 1.84-9.80, P=.001) and dysthymia (OR 3.22, 95% CI 1.22-8.48, P=.018) (IV: Table 3).

Among those with reservations/negative attitudes about antidepressants the most frequently reported reasons for these attitudes were fears of dependence and side-effects, which were reported by nearly half of the patients (43% and 41%, respectively) at baseline. No belief in getting any help from the treatment (43%), and unwillingness to confide in a stranger (33%) were the most frequently reported reasons for negative attitudes towards psychotherapeutic treatments. Patients with negative attitudes about antidepressants at entry tended to terminate them in the acute phase more often (43%, 22/51 vs. 29%, 34/119, df=1, χ^2 =3.43, P=.064). Those with negative attitudes to antidepressants or psychosocial treatments at 18 months also reported non-adherence to them more often (79%, 19/24 vs. 20%, 26/130, χ^2 =34.29, df=1, P<.001, and 75%, 6/8 vs. 24%, 33/140, χ^2 =10.31, df=1, P=.001, respectively).

8. DISCUSSION

8.1 Main findings

A typical psychiatric patient with MDD in psychiatric care suffered from many comorbid disorders; over half had current comorbid anxiety disorders (57%), nearly half personality disorders (44%), and a quarter alcohol use disorders (25%). Only one fifth (21%) had pure depression without any comorbid disorder.

Achieving full remission took about eight months, so despite the use of new antidepressants the outcome of MDD appears not to be improved in psychiatric care. Although patients typically responded early to the treatment (most in 4-8 weeks), the major problem was the long period with only partial remission. In addition, about 40% of the patients had a recurrence of MDD during the 18 months of follow-up. Numerous factors predicted the duration of MDE to some extent, but more severe depression and presence of current comorbidity were the two most robust predictors. More severe depression was also a significant predictor of recurrence. There were no major differences in current comorbidity or course of depression between melancholic and non-melancholic patients. Moreover, the consistency of DSM-IV melancholic features across episodes appeared weak.

Most depressive patients in psychiatric care received adequate antidepressant (88%) and psychotherapeutic treatments (98%) in the early acute phase, and had favourable attitudes towards them. Nevertheless, over time antidepressants were terminated too early in about half of the patients, often following their autonomous decision. About a third of the patients not achieving full remission were without any psychosocial treatment by the end of follow-up. Negative treatment attitudes were more common towards antidepressants than psychosocial treatments, and tended to predict premature termination. The main challenge in psychiatric care appears to be continuity of treatments.

8.2 Methods

8.2.1 Representativeness of the cohort sample

Clinical studies conducted on representative unselected samples of commonly met, highly comorbid, depressive patients are extremely sparse. However, the familiar tendency for patients to have undergone many prior treatments in studies conducted in tertiary-level treatment centres may produce bias towards more chronic, severe and recurrent illnesses compared with more unselected cohorts of MDD patients (Spijker et al., 2002; Furukawa et al., 2000; Roy-Byrne et al., 2000). Moreover, the most influential outcome studies were undertaken during the past era of tricyclic antidepressants and before the recommendation of continuation and maintenance treatments. In addition, only a few recent psychiatric care studies have reported how treatments, especially after the immediate acute phase, are carried out, and which factors predict treatment inadequacy, premature termination and non-adherence among depressive patients (Ramana et al., 1999; Sirey et al., 1999; Simon et al., 2001; Cuffel et al., 2003; Kennedy et al., 2003).

The present naturalistic study (I-IV) involved a relatively large (N=269) cohort of both outpatients and inpatients with MDD, effectively representing psychiatric patients with a new episode of MDD in the city of Vantaa; and it took place during the era of modern antidepressants in 1997-1999 in a community psychiatric setting. On the basis of an epidemiological survey, two thirds of all depressed subjects in the general population of Vantaa seeking treatment from psychiatrists are treated in the PMCD (Rytsälä et al., 2001).

8.2.2 Study refusals and drop outs

The rate of drop-outs from the main follow-ups was quite low, as 87% of the cases could be interviewed at least once after baseline. The patients whose diagnosis switched to bipolar I or II disorder during the 18-month follow-up (5%) were excluded from the analyses. As the factors associating with dropping out included both positive (younger age) and negative (living alone, neuroticism, dysthymia) outcome predictors, the small percentage of drop-outs is unlikely to have biased findings. In some analyses, however, only those who completed the whole 18-month follow-up could be included. In these cases, the rate of drop-outs was 23% (N=58; including eight patients who died during the follow-up), which is likely to have somewhat biased findings towards better adherence to treatments (Study IV).

8.2.3 Diagnostic measures

The patients were diagnosed using semi-structured interviews with excellent reliability (kappa=0.86) for the diagnosis of MDD. However, the reliability of comorbid disorder and melancholic MDD diagnoses is unknown, and the distinction between melancholic and non-melancholic depression was based solely on the SCAN-interview and DSM-IV criteria. Moreover, diagnoses of axis III disorders were based on self-report, although only diseases diagnosed by a physician were included.

Axis II diagnosis were assessed using the semi-structured SCID-II interview for DSM-III-R, as the SCID II for DSM-IV was not yet available in February 1997. Differences between DSM-III-R and DSM-IV were taken into account by excluding masochistic PD. Passive-aggressive PD was included because it belongs to the personality disorder NOS in DSM-IV. Patients were also interviewed with the SCID-II during their depression, which may (Stuart et al., 1992; Peselow et al., 1994; Ferro et al., 1998), or may not (Loranger et al., 1991) have inflated the prevalence of personality disorders. This, as well as the inclusion of patients with current alcohol use disorders, was done deliberately in order to investigate the persistence and effects of these disorders in the follow-up. Patients with eating disorders and those who have experienced acute psychological traumas are probably underrepresented in the VDS. Only 4% of the patients admitted to occasional misuse of sedatives, or use of illicit drugs.

8.2.4 Life-chart and definitions for outcome

Many approaches to the longitudinal measurement of psychopathology have been developed. Probably one of the most influential measurements is the Longitudinal Interval Follow-up Evaluation (LIFE) methodology, first used to investigate the outcome of depression in the NIMH-CDS (Keller et al., 1987). The LIFE is a semi-structured interview and rating system for assessing the longitudinal course of psychiatric disorders in sufficient detail to provide the basis for calculating length of episodes and time to remission (Keller et al., 1987). In the VDS the outcome of MDD was investigated by using a graphic life chart, which is similar, but not identical, to the LIFE. As is done with the LIFE, change points in the psychopathologic state were inquired about using probes related to important events. Moreover, all patient records and monthly BDI-ratings (for the first 6 months) were available. Unlike the LIFE, patients' follow-up time was classified into periods of DSM-IV MDE, or partial (1-4 criteria symptoms) or full (no symptoms) remission. The major advantage of this classification is that it counts episodes and defines recurrences precisely, as does any clinician when using the DSM-IV.

However, comparison of the findings with studies using the LIFE can be undertaken only with some caution. For example, it appears that criteria for full remission in the VDS were more stringent than those used for recovery in the CDS (Psychiatric Status Ratings,

1-2; no symptoms or 1 to 2 symptoms to a mild degree). The mean \pm SD HAM-D scores at the 18-month interview were 2.7 \pm 2.8 for those with full remission, 8.3 \pm 4.3 for those with partial remission, and 18.5 \pm 4.8 for those with an MDE. In practice, if those with only one or two symptoms were also included in the full remission grouping, 76% of patients would have a recovery (instead of 63%); this percentage is comparable with the number of patients fully recovered in the CDS within two years (81%) (Keller et al., 1992).

Unfortunately, there is currently no universally accepted definition of remission (Keller, 2003), despite significant efforts (Frank et al., 1991). Nevertheless, in most longitudinal studies, recurrence/relapse follows a period of remission, which is relatively consistently defined as the presence of only one or two minimal symptoms of major depression to a mild degree, or complete absence of symptoms for at least two months (Keller, 2003). So, having used the same criteria for duration for remission, it is likely that the findings from the VDS are comparable to other studies.

8.3 Current comorbidity of psychiatric disorders in MDD (Study I)

When presenting for treatment for a new depressive episode, a typical psychiatric patient with MDD suffered from one to three comorbid axis I or II disorders; only one fifth had pure depression without any comorbid disorder. As expected, comorbid disorders also varied markedly by a number of relevant background factors, such as gender, in- vs. outpatient status, type of residential area, and somewhat by lifetime number of depressive episodes.

Current comorbidity in MDD was extremely common; anxiety disorders were prevalent in 57%, alcohol use disorders in 25%, and personality disorders in 44%, which is more in line than expected with earlier, mostly tertiary level studies (Van Valkenburg et al., 1984; Kocsis et al., 1986; Alnaes & Torgersen, 1988; Coryell et al., 1988; Sanderson et al., 1990; Stuart et al., 1992; Flick et al., 1993; Grunhaus et al., 1994; Golomb et al., 1995b; Pepper et al., 1995; Sato et al., 1996; Alpert et al., 1997; Pini et al., 1997; Schatzberg et al., 1998; Fava et al., 2000; Zimmerman et al., 2000; McDermut et al., 2001). However, when considering the representativeness of the VDS cohort, and the fact that all comorbid patients with MDD were deliberately included, this finding is less surprising.

Current comorbidty in MDD was also highly concentrated; anxiety and personality disorders were commonly complicated by current alcohol abuse or dependence, particularly among subjects with cluster B PD. Moreover, social phobia, specific phobia and agoraphobia without panic disorder in cluster C PDs, and panic disorder in cluster B PDs, were frequently found. These findings accord with the studies reporting high prevalence of comorbid anxiety disorders in borderline PD (Zanari et al., 1998; Zimmerman & Mattia, 1999), cluster B or C PDs (Oldham et al., 1995), different axis I disorders (Alnaes & Torgersen, 1988; McGlashan et al., 2000), or in MDD (Alpert et al., 1997).

Comorbidity varied by gender, in-vs. outpatient status, type of residential area, and somewhat by lifetime number of depressive episodes. Not surprisingly, males had twice the prevalence of current alcohol use disorders as females (39% vs. 19%), which is consistent with a study (Fava et al., 1996a) reporting more lifetime alcohol use disorders among males. One crucial neglected area of research has been the difference in clinical features between in- and outpatients. Inpatients not only had more severe and more common melancholic or psychotic depression than outpatients, but also a higher prevalence of alcohol use disorders (39% vs. 22%), cluster B personality disorders (26% vs. 12%), and panic disorder with agoraphobia (17% vs. 5%). It was also found that the more recurrent the depression, the lower the prevalence of pure MDD. This accords with earlier prospective outcome studies reporting a negative impact of multiple disorders on MDD outcome (Keller et al., 1984; Sargeant et al., 1990; Coryell et al., 1992; Mueller et al., 1994; Paykel et al., 1995; Alnaes & Torgersen, 1997).

The catchment area in the VDS was divided into East and West-Vantaa, based on the established service areas in Vantaa healthcare. East-Vantaa includes some socioeconomically disadvantaged areas, and overall has about 10% lower average per-capita income, 25% higher unemployment, 20% fewer university graduates, and 40% more persons from ethnical minorities than West-Vantaa. On the basis of clinical experience within the community health care system, higher rates of alcohol use and personality disorders among MDD patients living in the more socioeconomically disadvantaged areas of East Vantaa were expected. Markedly higher PD prevalences and a somewhat less striking trend of heavy drinking in the East were indeed found. This suggests that current comorbidity of MDD may vary even by the type of residential area.

8.4 Outcome of MDD (Study II)

The duration of the index episode in our representative secondary-level cohort, comprising predominantly (85%) outpatients, was no shorter than in previous studies despite more extensive (88%) and more adequate use of the new antidepressants in the acute phase. This finding contrasts with results from a Japanese sample (Furukawa et al., 2000), but accords with a more recent tertiary-level long-term outcome study (Kennedy et al., 2003). Surprisingly, no differences between outpatients and inpatients regarding length of the MDE or rates of recurrence were found.

The rates of remission from the index episode in the VDS were comparable with those reported in older studies. Within three months, 22% of our cohort reached full remission, versus 41% (Keller et al., 1992), 30% (Myers et al., 2002) and 33% (Ramana et al., 1995) in other studies. The same percentages for full remission within six months were 42% in the VDS versus 54% (Keller et al., 1992), 50% (Ramana et al., 1995) and 43% (Kennedy et al., 2003) in other studies. However, only two-thirds (63%) of the patients reached strictly defined full remission within 18 months, taking a relatively long median time of

eight months. Although patients typically responded early to treatment, the major problem was the long period with only partial remission, which is partly explained by the strict definition of full remission used. Also, unlike other studies (Ramana et al., 1995; Myers et al., 2002), all comorbid patients with MDD were deliberately included in the VDS. When all the subjects with a concurrent major psychiatric or physical illness (Ramana et al., 1995; Myers et al., 2002) were excluded from the data, the median time to full remission somewhat decreased (from 8.1 to 7.2 months). Thus, a representative psychiatric cohort of MDD patients who typically have multiple current comorbid disorders may also include subjects with many known risk factors for poor outcome of MDD.

More severe depression, and longer duration of MDE before entry were found to predict longer episode, in line with earlier prospective studies (Keller et al., 1982; 1984; 1992; Sargeant et al., 1990; Wells et al., 1992; Ramana et al., 1995; Mueller et al., 1999; Parker et al., 2000b; Myers et al., 2002). However, it was somewhat unexpected to find that severe MDD was such a robust predictor among all other theoretically relevant risk factors. The finding that anxiety symptoms and personality disorders associated with longer duration of depression accords with earlier studies investigating the effects of either comorbid anxiety (Coryell et al., 1988; 1992; Clayton et al., 1991) or personality disorders (Sato et al., 1993; Greenberg et al., 1995; Ilardi et al., 1997; Viinamäki et al., 2002; 2003) on the outcome of MDD.

Social support, as objectively measured by the size of the social network at entry and by the negative impact of preceding adverse life-events, had little or no effect on time to remission, which accords with some earlier studies (Andrew et al., 1993; Paykel et al., 1996). In contrast, social support as subjectively perceived was strongly related to the duration of depression. Subjectively perceived social support and neuroticism, however, were strongly correlated with the level of depressive symptoms or presence of comorbid personality disorders and were therefore not included in the final multivariate models. No association between adequacy of pharmacotherapy in the early acute phase and episode duration was found, probably due to homogeneity in the amount and adequacy of the treatment received, and possibly because of the known tendency for sicker patients to receive more treatment in a naturalistic study (Sturm, 1999).

The recurrent nature of depression is one of its fundamental features, and has major treatment implications. During the follow-up, about 40% of patients suffered a recurrence, which is consistent with the rates reported in speciality settings (Keller et al., 1983; Ramana et al., 1995; Keller & Boland, 1998; Mueller et al., 1999; Kennedy et al., 2003). However, it seems that although the rate of recurrence in the VDS was similar to older studies, the episodes during the follow-up were milder and shorter (Solomon et al., 1997). In this respect, findings from the VDS support those from a Japanese sample (Furukawa et al., 2000) in which the index episode duration was calculated to be 25% - 50% shorter than in older literature. The findings that number of prior MDEs, older age, longer duration of MDE before entry, personality disorders or neuroticism, hopelessness,

and achieving only partial remission from the index episode are associated with the risk of relapse/recurrence are convergent with previous studies (Keller et al., 1982; 1983; Coryell et al., 1991; Maj et al., 1992; Surtees & Barkley, 1994; Ramana et al., 1995; Alnaes & Torgersen, 1997; Ilardi et al., 1997; Keller & Boland, 1998; Lin et al., 1998; Mueller et al., 1999). Partial remission as a predictor in the multivariate models did not remain significant, which supports the interpretation of partial remission as an intermediate symptom state that is effectively predicted by more important predictors of outcome. The rate of recurrence ranged from 27% among those with a mild index episode to 58% among those with a severe one, and from 31% among those with no comorbid disorder to 54% among those with three or more current comorbid psychiatric disorders. Thus, severe depression and high number of comorbid disorders appear to be the major factors influencing the medium-term risk of recurrence.

Severity of MDE was found to be strongly associated with the risk of recurrence in medium-term follow-up. In previous studies severity of depression has either predicted recurrences (Ramana et al., 1995) or not (Keller et al., 1983; Sherrington et al., 2001). In studies (Keller et al., 1983; Sherrington et al., 2001) that found no association between severity and recurrences, most subjects were inpatients with severe and recurrent melancholic depression. However, severity of depression also predicted recurrence in the study by Ramana et al. (1995), in which the clinical severity of MDD varied from mild to severe, and the proportion of patients with melancholic features - as in our study (36%) - was somewhat lower (63%). So, it appears that at least in cohorts of less melancholic MDD outpatients with less severe depression in medium-term follow-up, the severity of depression might be a more useful predictor of recurrence than the number of prior MDEs.

8.5 Stability and course of melancholic features (Study III)

The hypothesis that the prevalence of current comorbidity of axis II disorders and neuroticism would be higher among the non-melancholic patients was tested, and found not to be the case. The finding of no significant differences in rates of axis II disorders or neuroticism between melancholic and non-melancholic patients is consistent with some earlier studies (Zimmerman et al., 1986 [RDC criteria]; Shea et al., 1987; Tedlow et al., 2002), including a recent entirely outpatient study (Tedlow et al., 2002) with about the same prevalence of melancholic patients (39%) as in the VDS (36%). However, it is discordant with most of the studies on inpatients (Charney et al., 1981; Davidson et al. 1985; Zimmerman et al., 1986 [DSM-III-R criteria]; Parker et al., 1998), or non-clinical populations (Kendler et al., 1997). Nevertheless, some methodological disparities between studies need to be considered. Patients were interviewed with the SCID-II during their depression, and, unlike many other studies, alcohol use disorders and serious suicide risk were not exclusions in the VDS, which probably led to the higher prevalences of personality disorders. Because melancholic patients had a clinically more severe index episode than non-melancholic patients, the effect of severity was controlled for in the

multivariate models. However, the finding that DSM-IV melancholia was not associated with lower rates of personality disorders, or any personality disorder cluster, replicated the result of Tedlow and colleagues (2002), who also used semi/structured interviews for both MDD and comorbid personality disorders, and controlled for the effects of additional comorbid disorders and age. It is also noteworthy that psychotic features in the VDS population only moderately clustered in the melancholic depression group, thus not strongly supporting the hierarchical model of Parker (2000).

Also tested was the hypothesis that episode subtype would be consistent for the subsequent episodes, and again this was not the case. The results indicate a low level of subtype stability for subsequent episodes, which in fact is highly consistent with most earlier studies (Kendell, 1974; Paykel et al., 1976; Young et al., 1987), including a very recent one reporting not only instability of subtypes but also instability of symptoms in MDD (Oquendo et al., 2004). Instability of subtypes did not reflect differences in the severity of episodes during follow-up, although after the index episode the recurrent episodes were milder and shorter in this study, probably due to the treatment received. Despite the lack of difference in symptom severity between melancholic and nonmelancholic episodes during the follow-up phase, the theoretical possibility that the treatment received benefited melancholic more than non-melancholic episodes, perhaps resulting in relatively fewer melancholic recurrences and therefore lower consistency across episodes, cannot be excluded. In order to explore the possibility that presence of psychomotor symptoms might better differentiate between the postulated subtypes, the data were reanalyzed by dichotomizing the patients according to presence or absence of psychomotor symptoms. Consistent with the presented findings, no significant subgroup differences emerged. Nevertheless, these findings have to be treated with caution due to the limited number of new episodes, the only medium-term follow-up, and the fact that the CORE measure (Parker et al., 1994; Parker & Hadzi-Pavlovic, 1996) for psychomotor symptoms was not used. Moreover, the possibility cannot be excluded that using a more sophisticated measure of psychomotor symptoms such as CORE (Parker et al., 1994; Parker & Hadzi-Pavlovic, 1996) would have produced different findings.

When comparing the course of depression in melancholic and non-melancholic MDD, no differences in prospective course between the subtypes were found. The duration of index episode, time to first subsequent MDE, number of recurrences/relapses, and duration of different symptom states did not significantly distinguish melancholic and non-melancholic depression. This finding is consistent with most earlier inpatient studies reporting no differences in outcome between melancholic and non-melancholic depression (Keller et al., 1984; 1986; Kiloh et al., 1988; Parker et al., 1992; Paykel et al., 1995; Brodaty et al., 2001; Kennedy et al., 2003), but not all (Lee & Murray, 1988; Duggan et al., 1991). The retrospective finding that melancholic patients had MDE of shorter duration prior to baseline seems to be explained by the factors associating with treatment facilities.

Melancholic patients with more severe depressive symptoms and lower functional capacity appear to be more easily recognized by primary care and occupational health services than non-melancholic patients, and thus more promptly referred to secondary level psychiatric care.

8.6 Antidepressant and psychosocial treatment in MDD (Study IV)

In contrast to the generally adequate treatment in the early acute phase, continuity of antidepressant treatment was far less complete in the later acute, continuation and maintenance phases. About half (49%) of the patients terminated antidepressant treatment prematurely, and only about a quarter (28%) completed a continuation phase of at least four months. Patients with less severe depression and those without previous antidepressant treatment were more likely to terminate medication prematurely. Those who did so while still in the acute phase achieved full remission significantly less often (42% vs. 66%), and in a longer time than other patients.

Premature termination of antidepressants was predicted by negative attitudes at entry. Underlying these attitudes most frequently were fears of dependence (43%) or side-effects (41%). Many depressive patients also reported having taken an active, autonomous role in the decision to terminate antidepressants. "Patient's autonomous decision" was a more common reason than all perceived side-effects of antidepressants, poor response or subjectively perceived recovery. These results accord with findings in the population of the UK Defeat Depression campaign (Paykel et al., 1998) as well as with other recent studies, which reported factors such as stigma, health-beliefs, and negative attitudes to be important risk factors for non-adherence (Melfi et al., 1998; Demyttenaere & Haddad, 2000; Demyttenaere et al., 2001; 2003; Sirey et al., 2001; Keller et al., 2002; Lingam & Scott, 2002; Lin et al., 2003).

Continuity of psychotherapeutic treatments was associated with more severe and more prolonged depressive symptoms. Noteworthy, however, was the finding that about a third (32%) of the patients not achieving full remission during the follow-up were without any psychosocial treatment at 18 months. Less than a fifth (16%) of the patients received weekly psychotherapy during the follow-up, which was somewhat surprising because about third (34%) of the attending professionals in the PMCD were qualified and certified therapists in specific psychotherapy, and the mean number of sessions was high enough for brief psychotherapy. The patients who received psychotherapy were either those able to form a good treatment alliance, and thus probably more able to benefit from therapy, or suicidal patients who needed more intensive treatment in the acute phase and also received it more promptly. Despite recommendations in practice guidelines (Schulberg et al., 1998; Anderson et al., 2000; APA, 2000; Bauer et al., 2002; Suomen Psykiatriyhdistys, 2004) for more intensive treatment, patients with personality disorders were the least likely to receive weekly psychotherapy.

Negative treatment attitudes at baseline were more common towards antidepressants than psychotherapeutic treatments, but in most (82%) cases these attitudes became positive during the treatment. The fact that MDD patients with negative attitudes were not those with comorbid personality or alcohol use disorder did not support the primary hypothesis. On the contrary, patients with alcohol use disorders had more positive attitudes towards antidepressants. Men and MDD patients with dysthymia (double depression) needed more encouragement before accepting psychotherapeutic treatments. The main reasons given for negative attitudes about psychosocial treatments were unwillingness to confide in a stranger, and patients believing they would not be helped by the treatment. Younger age, less severe and longer-lasting depression, and milder anxiety symptoms also associated with negative treatment attitudes.

Non-adherence is rarely an "on-off" phenomenon. Treatments may occur more or less irregularly, and it may be unclear whether this significantly affects achieving treatment goals or not. In contrast to the hypotheses, those with continued self-reported non-adherence to antidepressants were more often those without comorbidity, expecially if they were without anxiety and avoidant personality disorders. So it seems that presence of perceived distress is also a major factor that motivates continuation with treatment.

9. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE IMPLICATIONS

9.1. Conclusions

The recognition of comorbidity has important clinical significance in psychiatric care. Comorbidity of MDD is not only highly prevalent, but often also multiple and concentrated. It appears to predict a longer duration of MDE, and is associated with greater risk of recurrence.

The outcome of MDD appears not to be improved in psychiatric care. Achieving full remission takes a relatively long time, and although patients typically respond early to treatment, the major problem is the long period with only partial remission. Moreover, the rate of recurrence seems to be high. Severity of MDE and comorbidity are the two most significant predictors for the duration of MDE and risk of recurrence.

The descriptive validity of the DSM-IV melancholic features specifier may be questionable in MDD. There appear to be no major differences in current comorbidity or course of depression between melancholic and non-melancholic patients. Also, the consistency of DSM-IV melancholic features across episodes appears weak.

Problems of psychiatric care in MDD are mostly related to continuity of treatment. Many depressive patients take an active, autonomous role in the decision to terminate antidepressants. Premature termination not only associates with patients' negative attitudes, and fears of addiction and side-effects, but also appears to reflect their willingness or demands to cope without medicine. Negative treatment attitudes seem to be more common towards antidepressants than psychotherapeutic treatments, but these attitudes tend to become positive during the treatment. Less than a fifth of MDD patients receive weekly psychotherapy in psychiatric care. This is somewhat surprising, because quite a large proportion of professionals are qualified and certified therapists in specific psychotherapy, and the number of sessions is high enough for brief, focused psychotherapy. Patients with personality disorders appear to be very unlikely to receive weekly psychotherapy.

9.2 Clinical implications

It is likely that greater diagnostic precision, and better recognition of comorbid disorders will improve depression outcome. More complete and accurate diagnostic practice may serve as a better predictor of course and outcome, and may impact on patients' satisfaction with treatment, their alliance with treating professionals, selection of medication, and recommendation for psychotherapy. Comprehensive diagnostic evaluation also provides essential information to patients. It is always important to consider the effect of comorbidity on the outcome when interpreting findings from naturalistic outcome studies, as well as in planning and operating treatment facilities for psychiatric patients with MDD.

Severity of depression should influence clinical decision-making regarding the need for maintenance therapy, particularly among patients who are having their first or second MDE, when maintenance therapy is not usually recommended. Use of observer / self-report scales measuring severity of depression are recommended for routine clinical practice.

Providing psychoeducation to all depressive patients (and their families) seems essential. Psychoeducation should include information on antidepressants - not only their side-effects but also their non-addictiveness, and mechanisms of action. This might prove an effective way to improve continuity of treatments and outcome of depression. Moreover, it is important to motivate patients at least to try antidepressants, and to regularly ask about their treatment attitudes in order to recognize those at risk of non-adherence. Depression also seems to be pleomorphic in its manifestations across episodes. Considering treatment, instability of the MDD subtype across subsequent episodes suggests that the medication used in previous episodes is not necessarily always optimal in a recurrence.

From secondary and tertiary preventive perspectives, improving the continuity of treatment appears a crucial task for improving the outcome of psychiatric patients with MDD. Providing specific psychotherapies more often in psychiatric care, especially for MDD patients with personality disorders, could also enchance the quality of care.

Both professionals and patients face difficulties in complying with treatment guidelines, and the treatment eventually provided is the result of their interaction and compromises. Despite the unquestionably important role of practice guidelines in psychiatric care, clinicians should also keep in mind that evidence-based information on treatments in common, highly comorbid MDD patients is still lacking. While awaiting further studies to provide this information, the challenges in psychiatric care include providing better and more comprehensive diagnostic evaluations, and more structured and focused treatments. More comprehensive psychoeducation would enhance respect for the autonomous role of the patient as well as the treatment alliance.
9.3 Implications for future research

More research on depression as a heterogeneous, comorbid disorder is needed. Studies on comorbid MDD using both the dimensional and categorical models, and investigating factors from several potentially relevant domains including genetic, biological, developmental and environmental risk factors, should be carried out. Such studies would help us to better understand the nature of the mechanisms underlying comorbidity, and to discover the potential neurobiological and structural variations in MDD according to patterns of comorbidity. Further prospective longitudinal studies are needed to search for any logical pattern in the symptom progression, subtypes or comorbidity of MDD, over long time periods. Ideally, child, adolesenct and adult psychiatry will collaborate in future longitudinal research to the benefit of all.

Randomised controlled trials on both drug and psychosocial treatments should be carried out among ordinary, highly comorbid depressive patients, including beyond the acute phase. Ordinary psychosocial and drug treatments for MDD in various health care settings should be investigated and compared. Information is needed to help to develop better and more effective treatments and treatment facilities, as well as to improve co-operation between various treatment settings. More research is also urgently needed on specific psychotherapies.

More research needs to be conducted on the contributors to nonadherence and discontinuity of treatments, in order to better identify patients at particular risk. Future research should also include intervention studies and investigations of perceived interaction between patients and treating professionals, in order to clarify these dimensions of adherence.

Finally, studies are needed to determine whether semistructured diagnostic evaluations improve the outcome of depression.

10. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was carried out at the Department of Mental Health and Alcohol Research of the National Public Health Institute, Helsinki, and at the Department of Psychiatry at Peijas Hospital, Vantaa. I wish to thank both the former and the present Director General of the National Public Health Institute, Professor Jussi Huttunen, M.D., Ph.D., and Professor Pekka Puska, M.D., Ph.D for the facilities provided to me by the Institute. I also express my gratitude to the head of the Psychiatric Department of Peijas Hospital, Juhani Solantaus, M.D., for the opportunity to commence my research work at the Department. As an academic dissertation, this work took place in the Department of Psychiatry at the University of Helsinki, for which opportunity I am most grateful.

I wish to express my most sincere gratitude to Professor Jouko Lönnqvist, M.D., Ph.D., for the privilege of working at the Department of Mental Health and Alcohol Research and experiencing its scientific atmosphere. I am also very grateful for the possibility of doing some of my research work at home.

I owe the most profound gratitude to my supervisor, Professor Erkki Isometsä, M.D., Ph.D., Head of Mood Disorders Research at the Department of Mental Health and Alcohol Research of the National Public Health Institute, for his unfailing encouragement and constructive guidance. He always made time for meetings and tutoring, and patiently offered both practical and theoretical advice on any questions that arose during these years. His contribution to the accomplishment of this dissertation has been essential.

I want also to warmly thank my fellow-researchers and co-authors, Ulla Leskelä, M.A., Paula Lestelä-Mielonen, M.A., Heikki Rytsälä M.D., and Petteri Sokero, M.D., for their collaboration and scientific contributions to the various manuscripts. I am specially grateful to you all for your efforts and support in the busy first year of the study project when the interviews began and my first priority was my family and our first child, Siiri. Thanks for giving me the time for that! I am grateful to Heikki Rytsälä for his invaluable computer expertise, and to Petteri Sokero for sharing the many ups and downs inevitably involved in the clinical and research work over these years. I also want to warmly thank Eevaliisa Orelma for her superb efforts. With great patience and persistence she did everything possible to get all the patients to the follow-up interviews, as well as helping to eliminate many of the practical obstacles that occurred at various stages of the study.

Sincere thanks to Marjut Schreck for her helpful competence in practical matters, and for editing the thesis.

I would also like to thank the reviewers of this thesis, acting Professor, Docent Jukka Hintikka, M.D., Ph.D., and Docent Jyrki Korkeila, M.D., Ph.D. Their highly constructive criticism significantly improved the text.

It has been pleasure to work with Maria Vuorilehto, M.D., with whom I have enjoyed not only scientific and clinical collaboration but also many stimulating discussions on all aspects of life. Thank you, too, Maria, for your scientific contributions to the manuscripts! I am also grateful to Linnea Karlsson, M.D., Ph.D., Petri Arvilommi, M.D., Juha Hämäläinen, M.D., Outi Mantere, M.D., Sami Pirkola, M.D., Ph.D., Kirsi Suominen, M.D., Ph.D., and Hanna Valtonen, M.D., for the inspirations we shared relating to research as well as to life in general.

Sincere thanks to Sirkka Laakso, Tiina Hara, and Olli Kiviruusu for their helpful competence in practical matters. Special thanks to Sirkka for the drawing paper! I am most grateful to statistician Erkki Komulainen, Ph.D. for his patient and supportive guidance in statistical matters. I would also like to thank Richard Burton, B.Sc. for carefully revising the language of the original manuscripts and the text of this thesis. I also want to thank the library personnel at the National Public Health Institute and at the University of Helsinki, particularly scientific librarians Pirjo Vuorio and Eva-Liisa Aatola, for their kind and efficient help.

My warm thanks go to the personnel of Peijas Hospital and Outpatient Clinics for the practical help and their positive attitude toward the research. Sincere thank to Professor Mauri Marttunen, M.D., Ph.D., for his contributions to the educational and developmental part of the study project. I am also very thankful to the whole clinical team at the Adolescent Psychiatric Outpatient Clinic in Kerava, who always had the study room available for me at the time of the six-month interviews, which was also during my second maternity leave. Your practical help made it possible to interview the patients while Heta was sleeping at home. Many thanks!

I also want to thank the clinical team and all the co-workers, particularly colleagues Marja and Eija, on ward Y2 at Hesperia Hospital for their patience with me during the last six months. Thank you for the understanding you showed towards my leaves of absence from clinical work.

My warmest and most profound gratitude is reserved for my husband Lauri. Thank you for being my best friend and companion in every-day life. There are no words to describe all that you have done for this "family project". Without you this thesis would have taken so much longer. Special thanks for your excellent cooking, which kept me alive and well during the most stressful periods (I bet you remember)! My dearest Siiri and Heta: thank you for being in my life, and for giving me so much joy!

I am most grateful to my mother Pirkko, sister Rita, cousin Riikka, other relatives and Anneli, all who have supported me in numerous ways during these years. Thanks also to Mari, Cetin, Katja, Make, Leena, Mikko, Hellu, Milla, Heli, Miia, Elias, Sylvia, Maija, Konsta and Merihelmi for reminding me that there is life beyond psychiatry!

I am thankful for the financial support I have received from the Academy of Finland, the Finnish Medical Foundation, Helsinki University Central Hospital, the Orion Research Foundation, the Yrjö Jahnsson Foundation; and to Eli Lilly for awarding me the Young Scientist stipendium.

Finally, I express my deepest appreciation to all the patients who participated in this study.

11. REFERENCES

Abkevich V, Camp NJ, Hensel CH, Neff CD, Russell DL, Hughes DC, Plenk AM, Lowry MR, Richards RL, Carter C, Frech GC, Stone S, Rowe K, Chau CA, Cortado K, Hunt A, Luce K, O'Neil G, Poarch J, Potter J, Poulsen GH, Saxton H, Bernat-Sestak M, Thompson V, Gutin A, Skolnick MH, Shattuck D, Cannon-Albright L. Predisposition locus for major depression at chromosome 12q22-12q23.2. Am J Hum Genet 2003;73:1271-1281.

Alnaes R, Torgersen S. The relationship between DSM-III symptom disorders (axis I) and personality disorders (axis II) in an outpatient population. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1988;78:485-492.

Alnaes R, Torgersen S. Personality and personality disorders predict development and relapses of major depression. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1997;95:336-342.

Alpert JE, Uebelacker LA, McLean NE, Nierenberg AA, Pava JA, Worthington III JJ, Tedlow JR, Rosenbaum JF, Fava M. Social phobia, avoidant personality disorder and atypical depression: co-occurrence and clinical implications. Psychol Med 1997;27:627-633.

American Psychiatric Association (APA). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 3rd Edition (DSM-III) Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association, 1980.

American Psychiatric Association (APA). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 3rd Edition revised (DSM-III-R). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association, 1987.

American Psychiatric Association (APA). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th Edition (DSM-IV). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association, 1994.

American Psychiatric Association (APA). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th Edition, Text revision. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association, 2000.

American Psychiatric Association (APA). Practice guideline for the treatment of patients with major depressive disorder (Revision). Am J Psychiatry 2000;157:(4,suppl):1-45.

Anderson IM, Nutt DJ, Deakin JFW, on behalf of the Consensus Meeting and endorsed by the British Association for Psychopharmacology. Evidence-based guidelines for treating depressive disorders with antidepressants: a revision of the 1993 British Association for Psychopharmacology guidelines. J Psychopharmacol 2000;14:3-20.

Andrew B, Hawton K, Fagg J, Westbrook D. Do psychosocial factors influence outcome in severely depressed female psychiatric in-patients? Br J Psychiatry 1993;163:747-754.

Andrews G, Neilson M, Hunt C, Stewart G, Kiloh LG. Diagnosis, personality and the long-term outcome of depression. Br J Psychiatry 1990;157:13-18.

Angst J. The course of affective disorders. Psychopathology 1986;19: 47-52.

Angst J. Comorbidity of mood disorders: a longitudinal prospective study. Br J Psychiatry 1996;168:31-37.

Angst J, Kupfer DJ, Rosenbaum JF. Recovery from depression: risk or reality? Acta Psychiatr Scand 1996; 93:413-419.

Angst J, Merikangas K. The depressive spectrum: diagnostic classification and course. J Affect Disord 1997;45:31-40.

Angst J, Preisig M. Course of a clinical cohort of unipolar, bipolar and schizoaffective patients. Results of a prospective study from 1959 to 1985. Schweiz Arch Neurol Psychiatr, 1995a;146:5-16.

Angst J, Preisig M. Outcome of a clinical cohort of unipolar, bipolar and schizoaffective patients. Results of a prospective study from 1959 to 1985. Schweiz Arch Neurol Psychiatr, 1995b;146:17-23.

Arborelius L, Owens MJ, Plotsky PM, Nemeroff CB. The role of corticotropin-releasing factor in depression and anxiety disorders. Review. J Endocrinol 1999;160:1-12.

Asnis GM, McGinn LK, Sanderson WC. Atypical depression: clinical aspects and noradrenergic function. Am J Psychiatry 1995;152:31-36.

Ayuso-Mateos JL, Vazquez-Barquero JL, Dowrick C, Lehtinen V, Dalgard OS, Casey P, Wilkinson C, Lasa L, Page H, Dunn G, Wilkinson G, and the ODIN group. Depressive disorders in Europe: prevalence figures from the ODIN study. Br J Psychiatry 2001;179:308-316.

Bauer M, Whybrow PC, Angst J, Versiani M, Moller HJ; World Federation of Societies Biological Psychiatry Task Force on Treatment Guidelines for Unipolar Depressive Disorders. Word Federation of Societies of Biological Psychiatry (WFSBP) Guidelines for Biological Treatment of Unipolar Depressive Disorders, Part 1: Acute and continuation treatment of major depressive disorder. World J Biol Psychiatry 2002;3:5-43.

Beck AT, Epstein N, Brown G, Steer RA. An inventory for measuring clinical anxiety: psychometric properties. J Consult Clin Psychol 1988;56:893-897.

Beck AT, Kovacs M, Weissman A. Assessment of suicidal intention: the scale for suicide ideation. J Consult Clin Psychol 1979;47:343-352.

Beck AT, Ward CH, Mendelson M, Mock JE, Erbaugh JK. An inventory for measuring depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1961;4:561-571.

Beck AT, Weissman A, Lester D, Trexler L. The measurement of pessimism: the hopelessness scale. J Consult Clin Psychol 1974;42:861-865.

Blumenthal JA, Burg MM, Barefoot J, Williams RB, Haney T, Zimet G. Social support, type A behavior, and coronary artery disease. Psychosom Med 1987;49:331-340.

Bogenschutz MP, Nurnberg HG. Theoretical and methodological issues in psychiatric comorbidity. Harvard Rev Psychiatry 2000;8:18-24.

Botteron KN, Raichle ME, Drevets WC, Heath AC, Todd RD. Volumetric reduction in left subgenual prefrontal cortex in early onset depression. Biol Psychiatry 2002;51:342-344.

Boyce P, Parker G, Banett B, Cooney M, Smith F. Personality as a vulnerability factor to depression. Br J Psychiatry 1991;159:106-114.

Bremner JD, Vythilingam M, Vermetten E, Nazeer A, Adil J, Khan S, Staib LH, Charney DS. Reduced volume of orbitofrontal cortex in major depression. Biol Psychiatry 2002;51:273-279.

Bremner JD, Vythilingam M, Vermetten E, Vaccarino V, Charney DS. Deficits in hippocampal and anterior cingulate functioning during verbal declarative memory encoding in midlife major depression. Am J Psychiatry 2004;161:637-645.

Brodaty H, Luscombe G, Peisah C, Anstey K, Andrews G. A 25-year longitudinal, comparison study of the outcome of depression. Psychol Med 2001;31:1347-1359.

Brown GW, Harris TO. Social origins of depression: a study of psychiatric disorder in women. London: Tavistock, 1978.

Bruer JT. Methodological rigor and citation frequency in patient compliance literature. Am J Pub Health 1982;72:1119-1123.

Brugha TS, Sturt E, MacCarthy B, Potter J, Wykes T, Bebbington PE. The Interview Measure of Social Relationships: the description and evaluation of a survey instrument for assessing personal social resources. Soc Psychiatry 1987;22:123-128.

Campbell S, Marriott M, Nahmias C, MacQueen GM. Lower hippocampal volume in patients suffering from depression: a meta-analysis. Am J Psychiatry 2004;161:598-607.

Carney MWP, Roth M, Garside RF. The diagnosis of depressive syndromes and the prediction of E.C.T. response. Br J Psychiatry 1965;111:659-674.

Carney RM, Freedlend KE. Depression, mortality, and medical morbidity in patients with coronary heart disease. Biol Psychiatry 2003;54:241-247.

Casey P, Birbeck G, McDonagh C, Horgan A, Dowrick C, Dalgard O, Lehtinen V, Ayuso-Mateos JL, Dunn G, Page H, Wilkinson C, Wilkinson G, Vazquez-Barquero JL; the ODIN Group. Personality disorder, depression and functioning: results from the ODIN study. J Affect Disord 2004;82:277-283.

Caspi A, Moffit TE, Newman DL, Silva PA. Behavioral observations at age 3 years predict adult psychiatric disorders: longitudinal evidence from a birth cohort. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1996;53:1033-1039.

Caspi A, Sugden K, Moffitt TE, Taylor A, Craig IW, Harrington H, McClay J, Mill J, Martin J, Braithwaite A, Poulton R. Influence of life stress on depression: moderation by a polymorphism in the 5-HTT gene. Science 2003;301:386-389.

Charney DS, Manji HK. Life stress, genes, and depression: multiple pathways lead to increased risk and new opportunities for intervention. SciSTKE 2004;225:re5.

Charney DS, Nelson JC, Quinlan DM. Personality traits and disorder in depression. Am J Psychiatry 1981; 138:1601-1604.

Cheng ATA. Mental illness and suicide. A case-control study in East Taiwan. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1995; 52:594-603.

Cheng ATA, Mann AH, Chan KA. Personality disorder and suicide. A case-control study. Br J Psychiatry 1997;170:441-446.

Claxton AJ, Li Z, McKendrick J. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor treatment in the UK: risk of relapse or recurrence of depression. Br J Psychiatry 2000;177:163-168.

Clayton PJ, Grove WM, Coryell W, Keller M, Hirschfeld M, Fawcett J. Follow-up and family study of anxious depression. Am J Psychiatry 1991;148:1512-1517.

Cloninger CR. A systematic method for clinical description and classification of personality variants. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1987;44:573-588.

Cloninger CR, Svrakic DM, Przybeck TR. A psychobiological model of temperament and character. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1993;50:975-990.

Comtois KA, Cowley DS, Dunner DL, Roy-Byrne PP. Relationship between borderline personality disorder and axis I diagnosis in severity of depression and anxiety. J Clin Psychiatry 1999;60:752-758.

Cooper Z, Paykel ES. Social Factors in the Onset and Maintenance of Depression. In Bhugra D, Leff J (Eds.), Principles of Social Psychiatry. Oxford: Blackwell Scientific Publications 1994:99-121.

Coryell W, Endicott J, Andreasen NC, Keller MB, Clayton PJ, Hirschfeld RMA, Scheftner WA, Winokur G. Depression and panic attacks: the significance of overlap as reflected in follow-up and family study data. Am J Psychiatry 1988;145:293-300.

Coryell W, Endicott J, Keller M. The importance of psychotic features to major depression: course and outcome during a 2-year follow-up. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1987;75:78-85.

Coryell W, Endicott J, Keller MB. Predictors of relapse into major depressive disorder in a nonclinical population. Am J Psychiatry 1991;148:1353-1358.

Coryell W, Endicott J, Winokur G. Anxiety syndromes as epiphenomena of primary major depression: outcome and familial psychopathology. Am J Psychiatry 1992;149:100-107.

Coryell W, Leon A, Winokur G, Endicott J, Keller M, Akiskal H, Solomon D. Importance of psychotic features to long-term course in major depressive disorder. Am J Psychiatry 1996;153:483-489.

Coryell W, Winokur G, Shea T, Maser JD, Endicott J, Akiskal HS. The long-term stability of depressive subtypes. Am J Psychiatry 1994;151:199-204.

Cox DR. Regression models and life-tables (with discussion). J R Stat Soc B 1972;34:541-554.

Cuffel BJ, Azocar F, Tomlin M, Greenfield SF, Busch AB, Croghan TW. Remission, residual symptoms, and non-response in the usual treatment of major depression in managed clinical practice. J Clin Psychiatry 2003; 64:397-402.

Davidson J, Miller R, Strickland R. Neuroticism and personality disorder in depression. J Affect Disord 1985;8:177-182.

Demyttenaere K. Risk factors and predictors of compliance in depression. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 2003;13:69-75.

Demyttenaere K, Enzlin P, Dewe W, Boulanger B, De Bie J, De Troyer W, Mesters P. Compliance with antidepressants in a primary care setting: beyond lack of efficacy and adverse events. J Clin Psychiatry 2001;62:30-33.

Demyttenaere K, Haddad P. Compliance with antidepressant therapy and antidepressant discontinuation symptoms. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2000;101:50-56.

Duggan CF, Lee AS, Murray RM. Do different subtypes of hospitalized depressives have different long-term outcomes? Arch Gen Psychiatry 1991;48:308-312.

Eaton WW, Anthony JC, Gallo J, Cai G, Tien A, Romanoski A, Lyketsos C, Chen L-S. Natural history of Diagnostic Interview Schedule/ DSM-IV major depression. The Baltimore epidemiologic catchment area follow-up. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1997;54:993-999.

Eysenck H. The definition of personality disorders and the criteria appropriate for their description. J Personal Disord 1987;1:211-219.

Eysenck HJ, Eysenck SBG. Manual of the Eysenck Personality Inventory. London: University of London Press LTD, 1964.

Fava M, Abraham M, Alpert J, Nierenberg AA, Pava JA, Rosenbaum JF. Gender differences in axis I comorbidity among depressed outpatients. J Affect Disord 1996a;38:129-133.

Fava M, Alpert JE, Borus JS, Nierenberg AA, Pava JA, Rosenbaum JF. Patterns of personality disorder comorbidity in early-onset versus late-onset major depression. Am J Psychiatry 1996b;153:1308-1312.

Fava M, Farabaugh AH, Sickinger AH, Wright E, Alpert JE, Sonawalla S, Nierenberg AA, Worthington JJ 3rd. Personality disorders and depression. Psychol Med 2002;32:1049-1057.

Fava M, Rankin MA, Wright EC, Alpert JE, Nierenberg AA, Pava J, Rosenbaum JF. Anxiety disorders in major depression. Compr Psychiatry 2000;41:97-102.

Fawcett J. The detection and consequences of anxiety in clinical depression. J Clin Psychiatry 1997;58:35-40.

Fawcett J, Scheftner WA, Fogg L, Clark DC, Young MA, Hedeker D, Gibbons R. Time-related predictors of suicide in major affective disorders. Am J Psychiatry 1990;147:1189-1194.

Feighner JP, Robins E, Guze SB, Woodruff RA, Winokur G, Munoz R. Diagnostic criteria for use in psychiatric research. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1972;26:57-63.

Feinstein AR. The pre-therapeutic classification of comorbidity in chronic disease. J Chronic Dis 1970;23: 455-468.

Ferro T, Klein DN, Schwartz JE, Kasch KL, Leader JB. 30-month stability of personality disorder diagnoses in depressed outpatients. Am J Psychiatry 1998;155:653-659.

Flick SN, Roy-Byrne PP, Cowley DS, Shores MM, Dunner DL. DSM-III-R personality disorders in a mood and anxiety disorders clinic: prevalence, comorbidity, and clinical correlates. J Affect Disord 1993;27:71-79.

Foster T, Gillespie K, McClelland R, Patterson C. Risk factors for suicide independent of DSM-III-R axis I disorder. Br J Psychiatry 1999;175:175-179.

Frank E, Perel JM, Mallinger AG, Thase ME, Kupfer DJ. Relationship of pharmacologic compliance to long-term prophylaxis in recurrent depression. Psychopharmacol Bull 1992;28:231-235.

Frank E, Prien RF, Jarrett RB, Keller MB, Kupfer DJ, Lavori PW, Rush AJ, Weissman MM. Conceptualization and rationale for consensus definitions of terms in major depressive disorder. Remission, recovery, relapse, and recurrence. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1991;48:851-855.

Frasure-Smith N, Lesperance F. Depression and other psychological risks following myocardial infarction. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2003;60:627-636.

Frasure-Smith N, Lesperance F, Taljic M. Depression following myocardial infarction: impact on 6-month survival. JAMA 1993;270:1819-1825.

Frodl T, Meisenzahl EM, Zill P, Baghai T, Rujescu D, Leinsinger G, Bottlender R, Schule C, Zwanzger P, Engel RR, Rupprecht R, Bondy B, Reiser M, Moller HJ. Reduced hippocampal volumes associated with the long variant of the serotonin transporter polymorphism in major depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2004; 61:177-183.

Furukawa TA, Kitamura T, Takahashi K. Time to recovery of an inception cohort with hitherto untreated unipolar major depressive disorder. Br J Psychiatry 2000;177:331-335.

Geddes JR, Carney SM, Davies C, Furukawa TA, Kupfer DJ, Frank E, Goodwin GM. Relapse prevention with antidepressant drug treatment in depressive disorders: a systematic review. Lancet 2003;361:653-661.

Gilbody S, Whitty P, Grimshaw J, Thomas R. Educational and organizational interventions to improve the management of depression in primary care: a systematic review. JAMA 2003;289:3145-3151.

Gladstone GL, Parker GB, Mitchell PB, Malhi GS, Wilhelm K, Austin M-P. Implications of childhood trauma for depressed women: an analysis of pathways from childhood sexual abuse to deliberate self-harm and revictimization. Am J Psychiatry 2004;161:1417-1425.

Goldberg, DP. A dimensional model for common mental disorders. Br J Psychiatry 1996;168:44-49.

Goldman HH, Skodol AE, Lave TR. Revising axis V for DSM-IV: a review of measures of social functioning. Am J Psychiatry 1992;149:1148-1156.

Golomb M, Fava M, Abraham M, Rosenbaum JF. Gender differences in personality disorders. Am J Psychiatry 1995a;152:579-582.

Golomb M, Fava M, Abraham M, Rosenbaum JF. The relationship between age and personality disorders in depressed outpatients. J Nerv Ment Dis 1995b;183:43-44.

Goodyer IM, Herbert J, Tamplin A, Altham PM. Recent life-events, cortisol, dehydroepiandrosterone and the onset of major depression in high-risk adolescents. Br J Psychiatry 2000;177:499-504.

Gormley N, O'Leary D, Costello F. First admissions for depression: is the 'no-treatment interval' a critical predictor of time to remission? J Affect Disord 1999;54:49-54.

Grant BF, Harford TC. Comorbidity between DSM-IV alcohol use disorders and major depression: results of a national survey. Drug Alcohol Depend 1995;39:197-206.

Greenberg BD, Li Q, Lucas FR, Hu S, Sirota LA, Benjamin J, Lesch KP, Hamer D, Murphy DL. Association between the serotonin transporter promoter polymorphism and personality traits in a primarily female population sample. Am J Med Genet 2000;96:202-216.

Greenberg MD, Craighead WE, Evans DD, Craighead LW. An investigation of the effects of comorbid axis II pathology on outcome of inpatient treatment for unipolar depression. J Psychopathol Behav Assessment 1995;17:305-321.

Griez E, Overbeek T. Comorbidity of depression and anxiety. In Honig A, van Praag HM (Eds.), Depression: Neurobiological, Psychopathological and Therapeutic Advances. West Sussex: John Wiley & Sons Ltd 1997; 41-57.

Crismon ML, Trivedi M, Pigott TA, Rush AJ, Hirschfeld RM, Kahn DA, DeBattista C, Nelson JC, Nierenberg AA, Sackeim HA, Thase ME. The Texas Medication Algorithm Project: report of the Texas Consensus Conference Panel on Medication Treatment of Major Depressive Disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 1999;60:142-156.

Grunhaus L, Pande AC, Brown MB, Greden JF. Clinical characteristics of patients with concurrent major depressive disorder and panic disorder. Am J Psychiatry 1994;151:541-546.

Hamilton M. A rating scale for depression. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiat 1960;23:56-62.

Hansen PE, Wang AG, Stage KB, Kragh-Sorensen P; Danish University Antidepressant Group. Comorbid personality disorder predicts suicide after major depression: a 10-year follow-up. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2003;107:436-440.

Hariri AR, Mattay VS, Tessitore A, Kolachana B, Fera F, Goldman D, Egan MF, Weinberger DR Serotonin transporter genetic variation and the response of the human amygdala. Science 2002;297:400-403.

Hariri AR, Weinberger DR. Functional neuroimaging of genetic variation in serotonergic neurotransmission. Genes Brain Behav 2003;2:341-349.

Harris EC, Barraclough B. Suicide as an outcome for mental disorders: a meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry 1997;170:205-228. Harvey BH, McEwen BS, Stein DJ. Neurobiology of antidepressant withdrawal: implications for the longitudinal outcome of depression. Biol Psychiatry 2003;54:1105-1117.

Hasler G, Drevets WC, Manji HK, Charney DS. Discovering endophenotypes for major depression. Neuropsychopharmacol 2004;29:1765-1781.

Hastings RS, Parsey RV, Oquendo MA, Arango V, Mann JJ. Volumetric analysis of the prefrontal cortex, amygdala, and hippocampus in major depression. Neuropsychopharmacol 2004;29:952-959.

Hays RD, Wells KB, Sherbourne CD, Rogers W, Spritzer K. Functioning and well-being outcomes of patients with depression compared with chronic general medical illnesses. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1995;52:11-19.

Heim C, Newport J, Heit S, Graham Y, Wilcox M, Bonsall R, Miller A, Nemeroff C. Pituitary-adrenal and autonomic responses to stress in women after sexual and physical abuse in childhood. JAMA 2000;284:592-597.

Hoencamp E, Haffmans PM, Griens AM, Huijbrechts IP, Heycop ten Ham BF. A 3.5-year naturalistic follow-up study of depressed out-patients. J Affect Disord 2001;66:267-271.

Hoeyer EH, Mortensen PB, Olesen AV. Mortality and causes of death in a total national sample of patients with affective disorders admitted for the first time between 1973 and 1993. Br J Psychiatry 2000;176:76-82.

Holmans P, Zubenko GS, Crowe RR, DePaulo JR Jr, Scheftner WA, Weissman MM, Zubenko WN, Boutelle S, Murphy-Eberenz K, MacKinnon D, McInnis MG, Marta DH, Adams P, Knowles JA, Gladis M, Thomas J, Chellis J, Miller E, Levinson DF. Genomewide significant linkage to recurrent, early-onset major depressive disorder on chromosome 15q. Am J Hum Genet 2004;74:1154-1167.

Huges DC, DeMallie D, Blazer DG. Does age make a difference in the effects of physical health and social support on the outcome of a major depressive episode? Am J Psychiatry 1993;150:728-733.

Hämäläinen J, Isometsä E, Laukkala T, Kaprio J, Poikolainen K, Heikkinen M, Lindeman S, Aro H. Use of health services for major depressive episode in Finland. J Affect Disord 2004;79:105-112.

Ilardi SS, Graighead WE, Evans DD. Modeling relapse in unipolar depression: the effects of dysfunctional cognitions and personality disorders. J Consult Clin Psychol 1997;65:381-391.

Insel TR, Charney DS. Research on major depression. Strategies and priorities. JAMA 2003;289:3167-3168.

Isometsä E, Aro S, Aro H. Depression in Finland: a computer assisted telephone interview study. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1997;96:122-128.

Jacobi F, Wittchen HU, Holting C, Hofler M, Pfister H, Muller N, Lieb R. Prevalence, co-morbidity and correlates of mental disorders in the general population: results from the German Health Interview and Examination Survey (GHS). Psychol Med 2004;34:597-611.

Jiang W, Krishnan RK, O'Connor CM. Depression and heart disease: evidence of link, and its therapeutic implications. CNS Drugs 2002;16:111-127.

Judd LL. The clinical course of unipolar major depressive disorders. Commentary. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1997;54:989-991.

Judd LL, Akiskal HS, Maser JD, Zeller PJ, Endicott J, Coryell W, Paulus MP, Kunovac JL, Leon AC, Mueller TI, Rice JA, Keller MB. Major depressive disorder: a prospective study of residual subthreshold depressive symptoms as predictor of rapid relapse. J Affect Disord 1998;50:97-108.

Judd LL, Paulus MJ, Schettler PJ, Akiskal HS, Endicott J, Leon AC, Maser JD, Mueller T, Solomon DA, Keller MB. Does incomplete recovery from first lifetime major depressive episode herald a chronic course of illness? Am J Psychiatry 2000;157:1501-1504.

Judd LL, Paulus MP, Zeller P. The role of residual subthreshold depressive symptoms in early episode relapse in unipolar major depressive disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1999;56:764-765.

Kanai T, Takeuchi H, Furukawa TA, Yoshimura R, Imaizumi T, Kitamura T, Takahashi K. Time to recurrence after recovery from major depressive episodes and its predictors. Psychol Med 2003;33:839-845.

Kaplan HI, Sadock BJ. Kaplan and Sadock's synopsis of psychiatry: behavioral sciences / clinical psychiatry. 8th ed. Williams & Wilkins 1998:287-317.

Katon W, Von Korff M, Lin E, Walker E, Simon GE, Bush T, Robinson P, Russo J. Collaborative management to achieve treatment guidelines: impact on depression in primary care. JAMA 1995;273:1026-1031.

Keitner GI, Ryan CF, Miller IW, Norman WH. Recovery and major depression: factors associated with twelve-month outcome. Am J Psychiatry 1992;149:93-99.

Keller MB. Past, present, and future directions for defining optimal treatment outcome in depression. Remission and beyond. JAMA 2003;289:3152-3160.

Keller MB, Boland RJ. Implications of failing to achieve successful long-term maintenance treatment of recurrent unipolar major depression. Biol Psychiatry 1998;44:348-360.

Keller MB, Hirschfeld RMA, Demyttenaere K, Baldwin DS. Optimizing outcomes in depression: focus on antidepressant compliance. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 2002;17:265-271.

Keller MB, Klerman GL, Lavori PW, Coryell W, Endicott J, Taylor J. Long-term outcome of episodes of major depression. Clinical and public health significance. JAMA 1984;252:788-792.

Keller MB, Lavori PW, Friedman B, Nielsen E, Endicott J, McDonald-Scott P, Andreasen NC. The Longitudinal Interval Follow-up Evaluation: a comprehensive method for assessing outcome in prospective longitudinal studies. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1987;44:540-548.

Keller MB, Lavori PW, Lewis CE, Klerman GL. Predictors of relapse in major depressive disorder. JAMA 1983;250:3299-3304.

Keller MB, Lavori PW, Mueller TI, Endicott J, Coryell W, Hirschfeld RMA, Shea MT. Time to recovery, chronicity, and levels of psychopathology in major depression. A 5-year prospective follow-up of 431 subjects. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1992; 49:809-816.

Keller MB, Lavori PW, Rice J, Coryell W, Hirschfeld MA. The persistent risk of chronicity in recurrent episodes of nonbipolar major depressive disorder: a prospective follow-up. Am J Psychiatry 1986;143:24-28.

Keller MB, Shapiro RW, Lavori PW, Wolfe N. Recovery in major depressive disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1982;39:905-910.

Keller MB, Shapiro RW, Lavori PW, Wolfe N. Relapse in major depressive disorder. Analysis with the Life Table. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1982;39:911-915.

Kendell RE. The stability of psychiatric diagnoses. Br J Psychiatry 1974;124:352-356.

Kendell RE. The classification of depressions: a review of contemporary confusion. Br J Psychiatry 1976;129:15-28.

Kendell R, Jablensky A. Distinguishing between the validity and utility of psychiatric diagnoses. Am J Psychiatry 2003;160:4-12.

Kendler KS. The diagnostic validity of melancholic major depression in a population-based sample of female twins. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1997;54:299-304.

Kendler KS, Eaves LJ, Walters EE, Neale MC, Heath AC, Kessler RC. The identification and validation of distinct depressive syndromes in a population-based sample of female twins. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1996;53:391-399.

Kendler KS, Gardner CO, Prescott CA. Toward a comprehensive developmental model for major depression in women. Am J Psychiatry 2002;159:1133-1145.

Kendler KS, Kessler RC, Neale MC, Heath AC, Eaves LJ. The prediction of major depression in women: toward an integrated etiologic model. Am J Psychiatry 1993;150:1139-1148.

Kendler KS, Kuhn J, Prescott CA. The interrelationship of neuroticism, sex, and stressful life events in the prediction of episodes of major depression. Am J Psychiatry 2004;161:631-636.

Kendler KS, Thornton LM, Gardner CO. Genetic risk, number of previous depressive episodes, and stressful life events in predicting onset of major depression. Am J Psychiatry 2001;158:582-586.

Kennedy N, Abbott R, Paykel ES. Remission and recurrence of depression in the maintenance era: long-term outcome in a Cambridge cohort. Psychol Med 2003;33:827-838.

Kennedy N, Abbott R, Paykel ES. Longitudinal syndromal and sub-syndromal symptoms after severe depression: 10-year follow-up study. Br J Psychiatry 2004;184:330-336.

Kennedy N, Paykel ES. Residual symptoms at remission from depression: impact on long-term outcome. J Affect Disord 2004;80:135-144.

Kessler LG, Cleary PD, Burke JD. Psychiatric disorders in primary care. Results of a follow-up study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1985;42:583-587.

Kessler RC, Berlund P, Demler O, Jin R, Koretz D, Merikangas KR, Rush AJ, Walters EE, Wang PS. The emidemiology of major depressive disorder. Results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R). JAMA 2003;289:3095-3105.

Kessler RC, McGonagle KA, Zhao S, Nelson CB, Hughes M, Eshleman S, Wittchen H-U, Kendler KS. Lifetime and 12-month prevalence of DSM-III-R psychiatric disorders in the United States. Results from the National Comorbidity Survey. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1994;51:8-19.

Kessler RC, Nelson CB, McGonale KA, Edlund MJ, Frank RG, Leaf PJ. The epidemiology of co-occurring addictive and mental disorders: implications for prevention and service utilization. Am J Orthopsychiatry 1996a;66:17-31.

Kessler RC, Nelson CB, McGonale KA, Liu J, Swatrz M, Blazer DG. Comorbidity of DSM III-R major depressive disorder in the general population: results from the US National Comorbidity Survey. Br J Psychiatry 1996b;168:17-30.

Kiloh LG, Andrews G, Neilson M. The long-term outcome of depressive illness. Br J Psychiatry 1988;153:752-757.

Klerman GL. Approaches to the phenomena of comorbidity. In: Maser JD, Cloninger CR (Eds.), Comorbidity of Mood and Anxiety Disorders. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press 1990;13-40.

Knable MB, Barci BM, Bartko JJ, Webster MJ, Torrey EF. Molecular abnormalities in the major psychiatric illnesses: Classification and Regression Tree (CRT) analysis of post-mortem prefrontal markers. Mol Psychiatry 2002;7:392-404.

Knable MB, Barci BM, Webster MJ, Meador-Woodruff J, Torrey EF. Molecular abnormalities of the hippocampus in severe psychiatric illness: postmortem findings from the Stanley Neuropathology Consortium. Mol Psychiatry 2004;9:609-620.

Kocsis JH, Voss C, Mann J, Frances A. Chronic depression: demographic and clinical characteristics. Psychopharmacol Bull 1986;22:192-195.

Korszun A, Moskvina V, Brewster S, Craddock N, Ferrero F, Gill M, Jones IR, Jones LA, Maier W, Mors O, Owen MJ, Preisig M, Reich T, Rietschel M, Farmer A, McGuffin P. Familiality of symptom dimensions in depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2004;61:468-474.

Lee AS, Murray RM. The long-term outcome of Maudsley depressives. Br J Psychiatry 1988;153:741-751.

Lehtinen V, Joukamaa M, Jyrkinen E, Lahtela K, Raitasalo R, Maatela J, Aromaa A. Need for mental health services of the adult population in Finland: results from the Mini Finland Health Survey. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1990;81:426-431.

Lehtinen V, Veijola J, Lindholm T, Väisänen E, Moring J, Puukka P. Stability and changes of mental health in the Finnish adult population. Turku: Social Insurance Institution 1993; AL 36:150.

Lehtinen V, Joukamaa M. Epidemiology of depression: prevalance, risk factors and treatment situation. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1994;377:7-10.

Lesch KP. Gene-environment interaction and the genetics of depression. J Psychiatry Neurosci 2004;29:174-184.

Lesch KP, Bengel D, Heils A, Sabol SZ, Greenberg BD, Petri S, Benjamin J, Muller CR, Hamer DH, Murphy DL. Association of anxiety-related traits with a polymorphism in the serotonin transporter gene regulatory region. Science 1996;274:1527-1531.

Lieb R, Isensee B, Höfler M, Pfister H, Wittchen H-U. Parental major depression and the risk of depression and other mental disorders in offspring. A prospective-longitudinal community study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2002;59:365-374.

Lin EH, Katon WJ, Simon GE, Von Korff M, Bush TM, Walker EA, Unutzer J, Ludman EJ. Low-intensity treatment of depression in primary care: is it problematic? Gen Hosp Psychiatry 2000;22:78-83.

Lin EH, Katon WJ, Von Korff M, Russo JE, Simon GE, Bush TM, Rutter CM, Walker EA, Ludman E. Relapse of depression in primary care. Rate and clinical predictors. Arch Fam Med 1998;7:443-449.

Lin EH, Von Korff M, Ludman EJ, Rutter C, Bush TM, Simon GE, Unutzer J, Walker E, Katon WJ. Enhancing adherence to prevent depression relapse in primary care. Gen Hosp Psychiatry 2003;25:303-310.

Lindeman S, Hämäläinen J, Isometsä E, Kaprio J, Poikolainen K, Heikkinen M, Aro H. The 12-month prevalence and risk factors for major depressive episode in Finland: representative sample of 5993 adults. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2000;102:178-184.

Lingam R, Scott J. Treatment non-adherence in affective disorders. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2002;105:164-172.

Loranger AW, Lenzenweger MF, Gartner AF, Susman VL, Herzig J, Zammit GK, Gartner JD, Abrams RC, Young RC. Trait-state artifacts and the diagnosis of personality disorders. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1991;48:720-728.

Lustman PJ, Clouse RE. Treatment of depression in diabetes: impact on mood and medical outcome. J Psychosom Res 2002;53:917-924.

Lyons-Ruth K, Lyubchik A, Wolfe R, Bronfman E. Parental depression and child attachment: hostile and helpless profiles of parent and child behavior among families at risk. In Goodman SH, Gotlib IH (Eds.), Children of depressed parents: alternative pathways to risk for psychopathology. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association Press 2002:89-120.

Lyons-Ruth K, Zoll DL, Connell D, Grunebaum HY. The depressed mother and her one-yearold infant: Environment, interaction, attachment and infant development. In Tronick E, Fied T (Eds.), Maternal depression and infant disturbance. New York: Jossey-Bass 1986:61-82.

Maier W, Lichtermann D, Klingler T, Heun R, Hallmayer J. Prevalences of personality disorders (DSM-III-R) in the community. J Personal Disord 1992;6:187-196.

Maj M, Veltro F, Pirozzi R, Lobrace S, Magliano L. Pattern of recurrence of illness after recovery from an episode of major depression: a prospective study. Am J Psychiatry 1992;149:795-800.

Manji HK, Drevets WC, Charney DS. The cellular neurobiology of depression. Nat Med 2001;7:541-547.

Manji HK, Gottesman II, Gould TD. Signal transduction and genes-to-behaviors pathways in psychiatric diseases. SciSTKE 2003;207:pe49.

Manji HK, Moore GJ, Rajkowska G, Chen G. Neuroplasticity and cellular resilence in mood disorders. Mol Psychiatry 2000;5:578-593.

McDermut W, Mattia J, Zimmerman M. Comorbidity burden and its impact on psychosocial morbidity in depressed outpatients. J Affect Disord 2001;65:289-295.

McGlashan TH, Grilo CM, Skodol AE, Gunderson JG, Shea MT, Morey LC, Zanari MC, Stout RL. The Collaborative Longitudinal Personality Disorders Study: baseline axis I/II and II/II diagnostic co-occurrence. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2000;102:256-264.

Melfi CA, Chawla AJ, Croghan TW, Hanna MP, Kennedy S, Sredl K. The effects of adherence to antidepressant treatment guidelines on relapse and recurrence of depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1998;55:1128-1132.

Merikangas KR, Zhang H, Avenevoli S, Acharyya S, Neuenschwander M, Angst J; Zurich Cohort Study. Longitudinal trajectories of depression and anxiety in a prospective community study: the Zurich Cohort Study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2003;60:993-1000.

Mervaala E, Fohr J, Kononen M, Valkonen-Korhonen M, Vainio P, Partanen K, Partanen J, Tiihonen J, Viinamaki H, Karjalainen AK, Lehtonen J. Quantitative MRI of the hippocampus and amygdala in severe depression. Psychol Med 2000;30:117-125.

Michelson D, Stratakis C, Hill L, Reynolds J, Galliven E, Chrousos G, Gold P. Bone mineral density in women with depression. N Engl J Med 1996;335:1176-1181.

Mueller TI, Keller MB, Leon AC, Solomon DA, Shea MT, Coryell W, Endicott J. Recovery after 5 years of unremitting major depressive disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1996;53:794-799.

Mueller TI, Lavori PW, Keller MB, Swartz A, Warshaw M, Hasin D, Coryell W, Endicott J, Rice J, Akiskal H. Prognostic effect of the variable course of alcoholism on the 10-year course of depression. Am J Psychiatry 1994;151:701-706.

Mueller TI, Leon AC, Keller MB, Solomon DA, Endicott J, Coryell W, Warshaw M, Maser JD. Recurrence after recovery from major depressive disorder during 15 years of observational follow-up. Am J Psychiatry 1999;156:1000-1006.

Mulder RT. Personality pathology and treatment outcome in major depression: a review. Am J Psychiatry 2002;159:359-371.

Murray CJL, Lopez AD. Evidence-based health policy: lessons from the Global Burden Disease Study. Science 1996;274:740-743.

Murray CJL, Lopez AD. Global mortality, disability, and the contribution of risk factors: Global Burden of Disease Study. Lancet 1997;349:1436-1442.

Musselman DL, Betan E, Larsen H, Phillips LS. Relationship of depression to diabetes types 1 and 2: epidemiology, biology, and treatment. Biol Psychiatry 2003;54:317-329.

Musselman DL, Evans DL, Nemeroff CB. The relationship of depression to cardiovascular disease: epidemiology, biology, and treatment. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1998;55:580-592.

Myers BS, Sirey JA, Bruce M, Hamilton M, Raue P, Friedman SJ, Rickey C, Kakuma T, Carroll MK, Kiosses D, Alexopoulos G. Predictors of early recovery from major depression among patients admitted to community-based clinics. An observational study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2002;59:729-735.

Nemeroff CB. Improving antidepressant adherence. J Clin Psychiatry 2003;64:25-30.

Nierenberg AA, Alpert JE, Pava J, Rosenbaum JF, Fava M. Course and treatment of atypical depression. J Clin Psychiatry 1998;59:5-9.

Nierenberg AA, Petersen TJ, Alpert JE. Prevention of relapse and recurrence in depression: the role of long-term pharmacotherapy and psychotherapy. J Clin Psychiatry 2003;64:13-17.

Oates MR. Adverse effects of maternal antenatal anxiety on children: causal effect or developmental continuum? Editorial. Br J Psychiatry 2002;180:478-479.

O'Connor TG, Heron J, Golding J, Beveridge M, Glover V. Maternal antenatal anxiety and children's behavioural/emotional problems at 4 years. Report from the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children. Br J Psychiatry 2002;180:502-508.

O'Keane V. Evolving model of depression as an expression of multiple interacting risk factors. Editorials. Br J Psychiatry 2000;177:482-483.

Oldham JM, Skodol AE, Kellman HD, Hyler SE, Doidge N, Rosnick L, Gallaher PE. Comorbidity of axis I and axis II disorders. Am J Psychiatry 1995;152:571-578.

Oquendo MA, Barrera A, Ellis SP, Li S, Burke AK, Grunebaum M, Endicott J, Mann JJ. Instability of symptoms in recurrent major depression: a prospective study. Am J Psychiatry 2004;161:255-261.

Ormel J, Oldehinkel T, Brilman E, van den Brink W. Outcome of depression and anxiety in primary care. A three-wave $3^{1/2}$ -year study of psychopathology and disability. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1993;50:759-766.

Pampallona S, Bollini P, Tibaldi G, Kupelnick B, Munizza C. Patient adherence in the treatment of depression. Br J Psychiatry 2002;180:104-109.

Pampallona S, Bollini P, Tibaldi G, Kupelnick B, Munizza C. Combined pharmacotherapy and psychological treatment for depression: a systematic review. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2004;61:714-719.

Parker G. Classifying depression: should paradigms lost be regained? Am J Psychiatry 2000;157:1195-1203.

Parker G. Modern diagnostic concepts of the affective disorders. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2003;108:24-28.

Parker G, Hadzi-Pavlovic D. Melancholia: A disorder of movement and mood. New York: Cambridge University Press, 1996.

Parker G, Hadzi-Pavlovic D, Brodaty H, Boyce P, Mitchell P, Wilhelm K, Hickie I. Predicting the course of melancholic and nonmelancholic depression. A naturalistic comparison study. J Nerv Ment Dis 1992;180:693-702.

Parker G, Hadzi-Pavlovic D, Wilhelm K, Hickie I, Brodaty H, Boyce P, Mitchell P, Eyers K. Defining melancholia: properties of a refined sign-based measure. Br J Psychiatry 1994;164:316-326.

Parker G, Roussos J, Austin M-P, Hadzi-Pavlovic D, Wilhelm K, Mitchell P. Disordered personality style: higher rates in non-melancholic compared to melancholic depression. J Affect Disord 1998;47:131-140.

Parker G, Roy K, Hadzi-Pavlovic D, Mitchell P, Wilhelm K, Menkes DB, Snowdon J, Loo C, Schweitzer I. Subtyping depression by clinical features: the Australian database. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2000a;101:21-28.

Parker G, Wilhelm K, Mitchell P, Glasdstone G. Predictors of 1-year outcome in depression. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2000b;34:56-64.

Patten SB. International differences in major depression prevalence: what do they mean? J Clin Epidemiol 2003;56:711-716.

Paykel ES. Methodological aspects of life event research. J Psychosom Res 1983;27:123-128.

Paykel ES. Life events, social support and depression. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1994;337:50-58.

Paykel ES, Cooper Z, Ramana R, Hayhurst H. Life events, social support and marital relationships in the outcome of severe depression. Psychol Med 1996;26:121-133.

Paykel ES, Hart D, Priest R. Changes in public attitudes to depression during the defeat depression campaign. Br J Psychiatry 1998;173:519-522.

Paykel ES, Myers JK, Dienelt MN. Life events and depression: a controlled study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1969;21:753-760.

Paykel ES, Prusoff BA, Tanner J. Temporal stability of symptom patterns in depression. Br J Psychiatry 1976;128:369-374.

Paykel ES, Ramana R, Cooper Z, Hayhurst H, Kerr J, Barocka A. Residual symptoms after partial remission: an important outcome in depression. Psychol Med 1995;25:1171-1180.

Pepper CM, Klein DN, Anderson RL, Riso LP, Ouimette PC, Lizardi H. DSM-III-R axis II comorbidity in dysthymia and major depression. Am J Psychiatry 1995;152:239-247.

Peselow ED, Sanfilipo MP, Fieve RR, Gulbenkian G. Personality traits during depression and after clinical recovery. Br J Psychiatry 1994;164:349-354.

Pfohl B, Stangl D, Zimmerman M. The implications of DSM-III personality disorders for patients with major depression. J Affect Disord 1984;7:309-318.

Piccinelli M, Wilkinson G. Outcome of depression in psychiatric settings. Br J Psychiatry 1994;164:297-304.

Pignone MP, Gaynes BN, Rushton JL, Burchell CM, Orleans CT, Mulrow CD, Lohr KN. Screening for depression in adults: a summary of the evidence for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Ann Intern Med 2002;136:765-776.

Pini S, Cassano GB, Simonini E, Savino M, Russo A, Montgomery SA. Prevalence of anxiety disorders comorbidity in bipolar depression, unipolar depression and dysthymia. J Affect Disord 1997;42:145-153.

Pirkola SP, Isometsä E, Suvisaari J, Aro H, Joukamaa M, Poikolainen K, Koskinen S, Aromaa A, Lönnqvist JK. DSM-IV mood. Anxiety- and alcohol use disorders and their comorbidity in the Finnish general population. Results from the Health 2000 Study. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol, in press.

Popoli M, Gennarelli M, Racagni G. Modulation of synaptic plasticity by stress and antidepressants. Bipolar Disord 2002;4:166-182.

Posternak MA, Zimmerman M. Partial validation of the atypical features subtype of major depressive disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2002;59:70-76.

Prien RF, Carpenter LL, Kupfer DJ. The definition and operational criteria for treatment outcome of major depressive disorder. A review of the current research literature. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1991;48:796-800.

Ramana R, Paykel ES, Cooper Z, Hayhurst H, Saxty M, Surtees PG. Remission and relapse in major depression: a two-year prospective follow-up study. Psychol Med 1995;25:1161-1170.

Ramana R, Paykel ES, Surtees PG, Melzer D, Mehta MA. Medication received by patients with depression following the acute episode: adequacy and relation to outcome. Br J Psychiatry 1999;174:128-134.

Regier DA, Burke JD, Burke KC. Comorbidity of affective and anxiety disorders in the NIMH epidemiologic catchment area program. In: Maser JD, Cloninger CT (Eds.), Comorbidity of Mood and Anxiety Disorders. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press 1990:113-123.

Regier DA, Rae DS, Narrow WE, Kaelber CT, Schatzberg AF. Prevalence of anxiety disorders and their comorbidity with mood and addictive disorders. Br J Psychiatry 1998;173:24-28.

Roy-Byrne PP, Stang P, Wittchen H-U, Ustun B, Walters EE, Kessler RC. Lifetime panicdepression comorbidity in the National Comorbidity Survey. Association with symptoms, impairment, course and help-seeking. Br J Psychiatry 2000;176:229-235.

Rush AJ, Weissenburger JE. Melancholic symptom features and DSM-IV. Am J Psychiatry 1994;151:489-498.

Rytsälä HJ, Melartin TK, Leskelä US, Lestelä-Mielonen PS, Sokero TP, Isometsä ET. A record-based analysis of 803 patients treated for depression on psychiatric care. J Clin Psychiatry 2001;62:701-706.

Rytsälä HJ, Melartin TK, Leskelä US, Sokero TP, Lestelä-Mielonen PS, Isometsä ET. Functional and work disability in major depressive disorder. J Ment Dis, in press.

Samuels JF, Nestadt G, Romanoski AJ, Folstein MF, McHugh PR. DSM-III personality disorders in the community. Am J Psychiatry 1994;151:1055-1062.

Sanderson WC, Beck AT, Beck J. Syndrome comorbidity in patients with major depression or dysthymia: prevalence and temporal relationships. Am J Psychiatry 1990;147:1025-1028.

Sanderson WC, Wetzler S, Beck AT, Betz F. Prevalence of personality disorders in patients with major depression and dysthymia. Psychiatry Res 1992;42:93-99.

Sapolsky RM. Glucocorticoids and hippocampal atrophy in neuropsychiatric disorders. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2000;57:925-935.

Sargant W. Drugs in the treatment of depression. BMJ 1961;1:225-227.

Sargeant JK, Bruce ML, Florio LP, Weissman MM. Factors associated with 1-year outcome of major depression in the community. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1990; 47:519-526.

Sato T, Sakado K, Nishioka K, Uehara T, Sato S, Kasahara Y. The relationship of DSM-III-R personality disorder to clinical variables in patients with major depression: possible difference between personality disorder clusters. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 1996;50:95-100.

Sato T, Sakado K, Sato S. Is there any specific personality disorder or personality disorder cluster that worsens the short-term treatment outcome of major depression? Acta Psychiatr Scand 1993;88:342-349.

Schatzberg AF, Samson JA, Rothschild AJ, Bond TC, Regier DA. McLean hospital depression research facility: early-onset phobic disorders and adult-onset major depression. Br J Psychiatry 1998;173:29-34.

Schulberg HC, Katon W, Simon GE, Rush AJ. Treating major depression in primary care practice: an update of the Agency for Health Care Policy and Research Practice Guidelines. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1998;55:1121-1127.

Shea MT. Interrelationships among categories of personality disorders. In W.J. Livesley (Eds.) The DSM-IV personality disorders. New York: The Guilford Press 1995:397-406. Shea MT, Glass DR, Pilikonis PA, Watkins J, Docherty JP. Frequency and implications of personality disorders in a sample of depressed outpatients. J Personal Disord 1987;1:27-42.

Sherrington JM, Hawton K, Fagg J, Andrew B, Smith D. Outcome of women admitted to hospital for depressive illness: factors in the prognosis of severe depression. Psychol Med 2001;31:115-125. Simon GE. Long-term prognosis of depression in primary care. Bull World Health Organ 2000;78:439-445.

Simon GE, Von Korff M, Rutter CM, Peterson DA.Treatment process and outcomes for managed care patients receiving new antidepressant prescriptions from psychiatrists and primary care physicians. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2001;58:395-401.

Simpson HB, Nee JC, Endicott J. First-episode major depression. Few sex differences in course. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1997;54:633-639.

Sirey JA, Bruce ML, Alexopoulos GS, Perlick DA, Raue P, Friedman SJ, Meyers BS. Perceived stigma as a predictor of treatment discontinuation in young and older outpatients with depression. Am J Psychiatry 2001;158:479-481.

Sirey JA, Meyers BS, Bruce ML, Alexopoulos GS, Perlick DA, Raue P. Predictors of antidepressant prescription and early use among depressed outpatients. Am J Psychiatry 1999;156:690-696.

Sokero TP, Melartin TK, Rytsälä HJ, Leskelä US, Lestelä-Mielonen PS, Isometsä ET. Suicidal ideation and attempts among psychiatric patients with major depressive disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 2003;64:1094-1100.

Solomon DA, Keller MB, Leon AC, Mueller TI, Lavori PW, Shea MT, Coryell W, Warshaw M, Turvey C, Maser J, Endicott J. Multiple recurrences of major depressive disorder. Am J Psychiatry 2000;157:229-233.

Solomon DA, Keller MB, Leon AC, Mueller TI, Shea MT, Warshaw M, Maser JD, Coryell W, Endicott J. Recovery from major depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1997;54:1001-1006.

Spijker J, de Graaf R, Bilj RV, Beekman ATF, Ormel J, Nolen WA. Duration of major depressive episodes in the general population: results from the Netherlands Mental Health Survey and Incidence Study (NEMESIS). Br J Psychiatry 2002;181:208-213.

Spitzer RL, Endicott J, Robins E. Research diagnostic criteria: rationale and reliability. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1978;35:773-782.

Spitzer RL, Williams JB. Hysteroid dysphoria: an unsuccessful attempt to demonstrate its syndromal validity. Am J Psychiatry 1982;139:1286-1291.

Spitzer RL, Williams JBW, Gibbon M, First MB. Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-III-R Personality Disorders (SCID-II). New York, New York State Psychiatric Institute, Biometrics Research, 1987.

Statistical Package for the Social Sciences for Windows. Release 11.0.1, Chicago, Ill, Copyright © SPSS Inc. (1989-2001).

Stuart S, Simons AD, Thase M, Pilikonis P. Are personality assessments valid in acute major depression? J Affect Disord 1992;24:281-290.

Sturm R. Instrumental variable methods for effectiveness research. Int J Methods Psychiatr Res 1999;7:17-26.

Sullivan PF, Neale JM, Kendler KS. Genetic epidemiology of major depression: review and meta-analysis. Am J Psychiatry 2000;157:1552-1562.

Suomen Psykiatriyhdistys [Finnish Psychiatric Association]. Depression käypä hoito suositus [The National Finnish Current Care Guidelines for the Treatment of Depression]. Duodecim 2004;120:744-764.

Surtees PG, Barkley C. Future imperfect: the long-term outcome of depression. Br J Psychiatry 1994;164:327-341.

Surtees PG, Wainwright NW. Fragile states of mind: neuroticism, vulnerability and the long-term outcome of depression. Br J Psychiatry 1996;169:338-347.

Tautiluokitus 1996. Helsinki: Edita, 1996.

Tedlow J, Smith M, Neault N, Polania L, Alpert J, Nierenberg A, Fava M. Melancholia and axis II comorbidity. Compr Psychiatry 2002;43:331-335.

Tennant C. Parental loss in childhood: its effect in adult life. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1988;45:1045-1050.

Thomas AJ, Kalaria RN, O'Brien JT. Depression and vascular disease: what is the relationship? J Affect Disord 2004;79:81-95.

Thornicroft G, Sartorius N. The course and outcome of depression in different cultures: 10-year follow-up of the WHO Collaborative Study on the assessment of depressive disorders. Psychol Med 1993;23:1023-1032.

Torgersen S, Kringlen E, Cramer V. The prevalence of personality disorders in a community sample. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2001;58:590-596.

Tyrer P. Are personality disorders well classified in DSM-IV? In Livesley WJ (Eds.), The DSM-IV personality disorders. New York: The Guilford Press 1995:29-42.

Van Valkenburg C, Akiskal HS, Puzantian V, Rosenthal T. Anxious depressions. Clinical, family, history, and naturalistic outcome - comparisons with panic and major depressive disorders. J Affect Disord 1984;6:67-82.

Van Weel-Baumgarten E, van den Bosch W, van den Hoogen H, Zitman FG. Ten year followup of depression after diagnosis in general practice. Br J Gen Practice 1998;48:1643-1646.

Vataja R, Pohjasvaara T, Leppavuori A, Mantyla R, Aronen HJ, Salonen O, Kaste M, Erkinjuntti T. Magnetic resonance imaging correlates of depression after ischemic stroke. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2001;58:925-931.

Vella G, Aragona M, Alliani D. The complexity of psychiatric comorbidity: a conceptual and methodological discussion. Psychopathology 2000;33:25-30.

Vergouwen AC, Bakker A, Katon WJ, Verheij TJ, Koerselman F. Improving adherence to antidepressants: a systematic review of interventions. J Clin Psychiatry 2003;64:1415-1420.

Verona E, Sachs-Ericsson N, Joiner TE Jr. Suicide attempts associated with externalizing psychopathology in an epidemiological sample. Am J Psychiatry 2004;161:444-451.

Videbech P, Ravnkilde B. Hippocampal volume and depression: a meta-analysis of MRI studies. Am J Psychiatry 2004;161:1957-1966.

Viguera AC, Baldessarini RJ, Friedberg J. Discontinuing antidepressant treatment in major depression. Harv Rev Psychiatry 1998;5:293-306.

Viinamäki H, Hintikka J, Honkalampi K, Koivumaa-Honkanen H, Kuisma S, Antikainen R, Tansakanen A, Lehtonen J. Cluster C personality disorder impedes alleviation of symptoms in major depression. J Affect Disord 2002;71:35-41.

Viinamäki H, Tanskanen A, Koivumaa-Honkanen H, Haatainen K, Honkalampi K, Antikainen R, Hintikka J. Cluster C personality disorder and recovery from major depression: 24-month prospective follow-up. J Personal Disord 2003;17:341-350.

Vythilingam M, Vermetten E, Anderson GM, Luckenbaugh D, Anderson ER, Snow J, Staib LH, Charney DS, Bremner JD. Hippocampal volume, memory, and cortisol status in major depressive disorder: effects of treatment. Biol Psychiatry 2004;56:101-112.

Wade TJ, Cairney J. Major depressive disorder and marital transition among mothers: results from a national panel study. J Nerv Ment Dis 2000;188:741-750.

Wallace J, Schneider T, McGuffin P. Genetics and depression. In Gotlib IH, Hammen CL (Eds.), Handbook of Depression. New York, London: The Guildford Press 2002:169-191.

Weiss RD, Mirin SM, Griffin ML. Methodological considerations in the diagnosis of coexisting psychiatric disorders in substance abusers. Br J Addict 1992;87:179-187.

Weissman MM, Bothwell S. Assessment of social adjustment by patient self-report. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1976;33:1111-1115.

Wells KB, Burnam MA, Rogers W, Hays R, Camp P. The course of depression in adult outpatients. Results from the Medical Outcomes Study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1992; 49:788-794.

West ED, Dally PJ. Effects of iproniazid in depressive syndromes. BMJ 1959;1:1491-1494.

Wing JK, Babor T, Brugha T, Burke J, Cooper JE, Giel R, Jablenski A, Regier D, Sartorious N. SCAN. Schedules for Clinical Assessment in Neuropsychiatry. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1990;47:589-593.

Wittchen H-U. Critical issues in the evaluation of comorbidity of psychiatric disorders. Br J Psychiatry 1996;168:9-16.

World Health Organization. The ICD-10 classification of mental and behavioral disorders: clinical descriptions and diagnostic guidelines. Geneva: WHO, 1992.

World Health Organization. The ICD-10 classification of mental and behavioral disorders: diagnostic criteria for research. Geneva: WHO, 1993.

World Health Organization (WHO) World Mental Health Survey Consortium. Prevalence, severity, and unmet need for treatment of mental disorders in the World Health Organization World Mental Health Surveys. JAMA 2004;291:2581-2590.

Wright E. Non-compliance- or how many aunts has Matilda? Lancet 1993;342:909-913.

Wu L-T, Kouzis AC, Leaf PJ. Influence of comorbid alcohol and psychiatric disorders on utilization of mental health services in the National Comorbidity Survey. Am J Psychiatry 1999;156:1230-1236.

Young AS, Klap R, Sherbourne CD, Wells KB. The quality of care for depressive and anxiety disorders in the United States. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2001;58:55-61.

Young EA, Abelson JL, Cameron OG. Effect of comorbid anxiety disorders on the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis response to a social stressor in major depression. Biol Psychiatry 2004;56:113-120.

Young EA, Midgley AR, Carlson NE, Brown MB. Alteration in the hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian axis in depressed women. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2000;57:1157-1162.

Young MA, Keller MB, Lavori PW, Schftner WA, Fawcett JA, Endicott J, Hirschfeld RMA. Lack of stability of the RDC endogenous subtype in consecutive episodes of major depression. J Affect Disord 1987;12:139-143.

Zanari MC, Frankenburg FR, Dubo ED, Sickel AE, Trikha A, Levin A, Reynolds V. Axis I comorbidity of borderline personality disorder. Am J Psychiatry 1998;155:1733-1739.

Zimmerman M. Diagnosing personality disorders. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1994;51:225-245.

Zimmerman M, Black DW, Coryell W. Diagnostic criteria for melancholia. The comparative validity of DSM-III and DSM-III-R. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1989;46:361-368.

Zimmerman M, Coryell W. DSM-III personality disorder diagnoses in a non-patient sample. Demographic correlates and comorbidity. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1989;46:682-689.

Zimmerman M, Coryell W, Pfohl B, Stangl D. Validity of familial subtypes of primary unipolar depression. Clinical, demographic, familial and psychosocial correlates. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1986;43:1090-1096.

Zimmerman M, Mattia J. Axis I diagnostic comorbidity and borderline personality disorder. Compr Psychiatry 1999;40:245-252.

Zimmerman M, McDermut W, Mattia JI. Frequency of anxiety disorders in psychiatric outpatients with major depressive disorder. Am J Psychiatry 2000;157:1337-1340.

Zimmerman M, Spitzer RL. Melancholia: from DSM-III to DSM-III-R. Am J Psychiatry 1989;146:20-28.

Zlotnick C, Shea MT, Pilikonis PA, Elkin I, Ryan C. Gender, type of treatment, dysfunctional attitudes, social support, life events, and depressive symptoms over naturalistic follow-up. Am J Psychiatry 1996;153:1021-1027.

Zubenko GS, Maher B, Hughes HB 3rd, Zubenko WN, Stiffler JS, Kaplan BB, Marazita ML. Genome-wide linkage survey for genetic loci that influence the development of depressive disorders in families with recurrent, early-onset, major depression. Am J Med Genet 2003;15:1-18.

Ösby U, Brandt L, Correia N, Ekbom A, Sparen P: Excess mortality in bipolar and unipolar disorder in Sweden. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2001;58:844-850.